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          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Welcome,

          3  everyone. I am Bill Perkins, Chair of the City

          4  Council's Committee on Governmental Operations.

          5                 Today we'll be conducting a hearing

          6  on Introductory Bill No. 382-A, which deals with

          7  Campaign Finance Reform.

          8                 The Governmental Operations Committee

          9  is charged with overseeing the Campaign Finance

         10  Board and the Campaign Finance programs, and I

         11  believe that we have all done an excellent job in

         12  creating a preserving a great program.

         13                 New York City has been trailblazing

         14  in regards to Campaign Finance Reform. This Council

         15  first enacted Campaign Finance Reform legislation

         16  back in 1988. We created a program that has been a

         17  model for other cities and the nation as a whole. We

         18  consider the program a masterpiece but, of course,

         19  it is not perfect but rather an ongoing work in

         20  progress.

         21                 The more salient proposals of Intro.

         22  No. 382-A are as follows:

         23                 Number 1. Application of the

         24  Contribution and Disclosure requirements of the New

         25  York City Campaign Finance Program to all candidates
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          2  for the offices of Mayor, Public Advocate, the

          3  Comptroller, Borough President, member of the City

          4  Council. Disclosure requirements are a major salient

          5  aspect of this intro.

          6                 Number 2. Simplification of the

          7  program for participants.

          8                 Number 3. To streamline the Campaign

          9  Finance Board's administration of the program.

         10                 4. To reduce areas of potential fraud

         11  and deception.

         12                 To create certain unnecessary

         13  expenditures, to limit certain unnecessary

         14  expenditures of public funds.

         15                 To further the electoral playing

         16  field by offering the formula for paying public

         17  funds for participants facing high spending

         18  non-participants.

         19                 And to improve the effectiveness of

         20  the Debate Program. To permit limited participation

         21  in the program by self-funded candidates.

         22                 Now I would like to address some of

         23  the controversy surrounding the bill, and one of the

         24  proposal in particular dealing with bonus public

         25  financing.
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          2                 The Mayor's Office has stirred up

          3  quite a controversy about this bill being the

          4  product of some back room negotiations, some deal

          5  cut to further the Speaker's political aspirations.

          6                 Although no one has mentioned my name

          7  or in any way implicated this Committee in any

          8  wrongdoing, I nonetheless take personal umbrage at

          9  such an attack, because this legislation is before

         10  this Committee, and I am the sponsor of this

         11  legislation.

         12                 Such slanderous accusations impugn

         13  the integrity of this Committee and attribute some

         14  motivation for hearing this bill that could not be

         15  further from the truth.

         16                 The Campaign Finance Board approached

         17  me about introducing this legislation, and I agreed

         18  to sponsor it because I believe firmly in the

         19  program, I believe firmly in our open and

         20  deliberative process.

         21                 I personally may not agree with every

         22  proposal in this bill, but I believe in hearing

         23  every proposal in this bill. I believe in the public

         24  being able to hear every proposal in this bill.

         25                 I have members on this Committee
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          2  which do not believe in the program, but I think

          3  even they believe in hearing these issues.

          4                 I, nor any member of this Committee,

          5  would jeopardize the integrity of this process for

          6  the political aspirations of any person.

          7                 And, so, these attacks have been

          8  wholly unfounded, and entirely disingenuous. And

          9  lost in the politics and aspersions are the merits

         10  of these proposals.

         11                 Again, I may not agree with all these

         12  proposals. For instance, there are some proposals

         13  that would make it hard for candidates to get into

         14  the program. I immediately hesitant regarding such

         15  changes because I believe the process should be as

         16  open as possible.

         17                 But there may be some fiscal benefit

         18  or good government reason that behooves me to at

         19  least listen to it.

         20                 If the Mayor has a problem with these

         21  proposals, he may offer up his own.

         22                 If the Mayor has any ideas on

         23  bettering the program, or the electoral process,

         24  other than nonpartisan elections, he is free to

         25  submit such ideas to the Council at today's hearing
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          2  on a separate bill.

          3                 By the Mayor creating a cloud of

          4  suspicion over this bill, and by extension the whole

          5  program, this Committee, myself and my fellow

          6  members of this Committee, he reignites a sense of

          7  cynicism and apathy in our voters which program was

          8  designed to remedy.

          9                 I have said this before and I would

         10  like to say this again: This Committee is always

         11  willing to entertain progressive legislation, so

         12  long as it maintains a connection to the pulse of

         13  the people.

         14                 Today we expect to hear testimony

         15  from the Administration, the Campaign Finance Board,

         16  public advocates and election attorneys.

         17                 Before we begin the hearing, I would

         18  like to introduce the members of the Committee. To

         19  my far left, Joseph Addabbo, Jr., Chair of Parks and

         20  Recreation. Next to him, next to him from the

         21  Committee is Christine Quinn, our Chair of Health.

         22  Next to Councilwoman Quinn, is Counsel to this

         23  Committee Matthew Tollin. To my immediate right is

         24  the Chairwoman of our Education Committee Eva

         25  Moskowitz.
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          2                 Next to her is the Majority Whip and

          3  Chair of Rules, Privileges and Elections, Leroy

          4  Comrie.

          5                 Next to him is Phil Reed, Chair of

          6  our Consumer Affairs, and then of course Peter

          7  Vallone, Jr., the Chair of our Public Safety

          8  Committee.

          9                 I want to acknowledge Jonathan

         10  Ettricks, who is our Policy Analyst, and our Press

         11  Secretary Lou Picard. And joining us with our

         12  Committee today, someone who has expressed a great

         13  deal of interest in this program, as well as in

         14  terms of election reform, David Yassky.

         15                 So, we shall begin. Are there any

         16  opening remarks from any Committee members, before I

         17  turn to Council Member David Yassky?

         18                 Councilwoman Moskowitz.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Thank you,

         20  Chairman Perkins.

         21                 I appreciated very much your

         22  commenting on the process, because I do think that

         23  it was rather disturbing and I have worked with you

         24  on a campaign finance bill that we did about a year

         25  ago, and we've spent many hours discussing with good
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          2  government groups, and a variety of interested

          3  parties, including the Mayor's Office, on the

          4  language of the bill, and to me that is a good

          5  process, and not something to be faulted.

          6                 So, I just wanted to reference the

          7  earlier Campaign Finance Bill that this body passed

          8  under your leadership, Chairman Perkins, and I think

          9  it's a good process and I'm disturbed that it's been

         10  portrayed in the way it has. Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: If there are no

         12  other members of the Committee, I'd like to

         13  acknowledge Council Member David Yassky.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Thank you very

         15  much for the indulgence, Chair Perkins.

         16                 I simply wanted to thank you for your

         17  tremendous leadership on this.

         18                 I firmly believe that our Campaign

         19  Finance system is the best in the country. It must

         20  be preserved and improved. As good as it is, it can

         21  be improved. There is a significant loophole in the

         22  system as it exists today, as it relates to

         23  self-funded candidates, and what you have proposed

         24  here, Chair Perkins, I think would go a good

         25  distance toward closing that loophole and enabling
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          2  the system to deal better with self-funded

          3  candidates who insist on busting the caps, the

          4  spending caps, and I think the proposal is an

          5  important one and a very valuable one. I want to

          6  just express my full support for it, as you press it

          7  forward.

          8                 I will in addition urge that as you

          9  move this bill, you consider two additional

         10  loopholes. One, you have already addressed in

         11  another bill of yours dealing with referenda and

         12  with Charter reform proposals, the Campaign Finance

         13  system now does not apply to Campaign Finance -- to

         14  Charter reform proposals. That is another loophole,

         15  and I commend you for your efforts to date in trying

         16  to address it.

         17                 I hope that as this moves, that will

         18  move too.

         19                 And, third, would be applying the

         20  system to judicial elections, which is particularly,

         21  in my neck of the woods we have seen that our system

         22  for selecting judges is not as good as it should be,

         23  and I think applying the Campaign Finance System to

         24  those elections would be another, would be of great

         25  value.
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          2                 Mr. Chair, thank you so much for your

          3  indulgence in letting me speak. I simply wanted to

          4  express my support for what you're doing today, and

          5  urge you to address those issues, as well. Thank

          6  you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

          8  much, Council Member Yassky. And we are, as you

          9  know, very interested in the Charter Reform proposal

         10  related referenda, and I want to thank you for your

         11  sponsorship of that legislation. And surely, in this

         12  climate of so much cynicism, as it relates to

         13  judicial elections, a step towards reforming that

         14  has to include some sort of campaign finance system,

         15  and, so, I want to thank you for your work in this

         16  vain as well.

         17                 We're going to begin with our first

         18  witness from the Administration, Deputy Mayor Carol

         19  Robles-Roman. Please come forward.

         20                 MR. TOLLIN: Good morning. Could you

         21  each raise your right hand, or whoever is

         22  testifying.

         23                 Do you solemnly swear or affirm the

         24  testimony you're about to give is the truth, the

         25  whole truth and nothing but the truth?
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          2                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: I do.

          3                 MR. TOLLIN: Thank you.

          4                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: Thank you.

          5                 Mr. Chairman, and members of the

          6  Committee, I want to thank you for this opportunity

          7  to testify today.

          8                 My name is Carol Robles-Roman. I am

          9  the Deputy Mayor for Legal Affairs and Counsel to

         10  Mayor Michael Bloomberg.

         11                 The Bloomberg Administration believes

         12  that a voluntary public campaign finance program

         13  that is appropriately designed and responsibly

         14  funded should aim to reduce the appearance of

         15  improper influence or corruption.

         16                 And in situations where candidates

         17  for public office solicit large contributions, the

         18  public really deserves no less.

         19                 The present proposal, however, is

         20  flawed. No doubt, this may be due to the process

         21  that created it. And the Administration is now

         22  calling for the process of drafting new campaign

         23  finance legislation to be reopened to include all

         24  the members of the Campaign Finance Board, as well

         25  as the Administration, the City Council and other
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          2  interested parties, so that the Board's full set of

          3  recommendations can be publicly deliberated and a

          4  fair analysis can emerge about how the program can

          5  be appropriately reformed.

          6                 Now, let's step back a moment to see

          7  how we arrived at this point.

          8                 After the 2001 election, the Campaign

          9  Finance Board released a report dated September

         10  2002, and entitled "An Election Interrupted," that

         11  contained legislative recommendations for improving

         12  the operation of the program.

         13                 The package strove to further the

         14  goals of the program while safeguarding public

         15  funds.

         16                 Some of the proposed elements became

         17  part of a technical bill that was passed by the City

         18  Council and signed into law by Mayor Bloomberg, as

         19  Local Law 12 of 2003 earlier this year.

         20                 I should note that this law, while it

         21  contained no major policy changes, was the result of

         22  a ten-month process that included four hearings by

         23  this prestigious committee.

         24                 The most significant component of the

         25  Board's reform package unveiled in September 2002

                                                            15

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  remained undone today.

          3                 These proposals, which followed an

          4  eight-month study by the Board, include:

          5                 - reducing the general matching rate

          6  from four to one to three to one, saving the City

          7  $10 million.

          8                 - prohibiting participants from

          9  receiving contributions from organizations,

         10  including but not limited to some special interest

         11  groups.

         12                 - lowering contribution limits for

         13  participating candidates, including lowering the

         14  limits for Council candidates to $2,000 from $2,750.

         15                 - reducing the maximum public funds

         16  for Council candidates in an election from $82,500

         17  in 2003 to $70,000, saving the City more than a

         18  million dollars.

         19                 - eliminating most exemptions from

         20  the expenditure limits, and adding certain

         21  expenditures to the list of expenditures for which

         22  public funds may not be used, including, for

         23  example, payments of penalties, lawsuit

         24  expenditures, and post-election expenditures.

         25                 Now, in response to the 2001 Mayor's
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          2  race, the Board also proposed a six to one

          3  bonus-matching rate for candidates who face

          4  opponents who do not join the program and agree to

          5  limit their spending.

          6                 This recommendation was made despite

          7  the opinion of the Board's then Chairman, Father

          8  Joseph O'Hare, that the program worked well, and

          9  that the race did not turn on the issue of money.

         10                 And let me quote Father O'Hare.

         11                 "If Mr. Bloomberg chooses to run for

         12  reelection in 2005, the voters will judge him on

         13  what happens over the next four years. If he is

         14  successful, and most observers believe he is off to

         15  a perfect start, he'll be reelected.

         16                 And if he is not successful,

         17  participants in the New York City Campaign Finance

         18  Program will have the resources to effectively

         19  present an alternative if one is available.

         20                 To believe that the quantity of

         21  advertising commercials alone is enough to determine

         22  the outcome of a campaign betrays a lack of

         23  confidence in the discrimination of New York City

         24  voters, a judgment not supported by the history of

         25  municipal elections in New York City."
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          2                 Father O'Hare believed that the 2001

          3  democratic nominee received sufficient public funds

          4  under the five to one bonus matching rate to get his

          5  message out to voters and allow them to make an

          6  informed decision.

          7                 Nevertheless, perhaps in response to

          8  outside advocacy groups, the Board recommended a six

          9  to one match. Recently, however, the Board and the

         10  Council proposed that the rate be set at eight to

         11  one, up to a maximum of $17 million per candidate.

         12                 At this stage, I think it's important

         13  for those of us concerned about taxpayer spending,

         14  as well as the Board's nonpartisan traditions, to

         15  ask a few basic questions:

         16                 (1) Did the Campaign Finance Board,

         17  the members, the Board, actually vote to approve the

         18  new eight to one proposal?

         19                 And if so, what has changed in the

         20  year since the Board recommended six to one to

         21  justify the change in Board policy?

         22                 And (3) what analysis was conducted

         23  and what public discussions were held on the issue?

         24                 Before we even begin to consider this

         25  premature legislative program, questions must be
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          2  answered.

          3                 Moreover, the real question is really

          4  this: Why does the proposed legislation exclude

          5  nearly all of the Board's real reform proposals as I

          6  discussed earlier?

          7                 These major policy changes had

          8  remained in the Board's stated proposals throughout

          9  2003. In fact, until several days ago. Then, without

         10  informing the majority of the Board itself, and

         11  without consulting with the Administration, the

         12  Chair, the Executive Director of the Board,

         13  apparently negotiated a new proposal with the

         14  Speaker's Office.

         15                 The real reform proposal, including

         16  the six positive changes that I've outlined above,

         17  are now gone.

         18                 Instead, the bill provides for the

         19  new eight to one rate, and several other initiatives

         20  that fall short of true reform and that raise

         21  questions of process and legality.

         22                 And Mr. Chairman, in an area as

         23  sensitive as the City's Campaign Finance Program,

         24  where the elected officials who approved changes are

         25  necessarily interested in the results, it is evident
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          2  that flawed process will produce flawed outcome.

          3                 Further, it is highly unlikely that

          4  good government reforms can emerge from what appears

          5  to be a private deal, and that is the appearance,

          6  lacking in public input, as well as the input of the

          7  full board.

          8                 If the Campaign Finance Board wants

          9  to reopen its recommendations from a year ago, and I

         10  note that reopening the recommendations so close to

         11  the 2005 election season has been criticized by many

         12  observers, it should do so acting as a body and not

         13  just through one or two individuals. Hearings and

         14  public discussions should be appropriately

         15  advertised and held, and the Board should issue its

         16  legislative package of real reforms in the light of

         17  day. Then the Council, as the City's legislative

         18  body, and the Mayor as the City's Chief Executive,

         19  can publicly deliberate the full set of proposals.

         20                 The Administration urges the Board

         21  and Council to reopen the process and to reexamine

         22  ways to curb abuses of the current system that

         23  result in wasteful expenditures of taxpayer dollars.

         24                 For instance, in the Borough

         25  President's race in 2001, the winning candidate
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          2  faced no real opposition in the general election,

          3  but still receives and spends more than $500,000 in

          4  public funds. Unfortunately, such wasteful spending

          5  in the general election sometimes becomes the norm

          6  and not the exception, and the current legislation

          7  would do little, despite its intent to improve this

          8  situation.

          9                 At a time when the City's budget has

         10  been cut to the bone, we can ill-afford such

         11  wasteful spending. I urge the Board to step back and

         12  consider solutions to this problem, which has

         13  persisted for far too long.

         14                 The current bill before the Council

         15  also ignores an important ethics reform measure that

         16  New York City voters passed in a 1998 referendum,

         17  but that lacks the teeth because the Board has yet

         18  to act on it. The people overwhelmingly supported

         19  the referendum, which required the Board to create

         20  rules governing contributions from those who do

         21  business with the City. After more than five years,

         22  no rules have been implemented, even though we know

         23  that this reform represents the express form of the

         24  people.

         25                 In the current bill, contributions
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          2  from those who do business with campaigns would not

          3  be matched, but nothing at all is done about the

          4  much larger pool of contributions from those who do

          5  business with the City, whose regulation is required

          6  by the Charter.

          7                 The Administration is eager to work

          8  with the Council to effectuate the will of the

          9  voters. In any campaign finance bill that does not

         10  include an appropriate provision to do so, shows a

         11  disregard for this will.

         12                 In addition to the bill's striking

         13  absence of real reform, which has resulted from a

         14  flawed process, the bill's new requirements for

         15  candidates who do not join the campaign finance

         16  program raise serious legal concerns, as the Board

         17  itself acknowledges.

         18                 For 15 years, the Board held the

         19  position that State law preempted the City from

         20  requiring candidates to abide by the program's

         21  contribution limits and disclosure requirements.

         22  Now, the Board has reversed course, though it

         23  acknowledges that its new position is likely to face

         24  legal challenges by nonparticipants,

         25  unconstitutional and state preemption grounds. I
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          2  should note that even the attorney whom the Board's

          3  Executive Director consulted has conceded that the

          4  legalities of some of the proposals before this

          5  Council are by no means clear.

          6                 The Board has never before invited

          7  serious legal challenge by putting forth a

          8  recommendation that, with the uncertainties of

          9  litigation, may open a pandora's box and jeopardize

         10  the integrity of the program. This is another

         11  reason, in addition to avoiding any appearance of

         12  favoritism a year before the election campaign

         13  swings into high gear, to consider delaying the

         14  changes until 2009.

         15                 In sum, the present proposal fails to

         16  address the program's excesses that result in

         17  substantial taxpayer funded waste and omits

         18  important anti-corruption controls, while at the

         19  same time adding new financial burdens on taxpayers

         20  at a time of great financial crisis in the City.

         21                 In their apparent haste and

         22  willingness to strike a deal, it appears that the

         23  staffs of the Board and Council have adopted

         24  provisions favoring incumbents and those City office

         25  holders who wish to run for higher office, while
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          2  ignoring nearly all of the reforms that were

          3  originally given some balance to the Board's

          4  original package.

          5                 As a result, this proposal appears to

          6  be inordinately targeted at winning one race and

          7  defeating one candidate.

          8                 I should note that three of the last

          9  four mayoral races were decided by two percentage

         10  points. These were highly competitive races.

         11                 On the other hand, only a few Council

         12  races out of hundreds in the last 15 years have been

         13  decided by two percentage points.

         14                 Most are decided by 60 or 70

         15  percentage points with the winner far outspending

         16  the loser. It is also worth nothing that when Rudy

         17  Giuliani defeated Ron Lauder in '89, he was outspent

         18  seven to one, but following its review of that

         19  election, neither the Council nor the Board proposed

         20  a matching rate anywhere near eight to one. As a

         21  member of the program, Giuliani had sufficient funds

         22  to get his message out to voters.

         23                 In fact, it is hard to think of a

         24  single instance where a program participant ran

         25  against a wealthy candidate and lacked sufficient
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          2  funds to get his or her message out to the voters.

          3                 The Administration would be glad to

          4  offer constructive suggestions for furthering the

          5  goal and enhancing the accountability and legal

          6  defensibility of the program. To do this, however,

          7  we should reopen the process and put all proposals

          8  on the table. The proposal that emerges from the

          9  process could be reviewed responsibly and in open

         10  hearings by this Committee.

         11                 In conclusion, the Administration

         12  looks forward to working with the entire Campaign

         13  Finance Board and with this committee to produce

         14  legislation that will further the cause of political

         15  reform in New York City, reduce wasteful

         16  expenditures, and produce genuine improvements in

         17  the City's campaign finance program.

         18                 And I would thank you for this

         19  opportunity to address you today. I would be pleased

         20  to answer any questions you may have.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you for

         22  your testimony.

         23                 Our first series of questions will be

         24  from Council Member Eva Moskowitz.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Thank you,
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          2  Mr. Chair.

          3                 Are you familiar with the legislative

          4  process that goes on for other types of bills in the

          5  City Council?

          6                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: Yes, I am.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: You said in

          8  your testimony this was a private deal, and before I

          9  get to the substance of the bill and tell me your

         10  substantive points, I just wanted to understand your

         11  view of the process.

         12                 I've only been doing this job for

         13  four years, but I have personally negotiated about

         14  seven bills. Could you describe your understanding

         15  of what usually happens with the bills?

         16                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: More

         17  importantly, I would like to discuss what our

         18  understanding is of what took place in this

         19  particular case.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: No, I'm

         21  asking the question, and I'd really appreciate it if

         22  you'd answer my question. I'd like to understand

         23  what your sense of the normal process is?

         24                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: Well,

         25  there is a proposal that is usually developed, and
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          2  it could come from either the Administration, it

          3  could come from a series of different sources, and

          4  there are a series of meetings that take place,

          5  there are meetings of discussions that take place,

          6  there is usually a very fruitful exchange of ideas.

          7                 Now, in particular, with the Campaign

          8  Finance Board, they have a particularly strong

          9  tradition of making those recommendations very open,

         10  and there is a lot of consensus building that takes

         11  place, and you, yourself, mentioned the amount of

         12  work and time and public hearings that went into the

         13  prior legislative proposal that came out a year ago.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: And this is

         15  the first hearing on this bill, correct?

         16                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: Yes, it

         17  is.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: So it would

         19  be premature to say that somehow we've only had one

         20  hearing when we're starting today, would it not?

         21                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: I think

         22  what you were talking about, you were originally

         23  discussing my use of the term deal, in the context

         24  of this legislative proposal. And the reason why

         25  that term is used, and the reason why, and I heard
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          2  the Chair's discussions in terms of how this has

          3  been characterized by the Mayor's Office, the

          4  Corporation Counsel's Office, which is involved with

          5  review of all legislation at various points has had

          6  and had numerous discussions about the legislative

          7  proposal, and the proposal that was discussed --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: So, Michael

          9  Cardozo has had discussions about this particular

         10  bill?

         11                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: No,

         12  Michael Cardozo --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: So, no

         14  discussions ever took place between Michael Cardozo

         15  an the City Council or the Campaign Finance Board?

         16                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: Michael

         17  Cardozo had discussions and reviewed drafts of a

         18  proposal that contained the real reform provisions

         19  that I had outlined earlier.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: So he only

         21  looked at 2002. There was no discussion between

         22  Michael Cardozo, and I don't know the answer to

         23  this, I'm not asking a trick question --

         24                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: Yes, I

         25  understand.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: I'm just

          3  trying to understand, there were no discussions

          4  between Michael Cardozo and either anyone in the

          5  City Council, or anyone on the Campaign Finance

          6  Board itself or the staff --

          7                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: On this

          8  proposal, yes.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Well, not

         10  the thing that ends up, because, look, you can't say

         11  -- I mean, I knew of this legislation, but this is

         12  the first time I'm reading the sort of final version

         13  for today. So, the language here -- anything in this

         14  current bill that is on my desk right now, did

         15  Michael Cardozo have any discussion with either the

         16  City Council staff or the Campaign Finance Board

         17  members, or the Campaign Finance Board staff, of

         18  anything that's in here that's on my desk?

         19                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: Yes. There

         20  were elements of this proposal that were discussed.

         21  The main elements that arise out of this proposal,

         22  which is the eight to one match, was never discussed

         23  with the Corporation Counsel's Office.

         24                 Discussions of what happened to the

         25  real reform proposals, the six that I mentioned
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          2  earlier, that we found out about last week.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: But you're

          4  suggesting you're impugning a process that -- and,

          5  look, this is not my bill and I haven't been

          6  involved in any of the details, but I find it

          7  somewhat irresponsible to impugn a process that, as

          8  far as I can tell, is very, very similar to the

          9  seven or eight bills that I have negotiated, which

         10  is an incredibly open and deliberative process that

         11  doesn't end today, right? This is the first hearing

         12  of the bill, and usually we have several hearings,

         13  depending on the bill, so I would caution you about

         14  the strength, those are fighting words, and I don't

         15  really see the evidence.

         16                 I'd like to move on to the substance

         17  of your criticism, and I --

         18                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN:

         19  Councilwoman, the other point in terms of really

         20  looking at how this proposal came here, and it is

         21  something that we need to stop and -- and I don't

         22  know the answer either, you said you don't know the

         23  answer, neither do I -- when the Chair states that

         24  he has a proposal that has the full backing of his

         25  Board, and the Board doesn't know about the
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          2  proposal, and doesn't chime in to that

          3  characterization, that's very troubling, and I don't

          4  know the answer.

          5                 So, it connotes that, was this voted

          6  on by the Board? Was the eight to one match

          7  something that came out of the Campaign Finance

          8  Board, through consensus, and they discuss it and

          9  they think it's a good idea and they have data to

         10  support it? Okay, let's talk about that.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Well, I

         12  assume that --

         13                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: So, those

         14  two facts, the facts that, the proposal that we see,

         15  and sort of surreptitiously, we didn't even know

         16  about it formally, doesn't contain --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Formally,

         18  but you knew about it informally.

         19                 Michael Cardozo knew about it. I

         20  mean, look, I assume Mr. Schwarz is going to speak

         21  to what the --

         22                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: Certainly.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: -- Board

         24  did and did not know, but you talked about this

         25  body's process, and I see no distinction between the
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          2  way this bill emerged and the process that we are

          3  engaging in and the way that seven other bills that

          4  I have been intimately involved in, in hours and

          5  hours and hours of work, both before you put it on

          6  the members' desk and then the open and deliberative

          7  process. And I am very proud to serve in a body that

          8  has such an incredibly deliberative process. I think

          9  if you look at legislative bodies across this

         10  country, I don't think you'll see the amount of open

         11  public discussion and the consultative process that

         12  we engage in, and so I am, as the Chair mentioned,

         13  offended by the characterization.

         14                 I want to move on because my

         15  colleagues have questions. I just have one other

         16  question.

         17                 You say in your testimony on page

         18  six, "in fact, it is hard to think of a single

         19  instance where a program participant ran against a

         20  wealthy candidate and lacked sufficient funds to get

         21  his or her message out.

         22                 My colleague is laughing probably

         23  because I have a lot of experience running against

         24  very wealthy self-financed candidates who don't

         25  participate, and my question is, how would you know
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          2  that that statement is true? On what basis would you

          3  say that? I just don't understand how you come to

          4  that conclusion, based on what kind of logical

          5  analysis, or what kind of evidence would you have if

          6  someone loses? If they win, if the non-self-financed

          7  person wins, is that the evidence for it?

          8                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: We have

          9  looked at the margins of victory, number one, in

         10  terms of being able to make that characterization.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Okay. Well,

         12  let me give you a specific example. In 1997, I ran

         13  against someone who spent more money than any local

         14  candidate had ever spent in the history of New York

         15  City. He won and I lost. Did I have sufficient funds

         16  to get my message out in that context, and how would

         17  you know? I lost, so how do you judge whether I had

         18  sufficient funds? You could say, well, I lost

         19  because I was a really, really bad candidate; is

         20  that the only factor? Could you imagine money

         21  playing any role? He spent about a million, I spent

         22  about a quarter of a million, how do you know that

         23  my lack of funds had nothing to do with the outcome?

         24                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: I think

         25  the Campaign Finance Board Program has, by its very
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          2  nature how it's been set up, a program that helps

          3  candidates get their message out, and I don't think

          4  anybody is stating that candidates cannot get their

          5  message out with the four to one match.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Okay, but

          7  you wrote, "in fact, it is hard to think of a single

          8  instance in which a program participant ran against

          9  a wealthy candidate and lacked sufficient funds to

         10  get his or her message out." I hate to sort of put

         11  you on the spot here, but in 1997 --

         12                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: A

         13  candidate can get their message out and a candidate

         14  can still lose. We can take, I mean let's use the

         15  prior mayoral election as an example.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Does money

         17  ever have anything to do with --

         18                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: Let me

         19  finish my point. I don't think anybody would argue

         20  that either of the two candidates were not able to

         21  get their message out. I don't think there's anybody

         22  in this room who could say that Mark Green was not

         23  able to get his message out.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Yes, but

         25  you said there wasn't a single instance. So I don't
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          2  want to take the example of Mark Green.

          3                 I was in a situation where my

          4  opponent spent a million dollars, and I worked as

          5  hard as I could, I made 16,000 phone calls in order

          6  to raise a quarter of a million dollars. My average

          7  contribution was about $75. Are you willing to sit

          8  here today and tell me, and look me in the eye and

          9  say that I had enough money? It was the closest

         10  race, going back to your earlier point, in the City

         11  of New York that year. I got 47 percent of the vote.

         12  Are you comfortable making the judgment that my lack

         13  of funds had nothing to do with my defeat?

         14                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: What I'm

         15  saying is that there was an opportunity to get a

         16  message out at that time. You got your message out,

         17  the other candidate got his message out --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: But he got

         19  his message out many more times than I did. He sent

         20  like 30 pieces of mail and I only sent seven.

         21                 He was up on every radio station and

         22  every television station. There was a level playing

         23  field? I'm sorry, Mr. Chairman, I'm taking too much

         24  time. I apologize.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: I'm not
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          2  interrupting. You don't have to apologize. You're

          3  pursuing a very important matter as it relates to

          4  the significance of money in these campaigns, and

          5  it's not simply a matter of whether one gets their

          6  message out, it's like the intensity, it's much more

          7  than simply saying you both got your message out,

          8  and I think that's the point you're trying to make.

          9                 A person that has this amount of

         10  money, probably has a lot of message and a better

         11  communicated message than a person that has this

         12  amount of money, and I think what we've been trying

         13  to do through this program is to bridge that -- to

         14  bring that gap a little bit closer so that money

         15  does not have the kind of unfair advantage, and I

         16  think the statement that you're making may be a

         17  little bit of a leap from what the reality is about

         18  how campaigns won and/or lost. So, maybe everybody

         19  gets their message out. But obviously somebody with

         20  a whole lot more money is going to do better in

         21  getting their message out than someone with

         22  significantly less money.

         23                 I mean, it could be the difference in

         24  terms of mailings, it could be the difference in

         25  terms of mailings as well as other related ways in
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          2  which you get your message out which might also

          3  entail hiring staff, so on and so forth. So, thank

          4  you very much for your questions and your concern.

          5                 Council Member Leroy Comrie.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Thank you, Mr.

          7  Chair.

          8                 I just want to reemphasize my

          9  colleague's point, though. If a candidate has enough

         10  funds so they can actually stay in a constituent's

         11  mind 24 hours a day, as opposed to what the maximum

         12  threshold the Campaign Finance has, that's a

         13  significant difference, and I think that's the gist

         14  of what Council Member Moskowitz was trying to

         15  emphasize. You know, every race, every constituency

         16  has a certain level of threshold or familiarity with

         17  a campaign or a candidate and if a candidate can

         18  effectively make sure that they're with that

         19  constituent from morning til night, it makes a

         20  difference, and I think that's partly what she was

         21  trying to emphasize. And if that person has a

         22  limited amount of money and it's a local candidate

         23  or it's not, it does make a significant difference.

         24                 But I wanted to go back to some other

         25  issues, and I think what the Deputy Mayor -- I have
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          2  some questions.

          3                 You were not talking about this

          4  particular body in your concerns with the process.

          5  Can you clarify what body you were concerned about

          6  directly? Because Council Member Moskowitz indicated

          7  that you felt it was our body. Which body exactly?

          8                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: The Chair

          9  of the Campaign Finance Board represented to the

         10  public that these proposals were endorsed by the

         11  Board.

         12                 We don't know that is in fact the

         13  case.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Do you have

         15  any documentation?

         16                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: No,

         17  absolutely not. I'm raising the question. But it is

         18  troublesome.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Do you have a

         20  person from your staff that monitors the Campaign

         21  Finance Board meetings?

         22                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: No.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Do you have

         24  any written documentation from the Campaign Finance

         25  Board as to --
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          2                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: No. The

          3  public reports indicate that some of the very

          4  members on the Board did not know about the eight to

          5  one matching, had not voted on the proposal, and had

          6  never seen the proposal. I don't know that to be the

          7  case.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Are they going

          9  to speak to that?

         10                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: I don't

         11  know that. I don't have that information. I don't

         12  know. It would be helpful to hear from them.

         13                 I am not raising any of these issues

         14  as fact. I am raising them as questions that need to

         15  be explored in order to determine if in fact these

         16  proposals enjoy the full support of the Campaign

         17  Finance Board. And if they don't, that doesn't mean

         18  they can't go forward to this Board, as you

         19  mentioned, to this Council Committee. But it does

         20  put a question as to where they came from, and

         21  whether in fact they're needed. Was there any type

         22  of consensus that was developed around it? I don't

         23  have the answers and I hope I didn't represent in my

         24  testimony that I did. I specifically posed them as

         25  questions to this learned body to further flesh out.
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          2                 You will have the Chair before you

          3  and those will be questions to properly address to

          4  him because it is troubling.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay.

          6                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: And

          7  observers have questioned whether this is the right

          8  way to go about this type of important reform.

          9                 Reform in this area is critical, and

         10  it is important, and I can't agree with you more.

         11  But we can't just define reform this way. The

         12  Campaign Finance Board has already identified a real

         13  package of reforms, and all I'm saying is they

         14  should all be before you, as a baseline proposal, to

         15  be reviewed and properly evaluated, deliberated, at

         16  this hearing, at the next hearing, instead of in

         17  piecemeal fashion.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: But you're

         19  aware, as was said earlier, this is just the first

         20  hearing?

         21                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: Exactly.

         22  And before you should be a full proposal that

         23  represents the full consensus of the Board, I would

         24  imagine. That's usually how it works in the area of

         25  campaign finance. I can't say that I have personally
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          2  worked in those areas of legislation. I can tell you

          3  that that is what I have been advised from our

          4  experts at the Law Department who have worked in

          5  this area.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: And how often

          7  does your staff or anyone from your areas meet with

          8  the Board or their staff.

          9                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: Well, the

         10  Corporation Counsel's Office, when it comes to

         11  legislative proposals meets with the Campaign

         12  Finance Board and particularly their chairman to

         13  discuss proposals and things that may be of interest

         14  to the Administration. And that is what took place

         15  in this instance up to a point.

         16                 And then the proposal that's before

         17  us now, we never saw, we never looked at, we never

         18  evaluated. I'm not sure where it came from. I'm not

         19  going to stand here and tell you I know. That's the

         20  question that I pose to you. I don't know. It's a

         21  lot of money to spend, and I don't know if anybody

         22  has evaluated it. They may have an entire legal

         23  analysis as to why this is an important thing to do

         24  and then I'll be convinced.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: What you're
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          2  talking about goes beyond eight to one, six to one,

          3  or whatever to one.

          4                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: You're

          5  talking about process. Absolutely.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: And whether or

          7  not there was a deliberative discussion at that

          8  level.

          9                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: That's

         10  right.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: And you're

         12  also talking about whether or not -- well, that begs

         13  the question of the last set of proposals, the

         14  Administration was in favor of it at that particular

         15  point when it was first introduced, or were they

         16  against it when it was first introduced?

         17                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: I'm sorry,

         18  which proposal?

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: The last set

         20  of proposals that changed and amended Campaign

         21  Finance Rules last year. I'm trying to remember if

         22  that was here, but I can't recall what was the

         23  Administration's position when they were first

         24  proposed?

         25                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: I can't
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          2  say what the Administration's first position was. I

          3  know that it was ultimately signed into law a year

          4  ago.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay.

          6                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: And there

          7  was a lot of deliberative process there as well, a

          8  lot of discussions.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: And your point

         10  this morning that you're trying to make, you feel

         11  that that process was abrogated at some point and

         12  you just don't know where?

         13                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: Right.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay.

         15                 I'll defer the rest of my questions

         16  to other members.

         17                 I have some questions as to process

         18  in general, and I will bring that up with Mr.

         19  Schwarz and the other people who are going to speak.

         20                 Thank you, Chairman.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you.

         22                 Just for the record, we're not voting

         23  today, so we usually have on this type of

         24  legislation several hearings that get input from not

         25  only Administration and Council members, but also
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          2  from advocates, and so for instance, I know the

          3  eight to one match was something that some of the

          4  advocates proposed. So it wasn't simply a matter

          5  that came up, as you suggest, from the

          6  Administration, I mean from the Campaign Finance

          7  Board, or as some might even seem to be suggesting,

          8  from the City Council, which I don't think had

          9  anything to do with it whatsoever.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: I have a

         11  follow-up.

         12                 Did you ask for any of those

         13  materials that I asked you for, records, minutes,

         14  anything? Are you allowed to ask for that?

         15                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: I did not

         16  personally request any of that data.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: But are you

         18  allowed to ask for that in general?

         19                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: To my

         20  knowledge, they don't exist. To our knowledge, the

         21  information that I have is that such a discussion

         22  didn't take place.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Thank you. I'm

         24  sorry.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: A discussion
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          2  didn't take place to your knowledge on the basis of

          3  what fact? I mean, on the basis of what can you

          4  suggest? What are you basing this opinion on?

          5                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN:

          6  Conversations with members of the Board --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Okay.

          8                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN:-- Indicate

          9  that the Board was not consulted on a eight to one,

         10  that the Board did not vote on the proposal that's

         11  before you today.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Okay.

         13                 So, the Board will be here to

         14  respond.

         15                 Council Member Phil Reed.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Thank you, Mr.

         17  Chair.

         18                 Both Council Member Vallone and I are

         19  sitting here and wondering what the Administration's

         20  position on the merits of this bill are.

         21                 There is something that's in front of

         22  us that we are interested to know what your feeling

         23  is.

         24                 You've now, we've been 45 minutes

         25  listening to you denounce what you read into a
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          2  process. I also noticed that you sort of toned down

          3  what's the written testimony here. So, I don't know

          4  if your outrage is famed or real, but what I'd like

          5  to know at some point, and I'm sure --

          6                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: I hope I'm

          7  not indicating outrage of any sort, sir. I'm really

          8  trying to --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: I don't know how

         10  it would be characterized by anybody else in here

         11  but outrage. You came in here in an aggressive

         12  fashion, and to look at this testimony, I couldn't

         13  imagine to characterize it as anything but.

         14                 Let me ask you another question,

         15  though.

         16                 Would you identify for me the people

         17  that are also at the table with you.

         18                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: Certainly.

         19  This is Anthony Crowell, Special Counsel to the

         20  Mayor, and Norma Abete, Deputy Counsel to the Mayor.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Thank you.

         22  Because I just remember these folks that were here

         23  working on the Charter Revision, and many of us at

         24  that time questioned the use of government employees

         25  who would otherwise be doing the people's business,
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          2  but most of the people's business sort of got put on

          3  hold all summer long while they worked on the

          4  Mayor's idea.

          5                 So, that in the campaign parlance

          6  would probably be an in-kind contribution, so maybe

          7  you're right, because it failed. But maybe we should

          8  stack that up. Maybe that would be another example

          9  for you of excessive amount of money that wasn't

         10  successful, but --

         11                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: The

         12  message got out and the people didn't buy it, you

         13  know? The people spoke.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: I see these two

         15  people who I think are admirable, but I just want to

         16  know what role they're playing today.

         17                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: Well, I

         18  just answered that, and she certainly didn't work on

         19  Charter, and Mr. Crowell did work on Charter.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Because it's

         21  somewhat disingenuous, it's hard to disassociate the

         22  Mayor from the Administration, and we're talking

         23  about the corrosive influence of money, but, you

         24  know, we don't know how much money people spend one

         25  minute, and then we find out, well they spent three
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          2  times more than they said they did, at least this

          3  proposal is going to put it right on the table.

          4                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: Well,

          5  you're talking about Charter, and let's talk about

          6  Charter. People were not comfortable with the amount

          7  of money the Mayor spent, that is true. But the fact

          8  of the matter is that he thought it was important,

          9  and more importantly, back to the point, he spent it

         10  in order to get his message out, and people didn't

         11  vote for it. They didn't vote for it. They heard the

         12  message.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: So, are you

         14  opposed to the proposal then because it's just too

         15  much of the City's money? Is that what your

         16  objection to it is? Because I just am not sure

         17  what's your objection to the proposal is.

         18                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: At this

         19  point I think the best remedy would be to reopen the

         20  process to come up with a baseline proposal that

         21  includes all the different recommendations that are

         22  proposed --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: You're not

         24  taking a position on the eight to one?

         25                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: The eight
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          2  to one, to this point, absent more, appears to be

          3  taxpayer-funded monies going in the direction that

          4  no one has been able to explain is needed at this

          5  point. And like I said, maybe the Board has a

          6  report, maybe they have data, maybe they have charts

          7  and graphs and announcements to show that eight to

          8  one is the right number. We haven't seen it, I don't

          9  know. I don't know.

         10                 At this point in time, absent more,

         11  sounds like a lot of money to spend to, I guess,

         12  present the notion that you need to spend more money

         13  for a candidate to get their message out against a

         14  self-financed candidate. And I go back to the last

         15  Mayoral Campaign, you had a candidate who

         16  participated in the Campaign Finance Program, and he

         17  got his message out. He didn't win, but he certainly

         18  got his message out. I don't think anybody is going

         19  to say that he didn't get his message out.

         20                 So, again, maybe there is information

         21  and data and charts and graphs and studies to

         22  indicate that eight to one is a good match. We

         23  haven't seen it.

         24                 I know certainly the prior Chair of

         25  the Campaign Finance Board did not support an
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          2  increase. He felt that the current levels were

          3  appropriate, were correct, and more importantly were

          4  accomplishing the goal of the program. It's leveling

          5  the playing field. I mean, it's not a dollar for a

          6  dollar match in terms of making sure that you have

          7  the exact amount of --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: You know, I just

          9  asked you for a yes or a no and I'm really not sure

         10  yet where --

         11                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: Well, you

         12  know as lawyers we love to talk. I apologize.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Yes, you do, so

         14  I'm going to cut you off.

         15                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: I beg your

         16  indulgence on that.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Thank you.

         18                 A lot of us have --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Let me be clear,

         20  Councilman Reed.

         21                 Is that a yes or a no?

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: We don't know.

         23  We don't know.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Okay.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: It was lawyer
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          2  talk.

          3                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: At this

          4  point in time the answer is we do not support the

          5  eight to one without knowing that this is going to

          6  be something that's going to be helpful to the

          7  people.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Okay, stop right

          9  there before you reconfuse us. Thank you.

         10                 A lot of us have some concerns about

         11  this, and I know that the Chair wants to move

         12  forward in trying to have our first hearing on this

         13  bill.

         14                 I was struck because you spent so

         15  much time in the beginning of your testimony about

         16  the proposals that have been put forth previously.

         17  So many of my colleagues, so many people in the

         18  universe of examining whether they want to be in

         19  public life, and vis-a-vis using a campaign finance

         20  structure to run for office, are concerned about how

         21  difficult that is.

         22                 I'm sure that the Chair will be

         23  looking to schedule a hearing for us to discuss

         24  that. I could do the next ten minutes on just all of

         25  what you said in here, the question I think that
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          2  we're all trying to ponder is, at what point is it

          3  that we want to continue to suggest to the public

          4  that we want to use that money, their tax money, to

          5  try and keep the scale properly balanced? That is

          6  really all we need to be discussing. But I also take

          7  offense, frankly, that in your testimony you talk

          8  about all of these candidates who have wastefully

          9  used taxpayer dollars when they didn't have a real

         10  significant campaign. You have not recognized, maybe

         11  not asked you to acknowledge individually, but you

         12  certainly called out a Borough President here, that

         13  many of us who in fact have not abused that system,

         14  have not taken that money, recognize that we didn't

         15  have that much opposition, so didn't spend all the

         16  maximum.

         17                 So, you just once again sort of made

         18  it sound like all public officials are, by the

         19  extension of your remarks, greedy, will use any

         20  money they can to get this message out, and,

         21  frankly, I take offense at that.

         22                 So, we all just went through a

         23  process of getting re-elected, and many of us said

         24  exactly what you've asked to ourselves, there is no

         25  sense in trying to take that money, some of us say
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          2  in a parochial or a vernacular to say, I don't want

          3  to see my name in the paper, but I also don't want

          4  to hear my name or what we've done -- I don't like

          5  hearing about public officials that you don't also

          6  say are hard working and mindful of public money.

          7                 So, if you're going to continue to

          8  talk about some old proposals that are not on the

          9  table today, then at least let's acknowledge that

         10  many of us in the public forum are trying to be

         11  fiscally responsible.

         12                 So, I'm going to leave that now and

         13  turn this back over to the Chair, because I really

         14  do think that we'd all like to get on to the merits

         15  of this proposal.

         16                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

         18  much.

         19                 Council Member Peter Vallone.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Thank you,

         21  Council Member Reed. Some of us didn't even take

         22  matching funds in the last election.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Council Member,

         24  may I interrupt just to introduce some of the

         25  members that have joined us?
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: No.

          3  Absolutely not.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

          5  much. I appreciate that.

          6                 Council Member Eric Gioia has joined;

          7  Council Member Michael Nelson; and Council Member,

          8  Mayoral Candidate to be, Charles Barron.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Council Member

         10  Barron may benefit from eight to one, so Mr. Chair

         11  --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Also Council

         13  Member McMahon, who has just acknowledged that he's

         14  also interested in the Mayoralty, from Staten

         15  Island. History is about to be made.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: See, this is

         17  why I said no, Bill.

         18                 Okay, Deputy Mayor, thank you for

         19  your testimony today.

         20                 Like my colleague, I'd also like to

         21  forget the process for a moment and stick to the

         22  merits.

         23                 Part of the process will be, however,

         24  your opinion on a higher match. Now, I know you're

         25  saying it's too early today, and I understand that,
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          2  but we will need your opinion during the process at

          3  some point.

          4                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN:

          5  Understood, Councilman.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Okay. My

          7  opinion is I favor a higher match, you know, whether

          8  it be, you know, six, seven or eight to one, I favor

          9  a higher match, and it's important to know that it's

         10  not eight to one until the candidate I believe

         11  spends more than three times the amount, it's a

         12  sliding tier.

         13                 I, though, am also troubled by the

         14  potential appearance that the rules are being

         15  changed in the middle of the game.

         16                 Would you, at this point say you

         17  favor a higher match, perhaps, after 2005?

         18                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: At this

         19  point, given that we have no information to indicate

         20  why a higher match is needed, I don't think that

         21  we're in a position to say that a higher match is

         22  appropriate at this time.

         23                 I have no idea what happened at the

         24  Campaign Finance Board, what was the analysis that

         25  made them arrive to that number, or that higher
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          2  match is in fact something that will assist in

          3  improving campaigns in this City of New York.

          4                 I don't think that conversation has

          5  been had.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: I assume it

          7  is a conversation you can have today, tomorrow, the

          8  next day, with the Campaign Finance Board, and they

          9  will be testifying next.

         10                 So, again, you will be coming back to

         11  us with that opinion, correct?

         12                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: Hopefully

         13  so. If we get the information, absolutely.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: And if you

         15  don't you let us know, because we'll get it for you.

         16                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: Thank you.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Okay.

         18                 A quick question.

         19                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: But to the

         20  second half of your question. Any changes should

         21  probably take place after 2005 like Charter, I mean

         22  in terms of the Charter proposal.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: You didn't

         24  mention another proposal that I've heard about.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Let me just be
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          2  clear, because the Mayor rationalized that, in order

          3  not to benefit him as to why he wanted to make sure

          4  there was no appearance, that it was crafted for his

          5  benefit. Why would he want this to go later? Is that

          6  the same reasoning?

          7                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: Probably,

          8  yes. It would be to make sure there was no

          9  appearance, that anybody passing legislation could

         10  benefit one particular party or the other.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: All right.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Do you have

         13  an opinion on the provision which would prevent a

         14  state or federal committee from transferring its

         15  money into a New York City Campaign Finance Control

         16  Committee?

         17                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: Not at

         18  this time.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Okay, thank

         20  you, Mr. Chair.

         21                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: Thank you,

         22  Councilman.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Council Member

         24  Gioia, followed by Council Member Barron.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Thank you, Mr.
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          2  Chair.

          3                 And thank you for your testimony

          4  today.

          5                 I'd like to just bring this back and

          6  ground this in law for a moment.

          7                 I'm a very big fan of the campaign

          8  finance system in New York. In fact, I believe it's

          9  the best campaign finance system in the United

         10  States, and I think federally --

         11                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: That makes

         12  two of us.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: So you agree

         14  it's the best campaign finance system in the

         15  country?

         16                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: It's a

         17  very good program.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Say that again.

         19                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: It's a

         20  very good program.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Do you believe

         22  that there's a value in spending taxpayer dollars to

         23  promote democracy?

         24                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: Yes.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Do you believe
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          2  there's a value in spending taxpayer dollars to

          3  protect us against the encroachment of a

          4  plutocraticracy?

          5                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: I think

          6  it's important to stay true to the legislative

          7  intent of the campaign finance law which was to make

          8  sure that candidates running for City office are

          9  able to get their message out.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Hold on. You

         11  keep saying "get their message out."

         12                 Let's be clear. I mean, we're all

         13  politicians and political professionals here. You

         14  don't just spend your money to get your message out.

         15  That's not a successful campaign. Because a

         16  successful campaign that gets your message out, but

         17  then doesn't get voters to the polls, is a campaign

         18  that then loses and says boy didn't I have a great

         19  message.

         20                 So, let's recognize that there's more

         21  functions than just getting your message out. In the

         22  era of television, granted, getting your message out

         23  is a big part of the campaign, but I would tend to

         24  argue that if eight to one were in effect in 2001,

         25  that a GOTV operation, as political professionals
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          2  know it, Get Out The Vote operation, would have put

          3  Mark Green over the top.

          4                 And, so, when we talk about getting

          5  your message out, I think I would argue that that is

          6  not the only reason, that that is not the entire

          7  legislative intent of the campaign finance system,

          8  would you agree?

          9                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: I would

         10  not agree that the purpose of the campaign finance

         11  legislation is to get votes for elected officials. I

         12  don't -- or candidates --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Pardon me. I

         14  didn't say that.

         15                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: And I

         16  think that's what I heard.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Well, let me

         18  correct your misimpression then.

         19                 What I said was, was the campaign

         20  finance system is designed to even the playing field

         21  to promote democracy and that it is not solely to

         22  get a message out but to get out the vote, and

         23  there's --

         24                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: That --

         25  sorry.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: So I'm saying,

          3  so it is to even the playing field.

          4                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: To even

          5  the playing field, in order to allow, if we're going

          6  to stick to New York, to allow the New Yorker to

          7  have choices and to be able to properly evaluate

          8  what the choice is and who the candidates are, and

          9  what you represent versus what your opponent

         10  represents. That's the purpose. The purpose is not

         11  to make sure that for every dollar that you will

         12  spend, your opponent is going to be matching you one

         13  on one. That is not the purpose of the legislation.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: I think we

         15  recognize the Supreme Court has said that money is

         16  speech; am I correct?

         17                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: Yes.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: You recognize

         19  that?

         20                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: Yes.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Do you believe

         22  at some point that money can actually diminish

         23  speech?

         24                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: I'm not

         25  sure what you're asking.

                                                            61

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: If I brought up

          3  every single minute of television time in New York

          4  City for a six-month period, do you think that I

          5  will have diminished the opportunity for my

          6  opponents to get their message out?

          7                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: No, I

          8  don't.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: You don't.

         10  Because then they could rent airplanes and write

         11  things in the sky or they could drop leaflets from

         12  helicopters, or what? How would I get my message out

         13  if my opponent had bought every single minute of

         14  television time in New York City for six months?

         15                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: I'm not

         16  sure what the purpose of the question is.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: The purpose of

         18  my question is to find out if you believe that money

         19  can diminish speech.

         20                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: We have

         21  had -- Michael Bloomberg is not the first sort of

         22  self-financed candidate. We've seen others in recent

         23  memory and they have not done what you suggested.

         24  They have not ameliorated the other party's message.

         25                 We're not, you know, Ross Perot is
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          2  not in the White House, Galisano is not our

          3  Governor, and Ron Lauder was never Mayor. So, I

          4  think what you're suggesting is something that has

          5  not come to pass, and it's an extreme example.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: You're right. I

          7  guess I'm out of order in that it is an extreme

          8  example to presume that someone would spend hundreds

          9  of millions of dollars of their own fortune to seek

         10  an elective office.

         11                 Let me just go back for a second. We

         12  recognize that this is a penalty phase in that you

         13  don't have to participate in campaign finance, in

         14  terms of accepting matching dollars; in other words,

         15  like me, for instance, I didn't matching public

         16  dollars this year, but I abided by the spending

         17  caps. We recognize that if a candidate were to do

         18  that, that this penalty phase, the

         19  billionaire-buster phase of this legislation, would

         20  not kick in; is that correct?

         21                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: I'm sorry,

         22  can you repeat that?

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: If two

         24  candidates in a race, if they both agree to abide by

         25  the spending limits, then that this eight to one,

                                                            63

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  the billionaire buster provision in this campaign

          3  finance law would not kick in.

          4                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: Right.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: So, do I take

          6  it by your testimony that once again Mayor Bloomberg

          7  is saying he will not abide by Campaign Finance in

          8  New York and will recklessly break the spending

          9  caps?

         10                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: I am not

         11  Counsel to Michael Bloomberg and his campaign, and I

         12  don't feel comfortable answering any questions that

         13  are going in that direction.

         14                 I will answer any hypotheticals that

         15  you have, but I really don't feel --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Fair enough.

         17  And you're in a tough spot today, and I recognize

         18  that.

         19                 Do you think that, and the truth is,

         20  do you think that Mayor Bloomberg completely loses

         21  his moral authority to come in here and question

         22  campaign finance reform when he, himself, has

         23  completely ignored campaign finance reform, has

         24  spent more money than anybody in the history of the

         25  United States to run for office, has come in and
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          2  indicated again that you will not participate in

          3  campaign finance reform, has recently handpicked a

          4  Charter Commission, and then spent his own fortune

          5  to try to get the message out there. Do you think

          6  that he is completely robbed of all moral authority

          7  to come here and talk about campaign finance reform?

          8                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: Any

          9  candidate that runs for office has the right, as an

         10  American, to follow their First Amendment Right of

         11  free speech, and decide whether to opt in or out of

         12  the program.

         13                 We have some high profile individuals

         14  who are running for the White House, who have opted

         15  to do the same thing. And many members here that I

         16  am sitting in front of were on the front page of the

         17  New York Times yesterday endorsing some of those

         18  very candidates. Dean and Kerry have opted not to

         19  participate in campaign finance, in their right as

         20  Americans, they lose no moral authority in doing so,

         21  in my humble opinion. That's not a legal opinion,

         22  it's a personal opinion, so I'm taking off my Deputy

         23  Mayor hat as I say that. I don't want to address the

         24  issue in terms of candidate Bloomberg, as I said, I

         25  don't represent him in terms of anything dealing
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          2  with his candidacy as a perspective candidate.

          3                 But my point is that there are many

          4  elected officials that choose not to participate,

          5  and it does not rob them of any moral authority, to

          6  go forward as a credible candidate. We have to

          7  remember that it's the people who vote, and we can't

          8  underestimate the discriminating nature of the New

          9  Yorker. They will listen to the message and they'll

         10  vote up or down. They did at the Charter and they'll

         11  do it again.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Thank you for

         13  bringing up the presidential race, because I think

         14  it's important to look at that, in that you do have

         15  a candidate, Governor Dean, opting out, with a $77

         16  average contribution size from real Americans. But

         17  let's talk about the reason that he's forced to opt

         18  out, and that is what happens, opting out happens,

         19  and this is what we're in danger of in New York City

         20  so I'm glad you bring it up.

         21                 If we are going to have a campaign

         22  finance system that makes sense for candidates to

         23  opt in, to promote democracy, well then we have to

         24  protect against people who can go out there and keep

         25  -- President Bush has opted out -- blown away the
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          2  spending caps, and that is the reason he has made

          3  the campaign finance system antiquated federally and

          4  encouraged candidates like Governor Dean to opt out.

          5                 What I think our concern in this City

          6  is that when you have someone of immense personal

          7  wealth, who looked at the Campaign Finance System

          8  and says I'll spend so much that it just doesn't

          9  matter if these guys participate, I will blow them

         10  out of the water. Then there comes a time when we

         11  actually say a guy like me, a guy from Woodside

         12  Queens, you can never run for Mayor because you

         13  can't spend the money.

         14                 And what we then to start to have is

         15  really truly a plutocracy, and I think those who

         16  charge the Mayor, that it's the peak of hypocrisy to

         17  come here and to kind of bring up this smoke screen

         18  of process, when he's never shown any inclination to

         19  play by the rules like everybody else, I mean let me

         20  just say I think it smacks of hypocrisy, and with

         21  that I'll --

         22                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: I take

         23  exception to that characterization, Council member,

         24  because that is the rule and he's playing by it, so

         25  he's not making up any new rules, and there are
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          2  serious concerns about process and I think they've

          3  been legitimately laid out, I hear what you're

          4  saying and I understand where you're coming from.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Thank you.

          6  There are two sets of rules here. There are those,

          7  like us, who participate in campaign finance, and we

          8  say even though we can raise more money, I'm not

          9  going to spend more than the cap. That's one set of

         10  rules for 99.9 percent of New Yorkers, and then

         11  there's another set of rules for billionaires, and

         12  that's spend as much as you like, because you can

         13  certainly out-spend anybody else in this City. You

         14  can spend $100 million, you can spend $200 million,

         15  you can probably spend $900 million before you ever

         16  miss it.

         17                 And, so, there's two sets of rules in

         18  this City right now. Those of average means or above

         19  average means, or for the average millionaire, and

         20  then there's another set of rules for the

         21  billionaire.

         22                 So, that I would think is the case

         23  here, and I think that the proposal by the Campaign

         24  Finance Board is trying to even that playing field.

         25                 And, again, in terms of taxpayer
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          2  money, this proposal wouldn't cost the taxpayers a

          3  single dime more if everyone, including the Mayor,

          4  agreed to play by the same set of rules. And I think

          5  that's important to note here, is we're not talking

          6  about a penny more of taxpayer dollars if everyone

          7  plays by the same set of rules.

          8                 Thank you very much, and thank you

          9  for your testimony.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: You have

         11  mentioned more than once some of the process issues

         12  that are of great concern to you, and I'm just

         13  wondering since the Campaign Finance Board is coming

         14  up next, do you intend on waiting here to hear their

         15  response to the allegations that they're making?

         16                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: I will

         17  look forward to hearing their presentation.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

         19  much.

         20                 I want to change the order a little

         21  bit, if you don't mind. I think Council Member

         22  Addabbo is on the list first, and he will be

         23  followed by Council Member Barron.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Thank you,

         25  Mr. Chair.
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          2                 Deputy Mayor, thank you very much for

          3  your time and testimony today, and I appreciate you

          4  being here.

          5                 One thing I guess we can all agree

          6  upon, something that you had said in your testimony

          7  is that there is a concern for taxpayer spending, I

          8  think we would all agree with that. But if you truly

          9  believe what you say, and you truly adhere to it,

         10  there is a way to limit taxpayer spending and that

         11  would be to limit the eight to one matching.

         12                 And there is a way to do that with

         13  the optional limited participation. And that would

         14  obviously prevent, again, the eight to one.

         15                 What is the Council's opinion, your

         16  opinion, upon that particular provision, new

         17  provision of this bill?

         18                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: The

         19  provision that would, I'm sorry?

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: The optional

         21  limited participation which would allow somebody to

         22  spend their own money, but, again, not have the

         23  eight to one kick in. They would be allowed to

         24  debate, they would get basically most of the

         25  provisions of the bill, except that eight to one
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          2  would not kick in, and therefore limiting taxpayer

          3  spending. How would you agree with that?

          4                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: That type

          5  of proposal would really fundamentally alter the

          6  voluntary nature on the program.

          7                 I mean, the very legislative, the

          8  history on the campaign finance law is that it be

          9  voluntary by its nature.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Getting into

         11  this optional program part of the bill is voluntary.

         12  In this case the Mayor would voluntarily enter into

         13  this part of the proposed bill, so it's still

         14  voluntary.

         15                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: But that

         16  would change the entire nature of the program.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Oh, no, not

         18  at all.

         19                 Actually, again, the program,

         20  leveling the playing field, again, they participate

         21  in the debate provisions, everything else would kick

         22  in except that eight to one.

         23                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: If you're

         24  asking me whether the Mayor should participate in

         25  that, I can't answer that.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Your opinion,

          3  I asked your opinion on the provision.

          4                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: I feel

          5  that it changes the program. I feel that it

          6  fundamentally changes the voluntary nature of the

          7  program.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Even though

          9  the Mayor would voluntarily enter into it?

         10                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: I think it

         11  changes the fundamental nature of the program, I

         12  really do.

         13                 We'd have to really explore that.

         14  We'd really have to give that greater exploration.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Thank you for

         16  your time.

         17                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Council Member

         19  Barron. Then followed by Council Member McMahon.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: I always have

         21  a favorite expression for hearings like this. This

         22  is deep. It's really incredible. I almost don't even

         23  know where to begin, but I heard different amounts

         24  of figures that the Mayor spent to buy the

         25  Mayoralty, and you're trying to find out reasons why
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          2  we would go from eight to one. Well, there are 77

          3  million reasons why.

          4                 We wouldn't even be here if your boss

          5  didn't spend such an obscene amount of money to buy

          6  the Mayoralty. We wouldn't even be having this

          7  hearing. We wouldn't even have to change any laws.

          8  But, you know, it's just incredible. Do you think,

          9  in your personal opinion, is that an obscene amount

         10  of money to spend for the Mayoralty?

         11                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: You know,

         12  I frankly don't know how much was spent.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: All right.

         14                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: I really

         15  don't.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Well,

         17  everybody else knows it's over $70 million. Would

         18  you agree with that?

         19                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: I hope

         20  you're not suggesting, Councilman, that the reason

         21  that we're here today is because we're casting

         22  legislation --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Yes, I know

         24  why we're here. Before you give me -- excuse me. Let

         25  me finish my question. Before you give me an
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          2  elementary school lecture --

          3                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: No, I'm

          4  not lecturing you.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: -- On why

          6  we're here today. Because I understand why we're

          7  here today. But there's a larger reason why we all

          8  know why we're here today, and it's not what you

          9  were just about to say. It's about spending money

         10  for elections in this City. That's why we're here

         11  today. We wouldn't even be having this hearing, if

         12  it wasn't for the Bloombergs, the Lauders, the Ross

         13  Perots, the billionaires that try to buy office. We

         14  wouldn't even be here. And we're just simply trying

         15  to level the playing field.

         16                 So, I just wanted to know from you,

         17  you in your heart of heart can't understand why we

         18  would want to be here to try to level the financial

         19  playing field in this electoral process,

         20  understanding that the Mayor doesn't have to opt in,

         21  that's his constitutional right. You can't

         22  understand why other candidates would want to see a

         23  more equitable playing field financially,

         24  money-wise?

         25                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: I think
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          2  what I understood from your question was this

          3  proposal is directed at one candidate, and that is

          4  very, very troubling because --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: This proposal

          6  is directed at candidates who spend obscene amounts

          7  of money to get elected, not one candidate, any

          8  candidate. This proposal is designed so that we can

          9  have a more equitable playing field when it comes to

         10  elections so that people can pay attention to

         11  candidates and candidates will have to go into

         12  communities and not just be on TV and spend a

         13  thousand pieces of mail, and also even a videotape.

         14  We're trying to make it so that New Yorkers can

         15  really be touched by their candidates and that we

         16  can have a level playing field so that everybody

         17  will have to participate in the debate, that you

         18  can't hide behind TV and colorful mailings, but you

         19  would have the meet the people of New York. That's

         20  part of the reason why this particular candidate

         21  you're talking about, that's 61 percent of the

         22  people don't even want to have Thanskgiving dinner

         23  with him. He has to go meet the people and this will

         24  cause more people to get in touch with their

         25  candidates and not just through TV.
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          2                 It's more than money, it's trying to

          3  get the electoral process more people-oriented and

          4  getting people to the people, and you can't

          5  understand why we wouldn't want to at least try to

          6  level the playing field to force candidates to come

          7  meet people more and have a greater chance to even

          8  have a spending chance to even win an election.

          9                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: If eight

         10  to one is the way to go, if this is a proposal that

         11  makes sense, if the Campaign Finance Board -- Board

         12  -- Board, not Chair, feel that this is important

         13  legislation, if they feel as a Board, and they vote,

         14  which is my understanding how this independent

         15  traditionally non-partisan group is supposed to

         16  operate, properly vets the eight to one, presents

         17  data and information, can really show the public

         18  that this will not be another hit at the taxpayer,

         19  in these financially difficult times, then we have

         20  to have that conversation. We do.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Let me ask you

         22  something.

         23                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: But --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Go ahead.

         25                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: But I just
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          2  really hope that I did not hear the question

          3  correctly, because what I heard was that there's a

          4  proposal now on the table that is specifically

          5  directed at one candidate from one political party,

          6  and that --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: That's not

          8  what this proposal --

          9                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: And that

         10  does not make proper public policy.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: That's my

         12  opinion.

         13                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: Okay, sir.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: That's my

         15  opinion.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Let me just say

         17  this, because I think we're really at a good point.

         18  Not only in New York, but in other parts of the

         19  country there has been the phenomena of big money

         20  buying elections, and I think there has been a

         21  concern in this Committee and in this City, not

         22  about any personality per se, but about that trend,

         23  about the influence, the extraordinary influence of

         24  money on the outcome of elections, and we've come to

         25  even be concerned about it with regard to the
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          2  outcomes of referenda.

          3                 And I think the question was

          4  basically do you share that concern?

          5                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: The

          6  question in the language that you used that

          7  elections can be bought, no, I don't share that

          8  concern.

          9                 I don't think that New Yorkers can be

         10  bought. We are a very discriminating group as a

         11  general rule, and I can't imagine --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Well, let me

         13  ask you this --

         14                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: And the

         15  press is there, maybe they'll write the story to the

         16  opposite that New Yorkers can be bought. I don't

         17  think New Yorkers can be bought, and I want to say

         18  that very emphatically and I'll take off my Deputy

         19  Mayor hat as I say that and I'll be venturing a

         20  personal --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Well, let me

         22  ask you this: Do you think money has an influence in

         23  elections? This is fundamental?

         24                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: That

         25  question --

                                                            78

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Do you think

          3  money can influence election? Do you think money can

          4  influence an election? That's a tough question. Can

          5  money influence an election?

          6                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: I think it

          7  goes without saying. That's the whole premise of the

          8  Campaign Finance Program, is to assist candidates

          9  financially using taxpayer funded money.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: So money can

         11  influence an election?

         12                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: That's the

         13  whole premise of the program, in order to assist

         14  candidates.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Could you just

         16  show me just a few ways, the way money influences an

         17  election?

         18                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: I am not

         19  an elected official, I'm not sure that's what --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Oh, come on,

         21  this is a baby question. Just tell me, I'm just

         22  asking you a simple question. You don't need legal

         23  counsel and all of that. I'm just asking you, can

         24  you just show me some of the ways that money can

         25  influence an election?
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          2                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: The

          3  Campaign Finance Program is one way, one dramatic

          4  way, that we see how money can assist candidates to

          5  help them in a series of different ways, in terms of

          6  how that money is spent. I'm certainly no expert on

          7  how an elected official would spend that money. But

          8  certainly --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: But that --

         10                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: I can't

         11  answer the question if you keep interrupting me. So,

         12  you answer my question. I don't know what to say.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: I might as

         14  well, because I think you know what to say but you

         15  don't want to say it. You know money does influence

         16  elections. You know money has a lot to do whether

         17  candidates name recognition will get out there

         18  before the public.

         19                 And, no, New Yorkers cannot be easily

         20  influenced, because even though candidate Bloomberg

         21  spent over $70 million, he only won by 30 some odd

         22  thousand votes. So we do have a very intelligent

         23  voting public, but it makes it very difficult, very

         24  difficult for people to run in elections when that

         25  obscene amount of money is spent.
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          2                 Speaking of extremes, that is the

          3  extreme, and that's when an election can be bought,

          4  and I think we've got to be more honest. It comes

          5  off very disingenuous when, you know, you come and

          6  you act like we're doing something wrong, that we're

          7  the cause of this eight to one proposal, when in

          8  fact, it's coming from the billionaires, and people

          9  trying to level the playing field. So I'm just

         10  trying to get you to be straight up with us and work

         11  with us on this and understand the purpose behind

         12  this as to even the playing field, and money does

         13  play an important factor, a very important role, in

         14  determining the outcome of elections.

         15                 Thank you very much.

         16                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: Thank you,

         17  sir.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Oh, Mr. Chair,

         19  just one more thing, I'm sorry. I don't know if

         20  anybody is going to be happy with me on this one,

         21  but the other part of this, is that I think that we

         22  should try to take the politics out of it, even not

         23  allowing Weiner to use some of his congressional

         24  money in this process, is a concern of mine too.

         25                 I think that we want to level the
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          2  playing field, we want to give everybody

          3  opportunities. I think that's a little concern of

          4  this for me too, that we should be able to even open

          5  it up to that extent, and I don't know who is going

          6  to be happy with me on that one. But thank you, Mr.

          7  Chair.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you.

          9                 Council Member McMahon, followed by

         10  Council Member Gioia.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Thank you,

         12  Mr. Chairman, and good morning, Deputy Mayor.

         13                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: Good

         14  morning.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: I wonder if

         16  you can just help me understand this a little bit

         17  I'm just sort of a simple guy from an outer borough

         18  from Staten Island.

         19                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: I don't

         20  believe that for one second.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: And I'm a

         22  little confused --

         23                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: Not for a

         24  minute.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Maybe it's
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          2  the deepness of it, as Council Member Barron said.

          3  And it's not so much even the issue here but as you

          4  say, the process that's been out in the media for

          5  the last week or ten days, because I sit, and I

          6  think a lot of New Yorkers are rather incredulous as

          7  to what we see going on, and certainly we are, the

          8  City, as we all agree, the City, still in the throws

          9  of a very difficult crisis, certainly very important

         10  issues to deal with, and that, numbers of

         11  homelessness are growing, we have a garbage crisis

         12  that's not being dealt with, and a myriad of issues

         13  that we should be focusing on.

         14                 In the last week or ten days I think

         15  I've seen, and I continue to hear the Mayor and his

         16  press people coming forth and saying that he

         17  appointed to a position, he's abrogated his honesty

         18  and his integrity and his duties, and has conspired

         19  with the Speaker of the City Council, who is a

         20  fourth or fifth cousin, once removed, to somehow

         21  circumvent the fair process of campaign finance,

         22  which the Mayor very much agrees in, and as you've

         23  said you believe in and uphold, and we are therefore

         24  going to stop the wheels of government and stop any

         25  process until we get to the bottom of this process,
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          2  because somehow there's a process here that's been

          3  undertaken, that has undermined the sanctity of

          4  government because a proposal has come forward that

          5  was not seen or read by some members of a board that

          6  no one, the average public never even heard of, and

          7  so we're sitting here now for I guess two hours or

          8  so talking about process and your statement talks

          9  about the process.

         10                 I guess my question is, when do we

         11  stop talking about the process and start talking

         12  about the merits of the bill and the merits of the

         13  proposal? And just may I add one thing before you

         14  answer that?

         15                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: Sure.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: You know as

         17  well as I know that whatever this proposal is, I can

         18  go downstairs and draft the bill and bring it up and

         19  bring forward the eight to one match, or whatever it

         20  is that we so object about as the result of that

         21  process. So the debate or the discussion that we're

         22  having today could be had no matter what that

         23  process was. Yet, in some attempt, I don't know what

         24  it is, or why this discussion is being had about

         25  this process, because if I appointed someone and
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          2  they did something that they didn't like, I would

          3  deal with that person myself and I wouldn't make a

          4  public show out of it, but I'm not the Mayor. But

          5  the point is this is a very important issue, why are

          6  we bogged down in this process of trying to vilify

          7  certain individuals or to impugn their integrity

          8  when we're talking about a very important issue? And

          9  when do we stop talking about the process and start

         10  dealing with the issue?

         11                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: Well, the

         12  process is very important, Council Member, and I

         13  think it's important to know if a body represents to

         14  this body, represents to the people of the City,

         15  represents to the Mayor, that they have looked at a

         16  very important issue, that will possibly cost us

         17  millions and millions of taxpayer money at a time

         18  that -- that's going to be hard enough to swallow.

         19  I'm a simple girl from Queens, so I mean these

         20  issues are important to me also.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Right.

         22                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: So when

         23  somebody makes that representation and says, you

         24  know, here it is with a bow and it's been vetted and

         25  the Board has voted on it and here it is, and then
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          2  you find out that that in fact didn't happen, this

          3  isn't, you know, a law school organization, this is

          4  one of the most important bodies that the City has.

          5  The Campaign Finance Board is an independent,

          6  nonpartisan body with an incredible tradition, and

          7  the fact that there are questions which I can't

          8  answer, and I'm not pretending here to give sworn

          9  testimony saying that I know what happened at those

         10  meetings, but I know what's been reported, and what

         11  has been reported is extremely troubling, which is

         12  that this proposal has been reviewed by that Board

         13  and they're in agreement of it.

         14                 This is a very, very important

         15  high-functioning Board. The individual members are

         16  very, very prestigious and well regarded, and as

         17  they say, if they present to the world this is

         18  something that's important and you're going to look

         19  at it, all right, you know, let's talk. When you

         20  find out that that didn't happen and then you have

         21  the Board members saying what is this, I never saw

         22  this before, we have to give pause, the Mayor has to

         23  give pause, you have to give pause. You will have

         24  the Chair here, and you know what? Maybe there will

         25  be a perfectly reasonable explanation. We haven't
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          2  heard it yet. But this is the body that's been

          3  entrusted to review these very, very important

          4  issues, and you're right, this was the Mayor's --

          5  I'm sorry, I'm the longwinded lawyer again, I'm

          6  going on too long. But we need answers to these

          7  questions and I think ideally what we would love to

          8  see is an opportunity to look at the other reform

          9  proposals as well --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Right.

         11                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: That they

         12  have already said are very good, and there's also

         13  the other --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: I think the

         15  old Shakesperean line comes to mind: Me thinks she

         16  duth protest too much. I think it's ironic that

         17  someone in government, where almost every process is

         18  skewed to the favor of the Administration when

         19  you're dealing with government, process under City

         20  Charter certainly favors the Mayor in so many ways.

         21                 Be that as it may, we as a City

         22  Council don't sit around all day and say, oh, this

         23  process stinks and therefore we're not going to deal

         24  with the issues, we're not going to roll up our

         25  sleeves and deal with the issue.
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          2                 We've been talking about process. You

          3  know what? Get over it. Tell the Mayor to get over

          4  it. Tell them to start dealing with issues that

          5  matter more to the people of the City of New York

          6  because we get the point. We understand that he

          7  disagrees with the fact that the full Campaign

          8  Finance Board endorses this proposal. We understand

          9  that. We will hear from them and we will understand

         10  that. But that's not going to dissuade us from

         11  dealing with a very important issue, and that is, is

         12  this the best possible system that the people of New

         13  York City deserve? And if not, how can we make it

         14  better? And there are a lot of proposals here that

         15  we want to talk about and deal with, and you're

         16  saying, well, we can't deal with those because we

         17  can't get past the process. The process was skewed.

         18  Well, you know what? Maybe there's another forum for

         19  that. Maybe if there was misconduct you have to deal

         20  with it in another way, but we here in the City

         21  Council want to deal with substantive issues, to

         22  make this program the best for the next election and

         23  for the elections to come.

         24                 If you think there was wrongdoing,

         25  then that should be addressed, but it should not
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          2  obfuscate the issue here, and the important things

          3  that we have to talk about.

          4                 For instance, this proposal is not

          5  just about the eight to one, or the billionaire bust

          6  or whatever they call it. There's also a very, very

          7  important provision here that says that the changes

          8  that were applied, contribution and disclosure

          9  requirements for all the candidates; does the Mayor

         10  support that? In other words, even if he's not in

         11  Campaign Finance, will he follow the disclosure

         12  methodology and the reporting methodology of

         13  campaign finance or not? Does he support that?

         14                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: If your

         15  question asks whether --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: No, my

         17  question was does he support it or doesn't he?

         18                 Or my question is: Can we get past

         19  the process and deal with the issue? And if so,

         20  there's different things in this bill, let's talk

         21  about them and find out do we support -- does the

         22  Mayor support it or doesn't he?

         23                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: Well,

         24  listen --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: I'm
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          2  listening.

          3                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: We can't

          4  get past --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: You can't get

          6  past it?

          7                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: I think

          8  it's important and it's an extremely legitimate

          9  issue that this Board needs, that this group needs

         10  to discuss.

         11                 Not with me, because I don't have the

         12  answers. We already discussed it at length, as you

         13  so rightly pointed out.

         14                 As to your particular question, if

         15  this scheme, which it looks like it does, imposes

         16  mandatory reporting requirements, onto individuals,

         17  it does away with the entire voluntary nature of the

         18  campaign finance program, which is the basis of the

         19  program.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Is your

         21  answer no the Mayor opposes that?

         22                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: I think

         23  there's a serious legal challenge there. I think

         24  there are legal issues that need to be analyzed more

         25  fully.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Go ahead.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: So the Mayor

          4  opposes disclosure?

          5                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: I can't

          6  answer that question right now.

          7                 As a lawyer I can tell you that the

          8  State election law already owns that area. They have

          9  their own disclosure requirements.

         10                 Local law would be preempted from

         11  doing the same, in my opinion.

         12                 That issue would have to be legally

         13  analyzed further in order to get -- you look like

         14  you're getting a headache.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Deputy Mayor,

         16  I did not say legalistically does the Mayor see that

         17  this is perhaps found. I said does the Mayor support

         18  these initiatives.

         19                 Let's talk about the things that the

         20  Mayor supports in this bill. Or we're only going to

         21  talk about process today?

         22                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: I thought

         23  we're talking about process.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Okay. The

         25  holidays are coming, we're focusing on important
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          2  things. Whatever your religion, we've got a lot of

          3  issues to deal with in the City, as I mentioned

          4  before. Will there come a time that the

          5  Administration will be past the process and we can

          6  start dealing with issues again? Or from now until

          7  the end of this Administration are we going to sit

          8  around saying we can't deal with this or anything

          9  else because of process?

         10                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: We would

         11  love to see a baseline proposal that includes a

         12  number of the reform initiatives that we talked

         13  about, including the very issues that you're talking

         14  about. You've mentioned one particular issue where

         15  there are --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Well, I can

         17  give you more.

         18                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: What?

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: There are

         20  proposals that reduce areas of potential fraud and

         21  deception, limit certain unnecessary expenditures of

         22  public funds. Because as you said, even though you

         23  said, by the way, this is such a program, you also

         24  throw out every chance you can, we don't want to

         25  waste taxpayers' dollars, which is always a
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          2  round-about attack on this program, and I just want

          3  you to know that that's not lost on us here, that

          4  you can't have it both ways. You can't say I support

          5  this program and I stand by it, but when there's one

          6  portion of it you don't like, you say, oh, you're

          7  wasting taxpayers' dollars.

          8                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: Yes.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Either you

         10  support this program or you don't support this

         11  program.

         12                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: You

         13  support the program and you always want to make sure

         14  that the money is being properly spent, and you

         15  always want to make sure that you have procedures in

         16  place to make sure that that happens.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Okay.

         18                 Would you also agree, though, that

         19  this bill, as it currently exists, is something that

         20  I could have introduced myself as a Council Member,

         21  and we could be sitting here debating anyway so all

         22  the process is actually irrelevant?

         23                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: No. The

         24  process is not irrelevant. The process is not

         25  irrelevant. I'm sorry.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Within your

          3  Administration certainly there are problems, an

          4  appointee didn't do what the Mayor wanted, okay, go

          5  across the hall and deal with that. But here in the

          6  City Council, when we're considering a measure, how

          7  that measure got here, whether somebody supports it

          8  or not is relevant. But to sit here and stonewall

          9  and say that the Administration is not going to talk

         10  about the specifics of this bill, because we oppose

         11  the process, is disrespectful, I believe, to this

         12  body.

         13                 Because if the merits stand on their

         14  own, they should stand on their own. If they don't,

         15  tell me why they don't. But if it's because of the

         16  process, then go back next door, and I don't mean to

         17  really say go back next door, but that's something

         18  that should be dealt with across the hall, because

         19  you don't like what an appointee did, or you

         20  disagree.

         21                 We understand that there are members

         22  of the Board who say I don't support this or I don't

         23  support the process, although what I read was we

         24  support it anyway, or the process is bad, we have to

         25  deal with that, but we support the specifics is what
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          2  I read in the paper. That could be right or wrong, I

          3  don't know.

          4                 But the point is, we've got

          5  proposals, they have merit or they don't have merit,

          6  and what you're saying is, sorry, the process is bad

          7  so we're not going to talk about it, we'll get back

          8  to you later on it. Is that correct?

          9                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: No, that's

         10  not correct. It's not correct.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: Well, how am

         12  I wrong?

         13                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: We talked

         14  about eight to one. We talked about imposing a

         15  non-voluntary disclosure requirement onto a

         16  voluntary program. So we have discussed some of the

         17  merits of some of these proposals, but what you're

         18  asking me to do is asking me to pretend that the way

         19  this proposal got here didn't happen, or that it's

         20  not important, and we can agree to disagree or we

         21  can disagree not to disagree, but the fact of the

         22  matter is that it is important. It is important to

         23  know how it got here. There were discussions that

         24  were had with the Mayor's Office, through the

         25  Corporation Counsel. There were real important
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          2  proposals that were in that original draft that fell

          3  through. And maybe there was a good reason, but we

          4  don't know why, and so we would like to see a

          5  baseline proposal open for discussion so we see

          6  everything. When you talk about campaign finance

          7  reform, let's talk about it as a package, with all

          8  of the elements of the different proposals that have

          9  been seen to date by the Campaign Finance Board that

         10  they have ruled on, that they have thought is

         11  important, including the proposal that the voters

         12  voted on overwhelmingly in '98, regarding taking

         13  contributions from certain groups.

         14                 So, what I'm saying is, and I'm sorry

         15  if this is not the acceptable answer, and I'm sorry

         16  if you don't like the answer, but we would like to

         17  work with the Council, to work with the Campaign

         18  Finance Board and look at real campaign finance

         19  reform and not from sort of a Chinese food menu,

         20  we're going to look at this today and this next

         21  year.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER McMAHON: That could be

         23  your testimony today. You could be telling us what

         24  you support, what you don't support, what should be

         25  included in this bill, what should not be included
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          2  in this bill. That's what a Council hearing is.

          3                 We're not voting on this bill today.

          4  We're saying, if we get bogged down in that

          5  scenario, we'll never have reform. And I have to

          6  turn it back to the Chairman, I've taken my time,

          7  overstayed my time, but I find it incredulous again,

          8  I'm incredulous that the Mayor would sort of say,

          9  well, the process is bad and therefore I'm not going

         10  to deal with this issue when he, of all people,

         11  given the nature of his campaign and how he got to

         12  office should be a strong advocate for campaign

         13  finance. To me, again, it's very, very confusing.

         14                 I look forward to the day when you're

         15  prepared to come back and talk to the merits, I just

         16  hope it's not too late for the next election. Thank

         17  you.

         18                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: Well, I

         19  hope we have a baseline proposal and we'll be able

         20  to do that. I'm looking forward to the conversation.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

         22  much.

         23                 By the way, is the Mayor, for policy

         24  reasons, opposed to voluntary disclosure?

         25                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: I'm sorry?
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Voluntary

          3  disclosure, is there a policy reason why the Mayor

          4  would be opposed to that?

          5                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: Voluntary

          6  disclosure of --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: As is presently

          8  the case? On expensions and expenditures and

          9  contributions.

         10                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: You mean

         11  the law?

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: In compliance

         13  so-to-speak with the law as it is now?

         14                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: Are you

         15  asking me whether the Mayor --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: You seem to have

         17  a concern about that aspect of the bill that

         18  requires disclosure in a voluntary program. That's

         19  what you said. And you say it might even be

         20  problematic with regard to state --

         21                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: No, the

         22  Mayor discloses what is required to disclose under

         23  state law, sure. There's no --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Not necessarily

         25  to the Campaign Finance Board. He doesn't
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          2  participate.

          3                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: No.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Okay. Is there a

          5  policy reason?

          6                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: I don't

          7  know why he does that or does not do that. I cannot

          8  speak to that.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: I'm not talking

         10  from the perspective of politicians, I'm talking

         11  from a good government point of view, is there a

         12  reason that you can share with us?

         13                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: There is

         14  no requirement that a candidate do so.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Do you think it

         16  would be a good example to set for other candidates?

         17                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: No, I

         18  think there are legal issues involved that need to

         19  be explored further.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Okay, thank you

         21  very much.

         22                 One final round for Mr. Gioia, and

         23  then we're going to move on to our next set of

         24  witnesses.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Thank you, Mr.
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          2  Chair. It's so rare for me to even ask questions at

          3  hearings, and to ask them twice is extremely rare.

          4                 Sorry, your testimony, it just

          5  frustrates me to hear some of the answers.

          6                 I guess if I thought I was in

          7  trouble, or if I thought I had something to hide,

          8  I'd go our and I'd hire some of the smartest

          9  lawyers, some of the best PR people, and I'd put up

         10  a smoke screen, and I can't help but think that's

         11  what I'm looking at. Extravagant smoke screen

         12  designed to obfuscate, designed to distract the real

         13  issues, and artfully so. With respect, artfully so.

         14                 Because when I hear answers like,

         15  well, the Mayor complies with state law, well, let's

         16  talk about state law for a second. Do you think that

         17  the State Campaign Finance laws, the State Election

         18  laws are good laws?

         19                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: I don't

         20  have any reason to say otherwise at this point.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: What knowledge

         22  do you have of the State Election laws?

         23                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: I am not

         24  an expert in the state campaigns.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Because that
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          2  seems to be the wall we keep hiding behind. Well,

          3  the Mayor does not follow New York City law, but he

          4  doesn't have to, he follows State law. I will tell

          5  you it is my belief that the State laws are like the

          6  Wild West. You can give up to $35,000 to a

          7  candidate, you report twice a year - the system in

          8  New York City is immeasurably better than the system

          9  in New York State. But the Mayor chooses to

         10  participate in the State system and not the City

         11  system.

         12                 Well, why? Well, it's pretty clear

         13  he's gaining the system. He's able to go out and say

         14  before a Charter referendum, I'm only going to spend

         15  $2 million and it comes out he spent $7.5 million,

         16  before there's not a week before, day before

         17  requirement to say how much you're spending on

         18  expenditure limits.

         19                 And, so, I can't help but think that

         20  he's choosing -- you know, in law we have venue

         21  shopping, I can't help but think he's shopping for

         22  the best law, that best suits his desire to win. And

         23  you said something very interesting. You said I

         24  don't think that money can buy an election. But then

         25  you said I think money can influence an election.
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          2                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: No, I said

          3  that the Campaign Finance law and the program is

          4  meant to assist candidates in being able to send out

          5  a message, and part of that is the funding.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Okay. So, let

          7  me ask you this: Do you think you can buy an

          8  election?

          9                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: No.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Do you think

         11  that you can influence an election by spending an

         12  enormous amount of money?

         13                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: I think

         14  that the expenditure of funds have -- I think the

         15  expenditure of funds is one of the tools that a

         16  candidate, of course, uses to get their message out.

         17  Yes.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Under the

         19  current law, how much money -- or under the proposed

         20  law, whichever you choose to answer, what is the

         21  spending cap on a mayoral race?

         22                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: I don't

         23  have that information. I don't know.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Would you

         25  accept that it's, and someone tell me, I believe
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          2  it's around $5 million? 5.8 million dollars, would

          3  you accept it at $5.8 million?

          4                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: I don't

          5  know. I don't know. I think it's probably closer to

          6  12. I don't have that exact figure.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: No, I think

          8  that that is absolutely wrong. It's $5.8 million.

          9  And by the way, let me just say that coming here,

         10  there's a difference in my book between $5.8 million

         11  and $12 million. I recognize that there are people

         12  in this City who between $5.8 million and $12

         13  million is the amount of interest they've made today

         14  on their bank book. I recognize that. But to me

         15  there's a big difference in $6 million. But my

         16  question is --

         17                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: But is

         18  that number correct? Is there a limit between the

         19  primary and between the general election? I think

         20  there are two separate amounts that you then have to

         21  --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: I'm speaking

         23  about the general election, because that's what

         24  we're here to discuss.

         25                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: Okay.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: I believe.

          3                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: Because if

          4  you combine those two numbers, I think it is 12.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: But we're

          6  talking about the general election. That's what

          7  we've focused on all day so far.

          8                 Do you think, because you talk about

          9  getting your message out a lot, do you think that

         10  spending $12 million, your number, you can

         11  sufficiently get your message out?

         12                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: I can't

         13  answer that question. I don't think I have --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: We're here to

         15  talk about the law, how can you not answer the

         16  question?

         17                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: I don't

         18  have the expertise to answer that question fully. I

         19  can say that $12 million sounds to me, I can't talk

         20  as a lawyer because I have no foundation to give my

         21  answer, it sounds like a lot of money to be able to

         22  get out a message, to be able to let the citizens of

         23  New York, if we're talking about New York, know what

         24  that candidate stands for, what that candidate wants

         25  to do in terms of their vision. And if we're talking
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          2  about the Mayoralty, what they want to do as Mayor

          3  of the City of New York.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: So, just to be

          5  clear, you think it's a lot of money, but the

          6  Administration does not have a position whether or

          7  not that is a sufficient amount of money to get your

          8  message out?

          9                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: Not at

         10  this time.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: But you think

         12  it's a lot of money. And, so, I guess if I were to

         13  say, I'm going to double that amount or triple that

         14  amount or quadruple that amount, or multiply it by

         15  ten or 20, well, that would certainly be a

         16  tremendous amount of money. I think we can all agree

         17  on that.

         18                 The question is, if we can agree that

         19  $12 million is a lot of money to get your message

         20  out, why in the world would you spend ten times that

         21  amount, or five times that amount, or six times that

         22  amount, if not to influence or dare I say buy an

         23  election?

         24                 What in the world would you be

         25  thinking, if $12 million was enough, to spend $100
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          2  million, why in the world would you do it? Why

          3  wouldn't you play by the rules, like everybody else?

          4                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: Number

          5  one, if you're talking about candidate Bloomberg,

          6  and I can't answer the question for candidate

          7  Bloomberg, because I'm not his Counsel, for the

          8  purposes of an election. I want to go back to your

          9  characterization as buying elections, and I find

         10  that characterization very, very troubling for

         11  anybody. I think it speaks ill of New Yorkers, and,

         12  frankly, it speaks ill of the people who voted for

         13  candidate Bloomberg, now Mayor Bloomberg. We can't

         14  be bought. We can't be bought. And so the premise of

         15  the question is I think improper and is an insult to

         16  New Yorkers. And I understand your point and I

         17  understand where you're going but I just need to

         18  make that point, and, again, I'll take off the

         19  Deputy Mayor hat as I say that, I say that as a New

         20  Yorker that I don't think we can be bought, I know

         21  we can't be bought.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: So then why in

         23  the world would someone spend ten times the amount

         24  that you said was a lot of money on an election? Is

         25  it foolhardy to spend all that money?
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          2                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: I don't

          3  know.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: So you have no

          5  idea why someone would do that?

          6                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: You're

          7  speaking about candidate Bloomberg --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: No, it was a

          9  hypothetical.

         10                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: You were

         11  not raising a hypothetical. If we're going to speak

         12  about hypothetical candidates, a lot of these

         13  self-funded candidates have funds to get their

         14  messages out and they're going to do it in whatever

         15  way they think is appropriate. But I'm not going to

         16  answer questions about the Mayor and what he did

         17  during his campaign because it's really not

         18  appropriate for me to give that information. Number

         19  one, I don't have it, and number two, it's not

         20  appropriate.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: And I'll just

         22  wrap up, Mr. Chair.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Council Member,

         24  I'm going to --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Can I just wrap
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          2  up?

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Yes, wrap up.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: And as I said,

          5  I know you're in a tough spot, because I know you're

          6  not the Mayor's personal lawyer, his election

          7  lawyer, she can't say what he was thinking when he

          8  spent probably ten times more than the general

          9  election spending limit, or hypothetically why a

         10  candidate would spend all that money, but as I said

         11  before, I think it's the peak of hypocrisy when

         12  someone who refuses to play by the rules that

         13  everyone else plays by, comes here and criticizes

         14  the rules. And when you talk about you don't like

         15  the process, to me that's a smoke screen, because I

         16  can't think of a more open process than the process

         17  we're having right now, we can't even get to the

         18  merits because it is the reluctance on the

         19  Administration's part to do so.

         20                 So, I really would urge, as Council

         21  Member McMahon did, that the Mayor focus on more

         22  pressing issues that the City is facing, and when

         23  he's ready to speak frankly about campaign finance,

         24  and if he truly is a convert to campaign finance, I

         25  would urge him to follow the rules of campaign
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          2  finance and play by the same rules as everybody else

          3  here today plays by.

          4                 Thank you very much from your

          5  testimony.

          6                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: I don't

          7  think anybody has ever suggested that Michael

          8  Bloomberg, whether as Mayor or as candidate, has not

          9  played the rules, has ever done anything

         10  inappropriate and is not following the law, and

         11  that's what he's doing.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: No, I agree he

         13  is.

         14                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: And I'm

         15  just going to finish my remarks by saying I'm a

         16  little bit concerned at the personal nature of some

         17  of the characterizations and really tying the Mayor

         18  to this legislative proposal. If this is a good

         19  government proposal, and that's what I understand it

         20  is, and it has to be done for the good of the

         21  people, and not because this is the right thing to

         22  do because people want to position themselves for a

         23  race. I think it's reprehensible and I sincerely

         24  hope I misheard, but this proposal cannot be before

         25  this body, this body, in order to take care of a
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          2  situation that you don't like in terms of what

          3  happened in the last election.

          4                 That's not what good government is

          5  about. It's not what this Committee is about. I know

          6  that. I've worked with the Chairman before, on very

          7  important issues, side by side negotiating critical

          8  policies that affect immigrants in the City of New

          9  York, Councilman Perkins, and I just want to make

         10  sure that I end my comments today on that note.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: No problem.

         12                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Let me just

         14  assure you that this bill was not crafted for the

         15  purpose of Council Member Barron's Mayoral

         16  candidacy, or any other candidate for that matter,

         17  and I'm glad that you are equally concerned that

         18  legislation be crafted for the sake of good

         19  government, and not for anybody's personal agenda,

         20  and you can be assured --

         21                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: Well, from

         22  the tone and the context of some of the --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: I tried not to

         24  interrupt you.

         25                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: I'm sorry,
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          2  sir, please continue.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: You can be

          4  assured that that's not what's happening here. You

          5  can take that from me.

          6                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: Thank you.

          7  And from you I will accept it. Some of the

          8  questions, some of the characterizations from your

          9  colleagues would lead one to a different conclusion.

         10  So, I'm taking your assurances.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: You have my

         12  assurance.

         13                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: I'm taking

         14  your assurances, sir, that that is not the case here

         15  today, because that would be very problematic on a

         16  lot of different levels.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Mr. Chair, I

         18  take offense to the Deputy Mayor saying that you are

         19  above reproach, I mean I agree that you are above

         20  reproach, but I take exception --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: I'm with you

         22  there.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: I mean, it is

         24  outrageous that you just attacked, I assume Council

         25  Member Gioia and others who might have questioned
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          2  you, when I was out of the room. I agree the Chair

          3  is above reproach and is going to do what is best as

          4  he sees it for the City of New York, but if you are

          5  somehow saying that Council Member Gioia, or the

          6  other Council members in this room are not focused

          7  on the best interest of this City, then you have

          8  just insulted the majority of the City Council, and

          9  one of our leading members of the City Council, and

         10  I think you should apologize to those members before

         11  you leave.

         12                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: I did no

         13  such thing. I did no such thing.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: You said you

         15  accepted the statement that this was done for the

         16  best interest of the City from the Chair, and then

         17  went on to cast aspersions against other members who

         18  have questioned you. And I just think it's

         19  outrageous.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: I have to concur

         21  with that. In fact, I wanted to say that myself.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Sorry.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: That's quite all

         24  right, I'm glad you did what you did because I think

         25  it's important that as I began this hearing, that
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          2  you understand that the manner in which this has

          3  been debated in the press has suggested that this

          4  Committee, the members, myself, and this Council are

          5  crafting legislation from that petty personal

          6  political point of view, and I would hope that

          7  that's not what you tried to say in your concluding

          8  remarks.

          9                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: My

         10  comments and the record speak for itself. Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Well, I want you

         12  to understand that that's unacceptable. If you're

         13  making remarks that suggest that any individual

         14  member --

         15                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: No, that's

         16  not what I said, Councilman.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Could you repeat

         18  what you said for the record?

         19                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN:

         20  Councilman, what I said was there were remarks that

         21  were made and comments that were made that were

         22  highly, highly personal, connecting the Mayor's past

         23  campaign to this legislation. I didn't make those

         24  remarks, and I'm just hoping that I misunderstood

         25  and I misheard and that wasn't the intention of the

                                                            113

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  comments. And you offered your very courteous

          3  response. Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Okay.

          5                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: I want you to

          7  understand that was a response on behalf of not

          8  simply myself but also on behalf of this Committee.

          9                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: It has

         10  never been my attention to insult anybody on this

         11  Committee.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: All right, thank

         13  you very much.

         14                 DEPUTY MAYOR ROBLES-ROMAN: Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: We'll now hear

         16  from the Campaign Finance Board.

         17                 I hope the Deputy Mayor will have the

         18  time to stay with us and hear their response to some

         19  of the concerns that you raised. I know she said she

         20  would earlier.

         21                 We have the Chairman of the Campaign

         22  Finance Board, Frederick A.O. Schwarz, Jr.; the

         23  Executive Director of the Campaign Finance Board,

         24  Nicole Gordon, and others who will identify

         25  themselves as they are sworn in.
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          2                 MR. TOLLIN: Good afternoon. Could you

          3  each raise your right hand.

          4                 Do you solemnly swear or affirm the

          5  testimony you're about to give is the truth, the

          6  whole truth, and nothing but the truth?

          7                 MR. SCHWARZ: I do.

          8                 MS. GORDON: I do.

          9                 MR. TOLLIN: Before speaking could you

         10  each identify yourself for the Council.

         11                 MR. SCHWARZ: I'm Fritz Schwarz, the

         12  Chair of the Campaign Finance Board.

         13                 MS. GORDON: Nicole Gordon, the

         14  Executive Director of the Campaign Finance Board.

         15                 MS. LOPRES: Amy Lopres (phonetic),

         16  Director of Campaign Finance Administration from the

         17  Campaign Finance Board.

         18                 MR. SCHWARZ: Can you all hear me

         19  properly now? You can, okay. Thank you for the

         20  opportunity to appear on these important issues. I

         21  want to address the process questions at the

         22  beginning and then go on to deal with the merits,

         23  which is what you're here to do, I hope.

         24                 MR. TOLLIN: Commissioner, if I can

         25  interrupt for one second? Is this going to be the
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          2  whole testimony, or the more salient points in the

          3  testimony?

          4                 MR. SCHWARZ: What I'm going to try to

          5  do is try to cut through the written testimony and

          6  go to the heart of the matter, pick up on some of

          7  the discussion there's been. I believe, Counsel,

          8  that I will at least cut in half what is in the 14

          9  pages of written testimony.

         10                 MR. TOLLIN: Thank you. The Committee

         11  wants to hear everything that you're saying.

         12                 MR. SCHWARZ: So, as I say, I want to

         13  address these process questions and then get on to

         14  the merits.

         15                 The New York City Campaign Finance

         16  Board has struggled internally with both process and

         17  substantive issues relating to this bill. When in

         18  response to a leak in the press, we put out our own

         19  press release on December 3, I had a good faith

         20  basis for believing that no Board members had a

         21  problem with any of the proposals. It turned out

         22  that I was mistaken.

         23                 I have taken responsibility for both

         24  the timing of the press release and for being

         25  mistaken in my understanding.
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          2                 Nonetheless, my belief was in good

          3  faith, and the Board members have accepted my

          4  apology and recognized that I acted in good faith.

          5                 The Board members had each received

          6  and reviewed the items that are before you today in

          7  the bill, and you should not interpret my comments

          8  as representing the full Board in total consensus on

          9  every item. But the Board is in agreement that the

         10  right forum now is the City Council, and the Board

         11  is in agreement that the right thing now is for the

         12  Council and other interested parties to consider

         13  these proposals on the merits.

         14                 And I'd like to insert something

         15  based on yesterday's Supreme Court decision in

         16  McCain Feingold. I have the privilege of being one

         17  of the lawyers for Senator McCain and the other

         18  sponsors of the litigation, and I participated

         19  heavily in that litigation.

         20                 Yesterday the Supreme Court in a five

         21  to four decision upheld the law, and what's

         22  important for this discussion and the discussion

         23  that preceded it is the Supreme Court said that in

         24  evaluating campaign finance laws, legislative

         25  expertise is essential, that people who themselves
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          2  have been involved in political races, bring

          3  information and understanding to the process, that

          4  nobody outside of the process has.

          5                 So, I would urge that your Counsel

          6  and others who wish, it's 300 pages so you might

          7  want to be careful what you agree to, but I would

          8  urge that you look at the McCain Feingold Opinion

          9  and find where the Supreme Court repeatedly said "it

         10  is for the legislature to determine what the

         11  realities are in campaign finance matters."

         12                 It is wonderful to be here at your

         13  first hearing, and I also, as a citizen, emphasize

         14  the importance of what you have said, that this is

         15  just a start, and I understand you will be having

         16  extensive hearings that will hear from interested

         17  parties, good government groups, disinterested

         18  parties, so this is the beginning of a process.

         19                 I'd like to say just one little bit

         20  about the purposes of the law, so we have those all

         21  in mind, and those are, among other things, and this

         22  has proved from the beginning of this law, among

         23  other things, to maintain an even playing field

         24  among candidates as much as is reasonable; to give

         25  serious candidates who do not have access to sources
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          2  of wealth and opportunity to compete in a meaningful

          3  way; to allow candidates to compete successfully

          4  without reliance on special interest money; to give

          5  the public meaningful and timely disclosure of

          6  campaign finances and to inform the public about

          7  issues relating to New York City campaigns, and at

          8  all times, of course, guarding the public fisc must

          9  be in front of our concerns as we study, and as you

         10  study as experts, the potential impact of reform

         11  generally.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Excuse me, Mr.

         13  Chairman. I just want to find out, is the Deputy

         14  Mayor still here? Because she did indicate that she

         15  would stay, and this is very important because some

         16  of the concerns that she raised, she said she would

         17  stay and hear.

         18                 Is there anybody from the

         19  Administration here? Would you find out if the

         20  Deputy Mayor is on her way back?

         21                 MR. SCHWARZ: As I think several of

         22  you pointed out in dialogue, there are many

         23  proposals in the bill that have thus far not

         24  received much attention, and they all, in my view,

         25  serve good government purposes, and nearly all have
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          2  been objectives of the Board for years.

          3                 Let me describe just a few of those

          4  things that haven't received much attention, before

          5  turning to the items that have received a lot of

          6  attention.

          7                 Number one: The Board proposal is to

          8  impose disclosure and contribution limits on

          9  non-participating candidates. Now that bites both on

         10  contributions where the State contributions, as

         11  everybody has known for years and years and years

         12  are very, very, very high as compared to New York.

         13  There's an appendix that we put in that shows the

         14  differences.

         15                 But let me concentrate on disclosure

         16  for a minute. Yes, candidates who run under the

         17  State disclosure system make disclosure to another

         18  body. But there are enormous differences between the

         19  disclosure system under the New York City law and

         20  the disclosure system under the state.

         21                 The New York City provisions, (a) get

         22  more detail; (b) they're more timely; and (c) they

         23  are available in a computerized form, so that the

         24  public, and this is the important thing about

         25  disclosure, it's the public wants to have the
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          2  ability and the representatives of the press who

          3  represent the public, need the ability to know

          4  what's actually going on between candidates who are

          5  competing.

          6                 The consequence of the gap between

          7  state law and City law, is that the public is unable

          8  to subject all candidates for City office to the

          9  same degree of public scrutiny, and the proposal in

         10  the bill would serve the public interest by

         11  eliminating that discrepancy.

         12                 I'll just briefly touch on the

         13  proposal that there be additional restrictions on

         14  the use of government resources during an election

         15  year. One thing not in my written testimony, but I

         16  should add for the record is the restrictions that

         17  are proposed are parallel to ones that are in effect

         18  in the Congress.

         19                 Then let me briefly pause on

         20  something that the Deputy Mayor said wasn't in the

         21  bill but is in the bill. We have a concern about

         22  situations where someone runs for office and gets

         23  the maximum of funds, and it turned out that they

         24  didn't have much of an opponent. Let's say they win

         25  by 75 or 80 percent of the vote. What this bill
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          2  tries to do, and I don't need to get into the

          3  technical details, but what this bill tries to do is

          4  to address that issue by changing the law to get rid

          5  of some restrictions and didn't seem to work to

          6  limit the expenditure of public funds.

          7                 Then let me briefly touch on the

          8  restrictions on the uses of surplus funds from prior

          9  elections.

         10                 This one is something that has been

         11  proposed first by good government groups, back at

         12  the time of the City scandals that took place in the

         13  mid-eighties, there were two commissions formed, one

         14  was the joint State/City commission known as the

         15  Sovereign Commission, from Mike Sovereign, the

         16  President of Columbia; and the follow on commission

         17  was chaired by John Feerick, then the president of

         18  -- the Dean of Fordham Law School. Both those

         19  bodies made this proposal, and the Board has made

         20  this proposal for ten, at least ten years,

         21  repeatedly. So there's a long history of support.

         22                 I would just note, since you started

         23  the process, as you consider this provision you're

         24  going to want to analyze, it seems to me, whether

         25  the bill leaves open opportunities to undermine the
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          2  purposes of the provision now drafted. But that's of

          3  course the kind of thing that you always do when the

          4  legislative process proceeds.

          5                 Vendors' contributions, we now say

          6  venders' contributions can't be matched. That's a

          7  good government reform.

          8                 The debate law, I just refer to my

          9  testimony. The recommendations on administration of

         10  the program, I just refer to my testimony.

         11                 Now turning to the provisions of the

         12  bill that have already received substantial

         13  attention, although, incidentally, very little of it

         14  on the merits, and this hearing, I'm now to page

         15  ten, and I hope I'm doing well, that is to say that

         16  I could cut through this in half the time. I've just

         17  wasted some of my time by doing that, so I

         18  apologize.

         19                 But there are some things in the bill

         20  that have received substantial attention, but

         21  remarkably little of it has been on the merits. I

         22  think there's been more sustained discussion on the

         23  merits in this hearing today than there's been in

         24  all of the public comment about these provisions

         25  that have occurred over the last period of time.
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          2                 Now, let me start by talking about

          3  the three-tiered enhanced matches, which ends up in

          4  the third tier with an eight to one match in

          5  situations where the opponent has spent up to, more

          6  than three times the limit in the race.

          7                 Now, I want to emphasize, in

          8  fairness, that under Supreme Court decisions,

          9  candidates have a constitutional right to spend

         10  unlimited amounts of their own money on their own

         11  campaigns. And I wouldn't criticize anybody for

         12  exercising a constitutional right. But that being

         13  said, it's important also to say, that it is lawful

         14  for the City to enact and proper for this body to

         15  consider whether there are reasonable measures to

         16  address problems that may be created by an

         17  overwhelming imbalance of money in campaigns.

         18                 Now, the provision that's drawn the

         19  most attention, the eight to one match, by the way

         20  this is only a match on the first $250, so we still

         21  have that good reform, that there's no match for

         22  contributions over $250, a reform this body enacted

         23  a few years ago. But a preliminary point to make is

         24  that increasing the match, when someone is facing a

         25  high-spending opponent, is by no means new. Under
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          2  current law, the match goes from four to one to five

          3  to one, when the candidate outside of the program,

          4  raises or spends more than 50 percent of the

          5  spending limit imposed on participants in the

          6  program.

          7                 In February 2003, Intro. No. 382,

          8  which I guess is the predecessor to this one which

          9  is called 382-A, reflecting the Board's earlier

         10  recommendations, was introduced to make the match

         11  six to one, when a well-financed opponent raises or

         12  spends 150 percent of the spending limit.

         13                 So, what is new in the bill before

         14  you now, is an increase from six to one to eight to

         15  one.

         16                 Now, that eight to one is actually a

         17  doubling of the regular match, but it happens only

         18  in cases in which a nonparticipant raises or spends

         19  three times, three times the spending limit.

         20                 Interestingly, in the original

         21  version of the Campaign Finance Act, passed in 1988,

         22  there was also a doubling of the regular match when

         23  a candidate in the program is faced by a

         24  high-spending opponent outside the program, and I go

         25  on in my testimony to give the numbers that
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          2  illustrate that, but I think it clutters the record

          3  and it might tie up my tongue to put the numbers in

          4  there, but they're in my written preparation, and

          5  the important point to stress again, was that in the

          6  original 1988 bill, there was a doubling of the

          7  match, when a candidate in the program is faced by a

          8  high-spending opponent.

          9                 Now, another thing that's in this

         10  bill that's gotten zero attention, is that in

         11  addition to having three tiers that are served to be

         12  or intended to serve as a partial, I stress the word

         13  partial, leveling of the playing field, the bill

         14  proposes to reduce somewhat the relief from the

         15  spending limit, given to a program participant when

         16  faced by a well-financed opponent.

         17                 Thus, under current law, when a

         18  well-financed opponent raises or spends 50 percent

         19  of the spending limit, a program participant is

         20  wholly relieved of the spending limit.

         21                 In contrast under this bill, the

         22  program participant is not wholly relieved until the

         23  high-spending opponent has raised or spent three

         24  times the spending limit.

         25                 Now, the appendix has a chart that
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          2  shows how all the different numbers work, but that's

          3  an important point, that this actually reduces the

          4  relief.

          5                 Now, I want to pick up on the option

          6  to be a limited participant, which was discussed by

          7  a number of you with the prior witness.

          8                 Actually, this was testified about by

          9  Ms. Gordon in a hearing before you, Mr. Chairman,

         10  back last June, so it's been on the table in a

         11  hearing since last June.

         12                 And what this new proposal does is to

         13  say that at the option of candidates who are

         14  entirely self-funded, and I stress again, at the

         15  option of such people, they would be able to join

         16  the program while continuing to be entirely

         17  self-funded.

         18                 To do so, however, they would have to

         19  agree among other things to limit their expenditures

         20  to the same level as candidates in the program.

         21                 Incidentally, in return for doing

         22  that, they would not trigger any bonus for their

         23  opponents that otherwise would be applicable under

         24  the law.

         25                 You know, the Deputy Mayor says there
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          2  are some things in here that were in our original

          3  proposals -- no, that were in our original proposals

          4  that are not in this bill. And we want to make clear

          5  on the record that we continue to urge the City

          6  Council to include a few other things, and I would

          7  say that it's true that the Board and many civic

          8  groups, have urge the Council extend the ban on

          9  corporate contributions to all organizations

         10  including unions.

         11                 The Board and civic groups have also

         12  urged, both lower contribution and lower spending

         13  limits, and although the proposed legislation does

         14  contain a creative mechanism for containing

         15  contribution and spending limits in the long term,

         16  the limits, we believe, should be lowered now. And

         17  that's something that's been before you before, and

         18  we also urge you to consider whether it would be

         19  appropriate to adopt a somewhat lower public funds

         20  maximum for the City Council which I lay out in my

         21  testimony here.

         22                 Now, in conclusion, if I can take a

         23  drink of water before I give conclusion? In

         24  conclusion, I have some closing observations.

         25                 First, my testimony so far has
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          2  addressed the public policy implications of key

          3  provisions in Intro. 382-A, and has provided a few

          4  ideas for possible additions.

          5                 Assuming, as I do, that all the

          6  proposals make policy sense, there is also, of

          7  course, the question whether any package of changes

          8  that is adopted -- as to when any package of changes

          9  that is adopted should go into effect.

         10                 Some respected people have already

         11  weighed in on this issue. And this question is, of

         12  course, one of the ones that will be debated in the

         13  legislative process that you were just commencing.

         14                 I would like to offer some purely

         15  personal thoughts on the questions that you may

         16  ultimately want to consider as to effective date.

         17                 Well, of course, every change in the

         18  Campaign Finance Act, has consequences for

         19  elections. And some changes over the Campaign

         20  Finance program's 15-year history, have been

         21  dramatic, such as the establishment of the program,

         22  and more recently the four to one match, and the ban

         23  on corporate contributions. And while, of course,

         24  not to enact a change is also a decision that

         25  affects upcoming elections, questions that should be
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          2  fairly and carefully analyzed, as you go through

          3  your legislative process, include, it seems to me,

          4  as my personal view:

          5                 Is there a powerful reason to enact a

          6  change promptly?

          7                 Stated otherwise, is there a

          8  shortcoming in the program that if unaddressed will

          9  undermine its purposes in the shortrun and have

         10  longterm consequences for the success of the

         11  program? Conversely, is the item one which can await

         12  a future election without significant risk to the

         13  viability of the program?

         14                 Third question: To what extent has

         15  there been detrimental reliance on current

         16  provisions?

         17                 Next question: Are the parties who

         18  have authority to change the law making changes that

         19  are even-handed, and does the package of changes

         20  reflect a willingness to add constraints as well as

         21  benefits?

         22                 And finally, to what extent is it

         23  appropriate to enact provisions that might have an

         24  impact on races that involve current officials.

         25                 In any event, the Campaign Finance
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          2  Board is prepared to deal with any changes proposed

          3  in the bill, whether they go into effect immediately

          4  or at some later time.

          5                 Second, I've always been a person who

          6  calls things as I see them. Now as Chair of the

          7  independent Campaign Finance Board, I have an

          8  obligation to focus on the merits, and consider what

          9  proposals serve good government interests.

         10                 That is, and I believe must be, my

         11  touchstone. Any change in Campaign Finance Rules

         12  inevitably and by definition will affect individual

         13  candidates.

         14                 How a proposal may affect those

         15  candidates, however, is not, and I believe should

         16  not be, any factor whatsoever in my evaluation of

         17  the merits of a particular proposed reform.

         18                 I respect the opinions of all, and

         19  I'm interested in anyone's views on the merits.

         20                 As an independent public official,

         21  however, I believe it would be wrong for me to be

         22  deterred from voicing what I believe to be good

         23  government positions, because of opposition by

         24  people that may be affected.

         25                 To finish, I believe the proposals in
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          2  the bill serve good government interests, now the

          3  matter is lodged in the legislative process,

          4  therefore, the question of what changes serve good

          5  government interests, and when they should come into

          6  effect, is up to the elected officials in both

          7  branches of government, as their judgment is

          8  informed by the Council of Interested and

          9  Disinterested individuals and groups.

         10                 Thank you very much.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

         12  much for your testimony.

         13                 I want to ask a few quick questions

         14  related to some of the process concerns that were

         15  raised earlier that were presented by the Deputy

         16  Mayor.

         17                 To what extent were you in discussion

         18  with the Administration about your ideas?

         19                 MR. SCHWARZ: I had frequent

         20  discussions with --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Could you talk a

         22  little louder?

         23                 MR. SCHWARZ: Yes, I'm sorry. I had

         24  frequent discussions with the Corporation Counsel,

         25  Mr. Cardozo. I told him -- and he got copies of the
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          2  legislation. I told him what was happening in

          3  whatever discussions we were having with Council

          4  staff. He told me very clearly that on the matter

          5  that is now controversial, the Mayor was very angry

          6  but we had with Mr. Cardozo, as always, a

          7  fair-minded lawyer-like discussion, and so I think

          8  the Deputy Mayor, and what she said on that subject

          9  was unfortunately misinformed.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: The part that

         11  made the Mayor angry, would you be explicit on that?

         12  Is it the eight to one, the disclosure?

         13                 MR. SCHWARZ: There were three things

         14  that Mr. Cardozo said the Mayor was angry about. It

         15  was the move from the six to one to the eight to

         16  one. It was the limited participant option. And Mr.

         17  Cardozo also mentioned concern about applying the

         18  City's disclosures rules.

         19                 But I want to make clear our

         20  conversations with Mr. Cardozo were lawyer-like, and

         21  professional.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: To what extent

         23  did you have conversations with the Council?

         24                 MR. SCHWARZ: I had conversations with

         25  the Council. Actually we gave the written proposals
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          2  to the Council and the Corporation Counsel's office

          3  at the same time. We then continued to have

          4  discussions, some of which I was at and all of which

          5  Ms. Gordon and our Counsel were at, Ms. Dodell, over

          6  a period of time, then just in following up on the

          7  connection between those and Mr. Cardozo, I would

          8  from time to time call Mr. Cardozo and tell him what

          9  was happening in those discussions.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: So, just to

         11  conclude, then the Administration was involved in

         12  terms of giving input, giving criticism, giving

         13  suggestions, et cetera, as they might normally be

         14  when they do a piece of legislation?

         15                 MR. SCHWARZ: The answer is yes. And

         16  I'd actually like to single out an instance where I

         17  think the Corporation Counsel's involvement

         18  contributed to what I believe is one of the

         19  significant improvements in the bill. This is on the

         20  proposed restrictions on the use of government

         21  funds, as one comes up, for mass mailings as one

         22  comes up toward an election, and this had been an

         23  idea which has been on the table for a long, long

         24  time, and in one of the, as I said cordial and

         25  professional meetings, we had the Corporation
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          2  Counsel's Office, they went back and they said,

          3  well, you've got to look at the underlying law, and

          4  that underlying law needs to be cleared up some, and

          5  they provided good ideas, and they also provided

          6  support for that change. So that's an example of

          7  where we had a fruitful cooperative discussion.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Some of the

          9  other members have some questions they want to

         10  pursue. First in that regard is Council Member Peter

         11  Vallone. Who is not here.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: He stepped

         13  out.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Okay, so then

         15  we'll go to Council Member Comrie, followed by

         16  Council Member Reed.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Good

         18  afternoon, Mr. Chairman.

         19                 MR. SCHWARZ: Mr. Comrie.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: And members of

         21  the Board staff.

         22                 You were here when I was talking to

         23  the Deputy Mayor and I asked whether or not they had

         24  asked you for any documentation, or any history on

         25  the process and how this came about, do you have
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          2  that information, if you could supply it to them?

          3                 MR. SCHWARZ: Well, the drafts of the

          4  bill we sent over periodically to the Corporation

          5  Counsel and kept them informed. They haven't asked

          6  for other materials and I'm not sure what there

          7  would be, frankly, but they haven't -- but, you

          8  know, I am open completely to discussing these

          9  matters, if they want to talk to me further about

         10  it, I'm perfectly open to discuss it with them.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: She indicated

         12  or alleged some very integrity questions and process

         13  questions and who was in the room, who wasn't in the

         14  room and all these kinds of issues around how this

         15  bill got to this stage and how these specific items

         16  were brought to this point. You know, I think those

         17  questions went to some more than just the process,

         18  but they went to also the character and the nature

         19  of the Board and its members, and I would hope that

         20  at some point that is addressed, and I think -- I

         21  mean, that's clearly, I don't want to say a personal

         22  shot, if not a direct indictment or alleged

         23  indictment of how this entire process came to a

         24  certain point.

         25                 MR. SCHWARZ: That's why I said what I
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          2  did at the beginning of my testimony, and I had --

          3  my Board all recognized I had a good faith basis for

          4  my understanding and they have agreed that I have a

          5  good faith basis, and we have collegially talked

          6  together, and I think it's important to stress again

          7  that the Board is in agreement that the right forum

          8  now is the City Council, and that the right thing

          9  now is for the Council and other interested parties

         10  to consider these proposals on their merits.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Were there any

         12  proposals that members of the Board felt should be

         13  included that are not included in this particular

         14  package?

         15                 MR. SCHWARZ: I don't believe so.

         16                 Oh, yes, yes, yes. Nicole reminded

         17  me, there are things that the Board wants to have in

         18  the law that are not in the bill and those were

         19  things I specified when I testified, Councilman

         20  Comrie. So, yes, there are things where in this

         21  instance it happens, and it's refreshing that it

         22  does, because it's a reflection that it does. There

         23  are things that the Administration thinks should be

         24  in the bill, and we agree should be in the bill.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: You also say
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          2  that you had a good faith basis of believing that no

          3  Board members had a problem with any of the

          4  proposals.

          5                 MR. SCHWARZ: Right.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: And then you

          7  said it turned out there was a misunderstanding.

          8                 MR. SCHWARZ: Right.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: And then you

         10  say that you shouldn't interpret my comments as

         11  representing the full Board in total consensus on

         12  every item. Can you explain that?

         13                 MR. SCHWARZ: Yes. I thought, and Ms.

         14  Gordon thought, that based on the communications

         15  that had occurred among, with all the Board, nobody

         16  had any problems.

         17                 After, and that was my good faith

         18  belief, I'm sure it was hers also. Then it turned

         19  out that I was mistaken. I do, by the way, accept

         20  responsibility for being mistaken. I don't like to

         21  run away from things. I was mistaken. And I told my

         22  -- we had discussions with my colleagues, and out

         23  of that comes their recognition that I was in good

         24  faith and our agreement that the right thing is for

         25  this matter to proceed in the Council so that the
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          2  Council and other interested parties can consider

          3  these proposals on the merits.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Do you have an

          5  idea on what items, or can you inform this body what

          6  items that the Board was not in full consensus on?

          7                 MR. SCHWARZ: The Board doesn't

          8  operate by vote, and, see, I'm new to this process,

          9  and the Board doesn't operate by vote on matters of

         10  legislation and it never has. The Board doesn't

         11  operate by vote on matters of this source, and in

         12  its 14- or 15-year history it never has, and we

         13  haven't had any vote. That has not been something

         14  that ever happens, and the Board, however, in

         15  conversations is in agreement, everybody, that the

         16  right thing to happen now, leaving the history out,

         17  and if the Mayor wants to, I've reached out to talk

         18  to the Mayor, if he wants to talk to me, and if the

         19  Mayor wants to present his disappointment, although

         20  I am an independent official, and my responsibility

         21  is to do what I think is right, if the Mayor wants

         22  to present his disappointment, I'd like to hear him

         23  do that.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay. But you

         25  didn't answer my question before. You said you're
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          2  not in total consensus on every item. Can you

          3  illuminate what items there was not consensus on?

          4  I'm not talking about a vote, but --

          5                 MR. SCHWARZ: Well, that's a hard

          6  question to answer, because my colleagues believe

          7  that it would be harmful to the process to have a

          8  discussion of who took what position when. But I

          9  want to emphasize again, because I think this does

         10  bring us to the point that one ought to be at, which

         11  is I've spoken to every Board member, and they all

         12  agree that time to move on from the past, to get to

         13  the merits and that the right place for the merits

         14  to be discussed is this body, and that the right

         15  things to happen now is that the Council and other

         16  interested parties consider the proposals on their

         17  merits.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: And I'll go on

         19  to the proposal, just a technical question. You gave

         20  us some pages here and it seems that it's not

         21  complete. Chapter 10, page 156, it should be --

         22  there's a piece missing. Chapter 10, page 156,

         23  Section 9, there should be a page 157, so that we

         24  can completely read that.

         25                 MS. GORDON: I'm happy to provide that
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          2  for you. The reason it's not attached is that the

          3  attachment is only intended to be helpful to you on

          4  the subject of the debate provisions, it's a

          5  two-page excerpt from a Board's post-election report

          6  relating to the debate provisions. I see that at the

          7  bottom of the page it also relates to another

          8  proposal that's before you on government, on use of

          9  government resources, and we can supply you with the

         10  carry-over discussion on that.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Right. I mean,

         12  that's part of this bill, so we would need to find

         13  out.

         14                 MS. GORDON: Sure.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: So, your --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Council Member,

         17  I'm going to ask you to wrap up because there are a

         18  long list of additional questions, and I'm going to

         19  give you a second round.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Oh, you'll

         21  give me a second round?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Yes.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Because I was

         24  just talking about the first part, I didn't even get

         25  a chance to get into the prudence or the merits of
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          2  any of the issues. But that's why I wanted to bring

          3  up that, so I could read that and understand what

          4  your public opinion was on that. But I'd like to get

          5  that now, if possible, but before the second round.

          6  Thank you.

          7                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you.

          9                 Council Member Reed, followed by

         10  Council Member Vallone, Addabbo and Quinn.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Thank you. Good

         12  afternoon.

         13                 I was privileged to have served in

         14  the previous Council term under Peter Vallone, Sr.,

         15  and also under the late Chair Mary Pinkett of this

         16  Committee, and it was certainly an education about

         17  the process of government, and I appreciated the

         18  time that she spent here but also privately in

         19  helping me understand how we go through a process

         20  here, and she is certainly greatly missed, but I

         21  will never forget, in one of the first hearings

         22  about Campaign Finance, and obviously, well, perhaps

         23  not obviously, but I had been a participant

         24  subsequently in one of the campaigns and I was

         25  struck by the comments that both of them made that
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          2  this was the only local body that they knew of

          3  nationally, and perhaps one of the few bodies that

          4  actually gave people money to run against us.

          5                 So, inherently you have to sometimes

          6  look at that and say that that is perhaps the height

          7  of an exercise of a real democracy, when those in

          8  power are going to empower the people who want to

          9  put them out of office. And I think that that is

         10  important in any of this dialogue, that we

         11  understand it. That is in fact what we're trying to

         12  do, and perhaps, if nothing else, it's very unique

         13  about our system.

         14                 I have some concerns about several of

         15  the proposals that you have put forward. One of my

         16  general observations is that, and I think perhaps

         17  some of your recommendations tried to address it,

         18  but and I think it was one of my criticisms of the

         19  referendum that the Mayor had put forward, but that

         20  we are, as the City, elected officials, finding

         21  ourselves often times in a situation where no other

         22  elected officials in the State of New York are

         23  restrained.

         24                 So, the State Legislative elected

         25  officials, or the federally elected officials, don't
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          2  have to operate under the same rules, they don't

          3  have term limits. We have term limits. They don't

          4  have funding restrictions. We don't necessarily have

          5  them, but the lion's share of people participate in

          6  this. And, so, in this evaluation, it's foolish as

          7  an elected official, or someone in public life to

          8  not make those evaluations about who the potential

          9  opponents are going to be, who the allies are,

         10  what's the future, what are you doing. Just to

         11  pretend is foolish.

         12                 One of the things that I would

         13  criticize here, particularly in your testimony about

         14  trying to understand about what, or make an

         15  evaluation from the Board is, you know, what is a

         16  legitimate or what is a really competitive race; and

         17  you referred to elections where one candidate wins

         18  with 70 or 80 percent of the vote. That's like the

         19  Monday morning quarterbacking. We know that after

         20  the results. We don't necessarily know that at the

         21  time people are putting together a campaign.

         22                 I remember this last referendum, and,

         23  again, we have yet to publicly fund referendum, but

         24  as late as three or four days before the election,

         25  the media was telling us that the polls had that
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          2  thing at 50/50. It turned out to be 70/30. So, would

          3  we all of a sudden say, well, the vote was 70/30 so

          4  that was a landslide, so now they're not entitled to

          5  public funds? You can't really also constrict, or

          6  restrict candidates because you're the Board's

          7  perception of what may or may not be a landslide.

          8  And while that's difficult to look at in hindsight

          9  and say, well, we spent all that money and Phil Reed

         10  didn't need it, or Peter Vallone should have taken

         11  it, or, you know, the Mayor, whatever, that's

         12  handicapping. And I'm not sure that the Board, the

         13  Campaign Finance Board is into handicapping. If they

         14  are, let me know.

         15                 So, I think we have to be very

         16  careful about that.

         17                 This issue of the six, seven or eight

         18  to one is also something that, if I look at it as a

         19  candidate, I'm saying to myself, okay, that's great.

         20  You're going to allow me to raise, you're going to

         21  allow me, you're going to give me more money. But

         22  what about the idea of also allowing me to raise

         23  more money from the same people who I've gone to for

         24  money in the past? Because, frankly, at some point

         25  there is a finite group of people who are going to
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          2  support you. So, if you continue to keep the cap on

          3  an individual contribution, and I don't even

          4  remember exactly what that is, for Mayor or for

          5  Borough President, or for City Council, it becomes

          6  harder and harder for that candidate, even though

          7  you may be giving matching funds for us to raise

          8  money, because your family is maxed out, your

          9  friends have maxed out, people who think you're a

         10  great guy in the community are maxed out, you have

         11  no place to go. And many of those people perhaps

         12  would like to step up, because they're not happy

         13  with the unlimited funding that's going on.

         14                 So, I think that those are issues

         15  that I would, you know, ask that we look at.

         16                 I also, you know, would just take the

         17  opportunity to say, certainly from my experience,

         18  but as I read these rules, some of them, and

         19  regulations, I find to be particularly punitive, and

         20  while I understand that you, or the Board, again,

         21  has a fiduciary responsibility to the City --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Please come to a

         23  question, Council member.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: I will. Thank

         25  you, Mr. Chair.
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          2                 It seems to me that when we start

          3  saying you can't spend money on that, particularly

          4  after the fact, you open us up, once again, to going

          5  back to people who are going to give us money. The

          6  purpose of this is to try to have a public awareness

          7  of who is giving people money. So, to tell people

          8  that they can't spend $500 on a reception afterwards

          9  to have, to be sworn in, or some of the things we

         10  have criticized, trust me, people are going to go

         11  and get the money from some place, and that's when

         12  people are lined up, because you're an elected

         13  official, to now help you with those things that the

         14  public won't fund. And that probably is more

         15  corrosive than the other side of it.

         16                 So, those are my observations of it.

         17  I need to read this, because, you know, I don't mean

         18  to take a shot at my own body, but there is

         19  criticism on one said, some of us are criticizing

         20  the fact that we haven't seen very much of this.

         21                 So, I think we will certainly have

         22  several hearings and try to see what's best for the

         23  City of New York.

         24                 Thank you.

         25                 MR. SCHWARZ: Well, I certainly hope
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          2  you do have several hearings, because this is

          3  important, these are important issues.

          4                 Let me just comment on a few of the

          5  things that you mentioned on the punitive side.

          6  That's an important question, that we have to vote,

          7  try to be fair in how we address those questions,

          8  and it's certainly something that I want to

          9  concentrate hard on to make sure we're fair.

         10                 And there's no on the other hand to

         11  being fair, but another observation is that if you

         12  think about the Federal Elections Commission, it has

         13  been a failure in substantial measure, because the

         14  first place, in the political way in which people

         15  behave is not wonderful, but the Federal Election

         16  Commission has not vigorously enough attended the

         17  public fisc, so you're right there's a balance, and

         18  we have to exercise our fiduciary responsibility,

         19  and if we don't the reputation of the program is

         20  going to be hurt.

         21                 On the other hand, we want to be user

         22  friendly. You know, we're always thinking about and

         23  hoping to improve ways in which up front in the

         24  program there is more training and more clarity, and

         25  all I can tell you, Councilman, is those issues are

                                                            148

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  very important to me and I think they're ones that I

          3  hope we can be both fair, helpful to candidates and,

          4  yet, exercise our fiduciary responsibility.

          5                 On the idea of letting people go back

          6  to prior supporters, obviously that is an idea that

          7  your body has to focus on. I think the danger to it

          8  is one of the lessons of the landmarked New York

          9  City Campaign Finance Law is that it prevents overly

         10  large gifts, because the history of the problem with

         11  campaign finance is that there are too many overly

         12  largely gifts, and overly large gifts, again, the

         13  McCain Feingold Opinion is worth reading, because

         14  the Supreme Court says, you know, it's not

         15  corruption, but it's the appearance that's created,

         16  and, so, I think one of the great accomplishments of

         17  Councilman Vallone's father was, in great courage,

         18  to pass a bill that led to money for people running

         19  against the elected officials who pass the bill. But

         20  one of the landmark accomplishments of Speaker

         21  Vallone and his colleagues was to recognize that too

         22  much money from a given individual is something

         23  which is bad for public trust in the elections.

         24                 Again, if you go look at the McCain

         25  Feingold Opinion, they focus on how the public
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          2  believes that too much money in elections is

          3  distorting the public process, so that's a factor as

          4  you look at that other method of addressing high

          5  spending candidates that I think you would want to

          6  weigh in your discussions.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Could you

          8  address, though, for me briefly, the first point

          9  that I raised about the Board determining what is

         10  competitive and what isn't?

         11                 MR. SCHWARZ: Well, I 100 percent

         12  agree with you that the Board ought not, to use your

         13  word, handicap. It would be (a) not within our

         14  ability, and (b) inappropriate for us to make

         15  subjective judgments on whether a race is or is not

         16  competitive. Again, we're building on -- so, we

         17  don't pay for that and we don't provide here any

         18  such thing.

         19                 This bill is on a history. This body,

         20  I guess a year ago, said, well, we have something of

         21  an issue here and we ought to try and address it,

         22  and so you passed a law that did try and address it,

         23  and I think the fair conclusion, and I think I lay

         24  it out in my testimony in greater length, is that

         25  the current law didn't work. And, so, what we've
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          2  done here is to try and get rid of the portions of

          3  the current law that lead to pull public funding

          4  that based on history seem not to work well, and

          5  say, well, okay let's take an objective test, which

          6  is related to how much money your opponent has, and

          7  say, I think in the case of the Council, the

          8  proposed number is, if your opponent has raised or

          9  spent 35,000, then your entitled to get full public

         10  funding. Whether the number 35 is the right number,

         11  I could imagine it being a little higher, we

         12  certainly don't want a subjective test. This is

         13  building on the work you did a year ago in trying to

         14  improve it.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you,

         16  Council Member Reed.

         17                 Before I get to Councilman Vallone, I

         18  want to go back to my earlier discussion about the

         19  conversations and meetings with the Administration,

         20  in particular Cardozo.

         21                 Can you give us an idea of when did

         22  these meetings take place? You know, how long ago?

         23                 MR. SCHWARZ: Well, I don't know. We

         24  met in June but that was the only thing that was

         25  relevant that we talked about there.
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          2                 That may have been early July and not

          3  June. But I know it was to talk about the so-called

          4  limited participant.

          5                 We had some relatively minor

          6  conversations over the summer, and then at the

          7  beginning of October, at the same time as the

          8  Council got what the Board was suggesting, in terms

          9  of the proposals, the Corporation Counsel's Office

         10  did also.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: So your

         12  conversations with the Administration on this began

         13  some time in late June, July?

         14                 MR. SCHWARZ: Yes, but I think it's

         15  fair to say that that was a more limited

         16  conversation. The conversation then was about the

         17  so-called limited participant where a high-spending

         18  person can join the program and as long as they

         19  agree to limit their expenditures to the amount that

         20  their opponents are limited to under the program.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Now, the reason

         22  for the limited conversation is what? Why wasn't

         23  there --

         24                 MR. SCHWARZ: Mr. Chairman, we had a

         25  full-blown conversation after the actual
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          2  legislation, or it wasn't legislation, but the

          3  concepts, the proposals were given to both the

          4  Council and the Corporation Counsel's Office.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Just so we can

          6  get the record straight, the eight to one

          7  conversations began when?

          8                 MR. SCHWARZ: Those began after the

          9  legislation, the proposals, is the right way to put

         10  it, were provided to the Council and the Corporation

         11  Counsel.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: And that was

         13  again in around --

         14                 MR. SCHWARZ: That was the beginning

         15  of October.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: October. And the

         17  disclosure proposals?

         18                 MR. SCHWARZ: Well, that would have

         19  been the same time. On the disclosure proposals, we

         20  talked about substance and law. You know, I once was

         21  in that job, too, and I honor the people in the job.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Okay, was there

         23  anything -- this is the last question in this line

         24  -- anything in June or July discussed? Anything

         25  additional discussed in June or July that you want
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          2  to share with us?

          3                 MR. SCHWARZ: No.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Okay, thank you

          5  very much.

          6                 Council Member Vallone.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Thank you,

          8  Mr. Chair.

          9                 Mr. Schwarz, I was confused about one

         10  thing, I was not aware that the Board did not vote.

         11  So, when we get your recommendation and your opinion

         12  on things, what exactly are we getting.

         13                 MR. SCHWARZ: Yes, the Board has never

         14  voted on legislation. This I have by hearsay by my

         15  colleague Nicole, from Father O'Hare and from other

         16  people who were in the process. I wasn't in the

         17  Board until April Fools this year.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Hearsay is an

         19  inherently unreliable out-of-court statement.

         20                 Nicole is here, she's reliable most

         21  of the time.

         22                 MR. SCHWARZ: Yes, it's better, much

         23  better for her to deal with it.

         24                 MS. GORDON: I can't remember any

         25  occasion over the Board's 15-year history when it
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          2  took a vote --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Can you bring

          4  the mic -- Sergeant-At-Arms, help her with the mic.

          5                 MS. GORDON: Is it on? I don't recall

          6  any occasion over the Board's history on which the

          7  Board took a formal vote on legislative proposals.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: So, the

          9  question is, when the Chair comes in and gives us

         10  the opinion of the Board, how do you arrive at that?

         11                 Anyone who wants to answer, that's

         12  fine. I mean, do we need to bring every member down

         13  and get their independent opinion? I'm not sure what

         14  we're actually receiving when we get the

         15  recommendation of the Board.

         16                 MS. GORDON: I don't want to expand on

         17  the Chair's comments. I think those were reflective

         18  of his discussions of his fellow Board members. I

         19  will simply say that the Board has developed

         20  recommendations in an informal way. It does not have

         21  authority to pass legislation. It's not a

         22  legislative body. It's an evolving process, and

         23  there is a sense among the Board members, and

         24  ultimately the items are put out to the Mayor's

         25  Office and the City Council for their consideration.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Well, I'm not

          3  in any way insinuating this happened, but let's

          4  assume either by mistake or by intent, one member or

          5  the Chair comes before the Council and says this is

          6  what we believe, and it's not true, what would be

          7  the mechanism there for the other Board members to

          8  say that?

          9                 MR. SCHWARZ: Well, if someone came

         10  before the Council and said something that was not

         11  true, one mechanism is for you to take appropriate

         12  action.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: I shouldn't

         14  say not true. I mean, represented opinion that's not

         15  of the entire Board.

         16                 MR. SCHWARZ: The Board and I on the

         17  telephone individually went over what I said -- I'm

         18  sorry, Mr. Vallone, I have a hard time using those

         19  words actually, because I think of your father. I

         20  tried in my testimony to address what happened, and

         21  I think the important thing for where we are now is

         22  that based on individual conversations with the

         23  Board people, the Board is in agreement that the

         24  right forum now is the City Council and the Board is

         25  in agreement that the right thing now is for the
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          2  Council and other interested parties consider these

          3  proposals on their merit.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: I completely

          5  understand that, but we rely on you for much of our

          6  knowledge, and when we ask you for an opinion, I

          7  just assume it came from the result of the vote of

          8  the Board. I guess it doesn't.

          9                 MR. SCHWARZ: Yes, it hasn't. And it

         10  hasn't --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Okay, I won't

         12  dwell on that. There are many provisions, I'm not

         13  going to ask about each because I'll ask you

         14  privately, we have a good relationship.

         15                 Just the one, regarding the opinion

         16  of the Board, you did come out with this eight to

         17  one and previously it was six to one. Was there some

         18  intervening event that raised it to eight to one?

         19  Which I happen to favor, but I just wanted to know

         20  what happened with you.

         21                 MR. SCHWARZ: The intervening event

         22  was more thought on my part and in talking with Ms.

         23  Gordon, and considering the evidence that was given

         24  after the 2001 election, that was the principal

         25  intervening event.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: As I said, I

          3  believe the purpose is to level the playing field. I

          4  support raising the limits if someone doesn't

          5  qualify, and I, in fact, qualified for funds, did

          6  not take them, because I did not believe myself

          7  taking money would level the playing field. So, I

          8  think most of us feel that way and that's why we

          9  would support some type of raise.

         10                 I'm going to end now, just one last

         11  piece of advice, if you will. Welcome aboard.

         12                 MR. SCHWARZ: Thank you.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: This is a

         14  very tough job, you're doing it fine. And you

         15  mentioned my father, so let me say, I do have the

         16  support of the actual architect of the law when I

         17  say this. It's the best law in the country, it's

         18  been done by the City Council, and it has been

         19  approved by this City Council and by your Board; in

         20  applying it, please do not get caught up in minutia.

         21  That is not the intent of the law to drive people

         22  away from the law. The intent is obviously to stop

         23  fraud. To stop somebody from buying a car with this

         24  money, from giving it to their family members. Not

         25  to fine an individual whose staff accidentally
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          2  deposited the check and returned it the next day,

          3  and then after 27 letters back and forth gets a fine

          4  for it. That's not the intent. So, please apply it

          5  according to its intent, and continue to keep this

          6  the best law in the country.

          7                 Thank you.

          8                 MR. SCHWARZ: Well, I appreciate those

          9  comments.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: I want to

         11  acknowledge the presence of Councilwoman Sarah

         12  Gonzalez, and now we'll go to Council Member

         13  Addabbo.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Thank you,

         15  Mr. Chair.

         16                 Mr. Schwarz, and to the entire

         17  Campaign Finance Board who are here today, thank you

         18  very much for your time.

         19                 Mr. Schwarz, I have a question, just

         20  looking at your testimony. With regards to leftover

         21  or surplus funds, can you go into a little more

         22  detail on that, on the purpose of that?

         23                 MR. SCHWARZ: Well, the purpose, there

         24  are two purposes, one is that -- let me just turn to

         25  my testimony, on page seven --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: On page

          3  seven, okay.

          4                 MR. SCHWARZ: The first thing I'll say

          5  is that this has been, as I said before, a proposal

          6  by the Board and by good government groups for a

          7  long time. The one purpose is that it's a leveling

          8  of the playing field, and the other is, I'm just too

          9  tall, or too short or too screwed up or something,

         10  I'm sorry about my microphone.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Just turn to

         12  your Councilperson and speak up.

         13                 MR. SCHWARZ: Yes.

         14                 The other purpose is, if you raise

         15  money for another race, someone may have given you

         16  money for that race who wouldn't give it to you for

         17  a second race, for the new race. So there's sort of

         18  a fairness to the contributor point.

         19                 I want to make clear, however, that

         20  there's a remedy for that, for someone who has such

         21  a fund, which is they can return the money to the

         22  contributor, then have the contributor recontribute,

         23  and this has extra bang for the buck, for the person

         24  who does that, because under current law, when you

         25  have these surplus funds, they are not matcheable.

                                                            160

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  Even the first $250 isn't matcheable, but if a

          3  person with such a fund returned the money to a

          4  contributor, and the contributor said I want you to

          5  win the race in the such and such district, Council

          6  district, and so here it is back, you have the

          7  benefit of getting it back. The person is clearly

          8  supporting you, and you get the match. So, in that

          9  way it seems to me a fair point to make is that's a

         10  win/win situation, where it's fair to a contributor

         11  and for the candidate where the contributor wishes

         12  to give them a donation, get's a match and therefore

         13  gets more money.

         14                 MR. ADDABBO: Now, that's with regards

         15  to surplus, leftover, according to section 4, and

         16  that was in your testimony. But again, I couldn't

         17  find in your testimony, or did you say it verbally,

         18  and that's the other new subdivisions, 14, with

         19  regards to transfer of funds. I don't see it in your

         20  testimony, and you didn't at least describe it in

         21  detail with regard to transfer of funds.

         22                 MR. SCHWARZ: Well, maybe Ms. Gordon

         23  could answer that.

         24                 MS. GORDON: Transfer of funds is

         25  really a technical term. Surplus funds is the way we
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          2  all -- war chest actually is the way people talk

          3  about it, it's all the same subject.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Okay. But

          5  it's two different subdivisions in the new proposal.

          6  Surplus is Section 4, subdivision 14 of Section 3 is

          7  transfer funds. It's two different, and I was

          8  wondering why it was omitted in your written

          9  testimony.

         10                 MR. SCHWARZ: The written testimony is

         11  that I didn't think about it, and I think -- my

         12  written testimony does not purport to cover every

         13  provision in the bill.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Okay.

         15                 MR. SCHWARZ: And I should make that

         16  clear.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Okay, no

         18  reason for its omission, though? For Subdivision 14?

         19                 MR. SCHWARZ: It never crossed my

         20  mind.

         21                 MS. GORDON: I'm just checking what

         22  Subdivision 14 says so that we can --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: And if we can

         24  go into a little bit of detail about the transfer of

         25  funds from I guess another account?
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          2                 MR. SCHWARZ: Would you want Ms.

          3  Gordon to get back to you on that?

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: If she

          5  doesn't have the answer now. It's Subdivision 14?

          6                 MS. GORDON: Subdivision 14 in our

          7  copy doesn't seem to --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: On the

          9  proposed bill it's page 16.

         10                 MS. GORDON: Page 16.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: On the

         12  proposed bill. I just said it wasn't in the written

         13  testimony and it wasn't mentioned verbally.

         14                 MS. GORDON: That says the

         15  participating candidate may not transfer or other

         16  use in furtherance of the election any funds from

         17  another committee, and that's --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: That's not

         19  surplus, though, this is different.

         20                 MS. GORDON: That's the legal language

         21  that applies to surplus. And what it is saying is

         22  legal language is you can't take money out of what

         23  colloquially we call a war chest from a committee

         24  that you ran for in another election and move that

         25  into a committee for an election under the --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: So everything

          3  is same section, same subdivision? It didn't seem

          4  that clear, okay.

          5                 MR. SCHWARZ: Councilman, if there's

          6  any doubt about that left after my colleagues go

          7  back and study your question more, we will

          8  communicate with you.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: I appreciate

         10  that. Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: I just wanted

         12  to go back to some of the questions that the Chair

         13  was raising about whatever conversations or meetings

         14  occurred with the Corporation Counsel or the members

         15  of his office prior to today's hearing prior to the

         16  announcement of these proposals, and a number of

         17  meetings over the summer, et cetera, were outlined,

         18  and this might be a question you can answer, it

         19  might be better for the Board staff to answer, so

         20  whatever is more appropriate, the process that was

         21  outlined where you met with the Corporation Counsel

         22  that gave suggestions, et cetera, is that a typical

         23  process, does that mirror other times when the Board

         24  has had ideas that they wanted to move

         25  legislatively, or is somehow what happened here
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          2  different?

          3                 MR. SCHWARZ: That's definitely for

          4  the people who have been here in the past to answer.

          5                 MS. GORDON: I guess one thing to say

          6  is every legislative proposal to some degree

          7  differs, but having the process in terms of those

          8  conversations --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Right.

         10                 MS. GORDON: But we certainly in the

         11  past have had conversations with the Corporation

         12  Counsel's office about proposals.

         13                 I mean, because the Board is not a

         14  legislative body and the Board also does seek to get

         15  support for its proposals from both the Mayor and

         16  the City Council. I mean, one example I would

         17  mention is the Board has often gone to the Mayor's

         18  Office in particular to get support for proposals

         19  the Board has at the State law level, and so -- and

         20  that's done actually, if I remember, in a

         21  regularized process, that I think Corporation

         22  Counsel or the Mayor's Office of Legislative

         23  Affairs, one or the other, has an annual, I believe,

         24  meeting with the various agencies and submits their

         25  recommendations for changes in the law. So, I
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          2  wouldn't say it's -- I don't want to compare how

          3  many conversations have been had in each particular

          4  case, but it's not out of the ordinary. It's also

          5  not required. Legislative proposals are developed

          6  from the Board's experiences during the elections

          7  and afterwards. The Board is mandated, as you know,

          8  to make recommendations for change under the law.

          9  That's one of the Board's responsibilities, is to

         10  review what happened in the last election and make a

         11  change, a recommendation for change to the Mayor and

         12  the City Council, and the Board is responsible

         13  equally to the Mayor and the City Council, so those

         14  conversations do take place.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: What was

         16  outlined sounded like a wholly reasonable way to

         17  move forward, but I just wanted to put in a context,

         18  it didn't sound like it would have in any way been

         19  out of the ordinary, but a useful confirmation.

         20  Thank you very much.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: So this process

         22  is not unusual, right? Is that my understanding?

         23  This is not an aberration of --

         24                 MS. GORDON: It's not an aberration to

         25  have conversations with the Corporation Counsel's
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          2  Office or the Council staff about legislation.

          3                 I mean, Council Member Perkins, I

          4  think you'll remember in the last round of

          5  legislation there were meetings with your staff

          6  about developing legislation.

          7                 The Board has operated in the past by

          8  making its proposals public in various forums at

          9  various junctures, and I can't say off the top of my

         10  head the timing of conversations with Council staff

         11  or Corporation Counsel and so on.

         12                 I think it's also fair to say that

         13  there are courtesies extended by all these offices

         14  to each other to try to keep each other up-to-date,

         15  and sometimes Board proposals have been published

         16  before those discussions have happened and sometimes

         17  afterwards, but there are always ideas kicking

         18  around.

         19                 And I have to say one thing, and I

         20  also emphasize, I mean we are all colleagues, and

         21  sometimes even at the staff level there will be a

         22  conversation from someone I know in Corporation

         23  Counsel or the staff will say, gee, have you guys

         24  ever thought about X? I think it's not unusual.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: So, now, like in
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          2  the past you made a presentation, there was a

          3  difference of opinion about the ideas about a

          4  proposal, and how does that -- does that normally

          5  result in such a high profile concern?

          6                 MR. SCHWARZ: Well, let me start and

          7  then Nicole can do the "normally."

          8                 This issue has been very high

          9  profile, and I can't imagine that's particularly

         10  normal or particularly desirable, and I think that

         11  discussion has slowed the process of getting the

         12  public and interested parties to focus on the

         13  merits, which you, this body is doing today.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Well, I'm

         15  concerned that this process to some extent has been

         16  bruised in terms of the kind of criticisms that were

         17  lodged, and so I'm just trying to see how we've sort

         18  of reconciled some of these differences. Have you

         19  continued to attempt to sit down with the

         20  Administration to find out exactly why they are so

         21  upset? I mean, are we talking about substance or are

         22  we talking about process? Are we talking about

         23  politics? What are we talking about? What is the

         24  cause of all this noise from the Administration?

         25                 MR. SCHWARZ: I don't think it's for
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          2  me to speculate about what their motives are. Then,

          3  you know, there's a rule in the British House of

          4  Comments, which might be fun to be there, by the

          5  way, there's a rule in the British House of

          6  Comments, that if one member makes a comment about

          7  the motives of another member, the Speaker pounds

          8  his gavel and says "out of order." So, I've always

          9  thought that was a good lesson, and it's not useful

         10  to speculate, and at least I have no speculation

         11  about motive.

         12                 And, you know, I'm willing to sit

         13  down with the Mayor, if he wants to, and Michael

         14  Cardozo and I have a very good continuing

         15  relationship. He is properly carrying out his duty

         16  to represent the Mayor.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Well, you know,

         18  some motives were given, not by you but by the

         19  Administration's side, at least it has been

         20  reported, some motives, and so maybe you might want

         21  to respond as to whether or not those are the

         22  motives that have been reported.

         23                 MR. SCHWARZ: Yes, I'd like to do

         24  that. The Speaker of your body, one of his

         25  fore-great grandmothers was a sister, one of the
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          2  sisters of one of my grandmothers, and I mean I know

          3  that's a little hard to straighten out but --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Did you bring a

          5  chart?

          6                 MR. SCHWARZ: Well, it would take a

          7  lot of branches to have a chart. The first thing I

          8  want to say is, flat out that has no bearings. I

          9  represent on my integrity, I state to you under

         10  oath, I want to make crystal clear that has no

         11  bearing on my judgment as to what is in the public

         12  interest.

         13                 And you know, last night I was

         14  thinking about a way of putting this. My

         15  relationship with the Speaker is so distant that if

         16  -- I mean, in the sense of relationships, so

         17  distant, that if he was a woman, I could marry him.

         18  I haven't considered that and I don't know if he

         19  has.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Now we're

         21  getting into gay marriage and that's a whole subject

         22  I don't even know that we can go into today.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you,

         24  Christine. I didn't want to touch that one.

         25                 Okay, well, thank you for clarifying
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          2  stuff for us, and sharing.

          3                 Any other questions? Okay, thank you

          4  very much for your testimony and your service to the

          5  City.

          6                 MR. SCHWARZ: Thank you very much.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: We're going to

          8  now go to our next panel. We're going to have at

          9  this section some good government groups and

         10  advocates. We're going to start with Professor

         11  Richard Briffault, from Colombia University.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Council Member

         13  Perkins, I thought we were doing a second round?

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Ready? We're

         15  going to swear you in now.

         16                 MR. TOLLIN: Good afternoon. Could you

         17  please raise your right hand? Do you solemnly swear

         18  or affirm the testimony you're about to give is the

         19  truth, the whole truth and nothing but the truth?

         20                 MR. BRIFFAULT: I do.

         21                 MR. TOLLIN: Thank you.

         22                 MR. BRIFFAULT: Should I start?

         23                 MR. TOLLIN: Proceed, please.

         24                 MR. BRIFFAULT: Mr. Chairman, and

         25  members of the Committee on Governmental Operations,
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          2  I'm honored by your invitation to testify before

          3  this Committee concerning campaign finance reform.

          4                 By way of introduction, I am Vice

          5  Dean and Joseph P. Chamberlain Professor of

          6  Legislation at Columbia Law School. Between 1998 and

          7  2000, I served as Executive Director of the City Bar

          8  Association's Campaign Finance Reform Commission.

          9  I'm also the author of a case book on State and

         10  Local Government Law.

         11                 In my testimony today I'm going to

         12  focus on the authority of the City of New York to

         13  regulate election campaigns for New York City

         14  offices, specifically the three Citywide offices,

         15  the Offices of Borough Presidents, and members of

         16  the City Council. I will address the City's

         17  authority to limit contributions to and impose

         18  reporting and disclosure requirements on candidates

         19  for City office who do not participate in the City's

         20  voluntary public funding system.

         21                 The question of whether the City may

         22  do this has two parts: First, does the City have

         23  Home Rule authority back in this area?

         24                 Second, even if the City does have

         25  Home Rule authority, would a City law be preempted
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          2  by existing state laws dealing with local campaign

          3  financing.

          4                 The answer to the first question is

          5  very easy. While Article 9 of the New York State

          6  Contribution, the Home Rule amendment and the

          7  Municipal Home Rule law provide the necessary Home

          8  Rule authority. This conclusion is bolstered by

          9  several New York State decisions of upholding local

         10  legislation concerning elections, as well as by

         11  decisions in other states vindicating a local role

         12  in campaign finance regulation.

         13                 The answer to the second question is

         14  closer. It's a closer question whether a local law

         15  imposing contribution restrictions and reporting

         16  disclosure requirements would be considered

         17  preempted by state law. I'm actually skipping ahead

         18  to page two now in the interest of time, to the word

         19  that begins with "preemption." There are provisions

         20  of state law, there is the State Election Law,

         21  particularly it's Article 14, which deals with

         22  campaign finance, and more specifically Section

         23  14-114, which imposes contribution limits and local

         24  elections.

         25                 Under state law, a local law will be
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          2  found preempted if it is, one, in direct conflict

          3  with the state law, or, two, the state has occupied

          4  the field to preclude all local law making.

          5                 But to the question of conflict, a

          6  City law adopting tighter contribution limits with

          7  accompanying reporting and disclosure requirements

          8  would not be in conflict with this current state

          9  law.

         10                 For many years now the Court of

         11  Appeals has held that additional local regulation is

         12  not in conflict with state regulation, as long as

         13  those affected by the regulation can comply with

         14  both sets of laws. As a donor to a New York City

         15  candidate, who complies with a City's lower limit,

         16  would also be in compliance with the State's higher

         17  limits, there would be no conflict.

         18                 Next the question of occupation of

         19  the field. This question is much trickier. In

         20  considering whether the state has occupied the field

         21  to the exclusion of local regulation, the courts

         22  have looked at three things; first, whether the

         23  state has expressly preempted local action; second,

         24  the nature of the subject matter; and third, the

         25  detail and scope of the state's regulatory scheme.
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          2                 In this situation the first two

          3  factors cuts strongly against preemption of local

          4  contribution limitations. The third factor provides

          5  some support for the claim of preemption.

          6                 So, first, with respect to express

          7  preemption, nothing in the Election Law generally,

          8  or in Article 14 specifically, or in Section 14-114,

          9  expressly preempts additional, non-conflicting local

         10  regulation.

         11                 Second is to the nature of the

         12  subject matter. Local elections are a matter of

         13  intense local concern but of limited state concern.

         14  A New York City campaign contribution restriction

         15  would have no impact on other local elections or on

         16  state elections. Given that City and State elections

         17  are held in different years, it is unlikely that a

         18  City law would have even an indirect effect on state

         19  elections. Unlike areas like environmental

         20  protection, utility regulation or land use, where

         21  local decisions can send pollution or traffic beyond

         22  local borders or affect the availability of

         23  infrastructure that serves a region, local campaign

         24  finance regulation has no effects on elections not

         25  subject to the local law.
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          2                 Nor does the state have a policy of

          3  promoting uniform local contribution restrictions.

          4  State Election Law Section 14-114, does not set a

          5  uniform cap on donations to local candidates.

          6  Instead, it adopts a formula of five cents per

          7  registered voter in general elections, and five

          8  cents per eligible enrolled party voter in primary

          9  elections - with special rules for candidates for

         10  citywide office in New York City.

         11                 This formula means that the

         12  contribution cap will necessarily vary from county

         13  to county, city to city and village to village.

         14  Indeed, in communities that elect their councils

         15  from districts rather than at large, like New York

         16  City, the cap will vary from district to district

         17  along with differences in voter registration and

         18  party enrollment. A New York City law would not

         19  promote disharmony in contribution limits; if

         20  anything, it would promote greater consistency

         21  within New York City.

         22                 The combination of intense local

         23  interest in local elections, the absence of any

         24  spillover effects on other localities or on state

         25  elections, and the current state law's requirement
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          2  of different contribution caps in different

          3  localities together suggest that the nature of the

          4  subject matter issue cuts against a finding that the

          5  state has impliedly occupied the field.

          6                 On the other hand, the detail and

          7  scope of the state's regulatory scheme provides some

          8  support for an occupation of the field argument.

          9                 State law broadly and extensively

         10  regulates the conduct of elections for public and

         11  party offices in New York State; Article 14 of the

         12  Election Law regulates campaign finance practices

         13  for local as well as state elections; Section 14-114

         14  regulates contributions to local candidates, with

         15  specific limits for New York City's three city-wide

         16  offices. The State Attorney General in opinions

         17  issued in 1995 and 1998 concluded that due to the

         18  "comprehensive nature of the Election Law" the

         19  State has fully occupied the area of campaign

         20  contribution limits, leaving no room for additional

         21  local regulation.

         22                 Well, has the State comprehensively

         23  regulated the area of campaign contributions? That

         24  is difficult to say. The case law in this area is

         25  marked by ad hoc and highly fact-specific decisions.
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          2  Occupation of the field is most likely to be found

          3  where the state is issuing a license or a permit -

          4  such as in utility regulation, alcoholic beverage

          5  regulation, or development of environmentally

          6  sensitive areas. In those situations preemption

          7  protects the state's interest in enabling the

          8  licensee or permit holder to engage in a

          9  state-authorized action free from potentially

         10  burdensome local regulations that might be in

         11  conflict with the state's purpose in granting the

         12  license or the permit in the first place.

         13                 But I don't think that anyone would

         14  say that Section 14-114 was intended to give very

         15  large donors -- including those permitted to give

         16  $60,000 to a candidate for Brooklyn Borough

         17  President, or $30,700 to a candidate for Mayor - a

         18  protected license or permit to do that.

         19                 A very recent decision by the

         20  Appellate Division for the Second Department is

         21  instructive on this point. In Suffolk County Ethics

         22  Commission versus Neppell, the court held that the

         23  comprehensive and detailed local government

         24  financial disclosure requirements contained in

         25  Article 18 of the General Municipal Law did not
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          2  occupy the field of financial disclosure to the

          3  exclusion of local law, and, thus, upheld an

          4  additional Suffolk County financial disclosure

          5  requirement for political party officers. Although

          6  not addressing the Election Law, the opinion

          7  suggests a judicial unwillingness to find that state

          8  laws promoting local government integrity preempt

          9  local efforts to go further.

         10                 In conclusion. New York City plainly

         11  has home rule authority to adopt limitations on

         12  contributions to candidates in local elections. Such

         13  a local law would not be in conflict with the

         14  state's current limits on contributions to

         15  candidates in local elections. The State has not

         16  expressly occupied the field of local campaign

         17  finance regulation. To be sure, there are arguments

         18  based on the detail and scope of the Election Law

         19  provisions dealing with local campaign

         20  contributions, that would support the argument for

         21  preemption. But the strong local interest in local

         22  elections relative to the weaker state interest, the

         23  absence of a state plan to require a particular

         24  contribution ceiling, as opposed to assuring that

         25  there are some contribution limitations in all
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          2  elections, and the considerable variation in local

          3  contribution limits already built into State Law

          4  together argue against a finding that the State has

          5  occupied the field of local campaign finance

          6  regulation.

          7                 A City law adopting contribution

          8  restrictions that are tighter than those in state

          9  law - with attendant reporting and disclosure

         10  requirements, is not clearly preempted, and there

         11  are strong arguments that such a law should survive

         12  a preemption challenge.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

         14  much.

         15                 So, in a word, so-to-speak, this law

         16  is going to be preempted or not preempted?

         17                 MR. BRIFFAULT: Can I give it in three

         18  words? Probably not preempted.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Probably not

         20  preempted.

         21                 MR. BRIFFAULT: There is no guarantee

         22  in preemption because the area is so kind of ad hoc,

         23  and fact specific, but I would say there are good

         24  arguments that it's not, and the arguments that it's

         25  not are probably better than the arguments that it
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          2  is.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: And in light of

          4  that, you would recommend that we go forward with

          5  this legislation, or you would recommend that we

          6  halt, as the Administration seems to be suggesting,

          7  because of the questionable status of preemption?

          8                 MR. BRIFFAULT: Well, I'm not prepared

          9  to speak to the merits of the legislation, but I'm

         10  here to speak to your authority to do this.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Okay.

         12                 MR. BRIFFAULT: And it seems to me you

         13  have a very good claim to have the authority to do

         14  this, so that I would put it in reverse of the way

         15  you put it.

         16                 I wouldn't be stopped by fear of lack

         17  of authority.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: You would go

         19  forward, in other words?

         20                 MR. BRIFFAULT: Yes, I would say I

         21  would not be stopped. It's up to you guys to decide

         22  whether to go forward.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Okay.

         24                 I'm just teasing. I appreciate what

         25  you're trying to do and I really appreciate your
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          2  testimony.

          3                 Thank you very much.

          4                 Okay now we'll hear from Rachel Leon

          5  of Common Cause; Gene Russianoff, the Senior Staff

          6  Attorney for the New York Public Interest Research

          7  Group, and Deborah Goldberg of the Brennan Center.

          8                 MR. TOLLIN: Good afternoon. Can you

          9  each raise your right hand?

         10                 Do you solemnly swear or affirm the

         11  testimony you're about to give is the truth, the

         12  whole truth and nothing but the truth.

         13                 MS. GOLDBERG: Yes.

         14                 MR. RUSSIANOFF: Yes.

         15                 MS. QUATTLEBAUM: Yes.

         16                 MR. TOLLIN: Thank you. Could you four

         17  who are speaking give your name and the organization

         18  you're representing.

         19                 MS. QUATTLEBAUM: I'm actually Megan

         20  Quattlebaum, Associate Director of Common Cause New

         21  York. Rachel Leon had to leave, but I'm giving

         22  testimony in her place.

         23                 Common Cause New York appreciates the

         24  opportunity to testify before this Committee. As a

         25  civic organization with more than 15,000 members in
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          2  New York and 200,000 members nationwide that seeks

          3  to give citizens a voice in the political process,

          4  which are deeply about our campaign finance system

          5  and its effectiveness.

          6                 I just want to say at the outset we

          7  come in today uplifted by yesterday's Supreme Court

          8  ruling, which Mr. Schwarz mentioned, on the federal

          9  soft money ban. It's a ruling that clearly indicates

         10  the belief of the court that huge sums of money can

         11  and do negatively impact the political process.

         12                 Key to the success of the City's

         13  program has been its ability to constantly involve

         14  through internal changes proposed by the Campaign

         15  Finance Board itself and through changes passed by

         16  City Council and the Mayor over the years.

         17                 The current presidential primary

         18  elections demonstrate the fragility of a system that

         19  is inflexible to changing conditions, as candidates

         20  in that race abandon the public financing program

         21  and its restrictions.

         22                 I just wanted to really quickly go

         23  over a few of the specific provisions in the bill.

         24                 Firstly, on the setting up the new

         25  level of optional participation allowing candidates
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          2  to self-fund but still abide by the spending limits

          3  and disclosure requirements of other participants.

          4                 Common Cause New York proudly

          5  supports efforts by the Council and the Campaign

          6  Finance Board to confront this issue.

          7                 We believe that we are at a defining

          8  moment in history with regard to self-finance

          9  candidates nationwide. It used to be said that these

         10  candidates don't win, so they don't present a

         11  serious problem, but more recently self-finance

         12  candidates have been winning races at every level of

         13  government.

         14                 The Council proposal is a good

         15  response to this challenging issue.

         16                 On the issue of setting greater

         17  rewards, participating candidates facing

         18  high-spending non-participants, Common Cause

         19  supports this provision, as we have emphasized and

         20  well emphasized throughout our testimony, we need

         21  strong incentives to maintain optimal participation

         22  in the program.

         23                 I didn't want to note, we think both

         24  of these provisions, especially the optimal limited

         25  participation provision for self-funded candidates
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          2  could be a terrific option for Mayor Bloomberg and a

          3  win/win situation for the public and the candidates.

          4                 As has been noted, if the Mayor would

          5  opt into the Campaign Finance Program, not a single

          6  public dollar would need to be spent. So, if the

          7  Mayor believes, as was suggested by the Deputy Mayor

          8  this morning, that candidates are able to

          9  effectively get their message out through the

         10  Campaign Finance Program, we welcome him opting in

         11  as others have done in the past.

         12                 We also want to lend our support to

         13  requiring all candidates to provide by the same

         14  contribution limits and disclosure requirements,

         15  whether or not they participate in the Campaign

         16  Finance Program, to revising the Charter provisions

         17  that prohibit the use of government funds in an

         18  election year, to limiting candidates to 25 percent

         19  of the maximum of public matching funds when they

         20  face tokens opponents who raise or spend only

         21  $35,000, I'd just like to say this is a difficult

         22  issue. We supported efforts of the Campaign Finance

         23  Board that required candidates to demonstrate they

         24  have a need for public funds when their opponent has

         25  raised less than 20 percent of the expenditure
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          2  limit.

          3                 We hope that that provision will be

          4  examined carefully and if it is determined not to

          5  have had an impact in 2003, we should consider

          6  additional steps including lowering the amount of

          7  public funds available to candidates who face

          8  opposition, where none of their opponents have

          9  raised a certain percentage of the total spending.

         10                 Finally, in terms of preventing

         11  candidates from transferring war chests from one

         12  campaign to another, Common Cause, along with other

         13  civic groups has consistently supported prohibiting

         14  the transfer of war chests, however, we are open to

         15  discussing the details of any such provision and

         16  look forward to more information being provided on

         17  this issue, specifically relating to its potential

         18  impact on the 2005 elections. Thank you for allowing

         19  me to present testimony, I'll be happy to answer

         20  questions.

         21                 MS. GOLDBERG: My name is Deborah

         22  Goldberg from the Brennan Center for Justice. I want

         23  to thank the Chair and members of the Committee for

         24  inviting me to testify today. For those of the few

         25  of you who have the stamina to remain to hear me, if
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          2  you are not familiar with the Brennan Center, we use

          3  research, advocacy and litigation to make our

          4  democracy more inclusive and effective at every

          5  level.

          6                 We have provided a range of Campaign

          7  Finance services to reformers at the federal, state

          8  and local level, including constitutional

          9  counseling, legislative drafting and litigation

         10  assistance.

         11                 We assisted in the drafting and

         12  helped to defend the Bipartisan Campaign Reform Act

         13  which the Supreme Court upheld yesterday virtually

         14  in its entirety.

         15                 The Center believes that the New York

         16  City Campaign Finance Program is a model for the

         17  nation.

         18                 Part of its success is the result for

         19  the Campaign Finance Board's regular and thoughtful

         20  efforts to evaluate the performance of the program

         21  and to propose amendments that will improve the

         22  program's ability to achieve its goals.

         23                 There are a wide variety of proposals

         24  in the bill that is under consideration today, the

         25  Brennan Center is not going to address all of them
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          2  in detail. What we do what to do is focus

          3  principally on a number of them that may be thought

          4  to present constitutional concerns or other legal

          5  problems, and our support for the proposals that are

          6  before you today should be understood principally to

          7  be support for the constitutionality of what is

          8  before you.

          9                 I want to address first and very

         10  briefly the proposal to extend the requirements for

         11  disclosure and contribution limits to

         12  non-participants in the program.

         13                 We did not undertake an independent

         14  evaluation of this question, but I am fully familiar

         15  with the analysis that Professor Briffault just

         16  presented, and I know his work and I believe it to

         17  be extremely reliable.

         18                 What I do want to address is the

         19  suggestion by Deputy Mayor earlier this morning,

         20  that because there is not a 100 percent guarantee

         21  that the extension of these provisions to

         22  non-participants will be upheld in court, that this

         23  body should be deterred from moving forward.

         24                 In the Bipartisan Campaign Reform

         25  Act, there is no guarantee that the proposals that
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          2  were included in it would be held constitutional.

          3                 What we did have were strong legal

          4  arguments supporting the constitutionality and sound

          5  policy reasons for going forward with the proposals

          6  in that bill.

          7                 Both of those criteria are met here.

          8  We have good legal arguments to suggest that this

          9  bill will not be preempted by State Law, and there

         10  are very sound policy reasons for the proposals that

         11  are put forward here, even some of the details

         12  require some tinkering.

         13                 So, I would urge this Board -- this

         14  body not to be overly cautious, as it has apparently

         15  been for many years now. This is, to my knowledge,

         16  the only locality, other than other localities in

         17  New York State, that excludes nonparticipants from

         18  the contribution requirements and the disclosure

         19  requirements of a public funding system. Although

         20  this system has operated admirably in its

         21  idiosyncratic fashion, it would be a more fair

         22  system if those requirements were applied across the

         23  Board to all candidates.

         24                 I will just focus very briefly on two

         25  other provisions that have been mentioned here

                                                            189

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  today, and one that has not.

          3                 The war chest provision. The war

          4  chest provision, sometimes known as spend-down

          5  provisions, require candidates to divest themselves

          6  of unused campaign funds after an election.

          7                 In our view, there is no

          8  constitutional bar to proceeding with this, and

          9  there are good policy reasons for doing so.

         10                 Typically these spend-down provisions

         11  are designed to eliminate what is an incumbent

         12  advantage. It is the incumbent that has the

         13  opportunities to raise funds that exceed a need,

         14  carry them over then to the next election and to use

         15  them to deter challengers from running against them.

         16                 The one cautionary note I do want to

         17  voice, is if the Council is contemplating applying

         18  all of the City's campaign finance regulations,

         19  other than spending limits, which must be voluntary

         20  as the current constitution is interpreted, to

         21  nonparticipants.

         22                 There are two cases that I'm familiar

         23  with that address the constitutionality of

         24  spend-down provisions and they split on that. So, if

         25  the City Council seeks to extend this provision to
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          2  non-participants, it should do so with open eyes

          3  about the constitutional pitfalls.

          4                 The third item I would like to

          5  address is the eight to one match. And I want to

          6  again address this in the perspective of its

          7  constitutionality because it seemed to me at least

          8  implicit in what the Deputy Mayor was saying, that

          9  it was their view that it, I think the word was

         10  fundamentally changed the nature of the system and

         11  the implication was, as I understood it, that it

         12  would no longer be fully voluntary because somehow

         13  the additional funds would make it impossible for

         14  anyone to opt out of the system.

         15                 I believe that those concerns are

         16  completely misplaced. There is a system in Maine,

         17  for example, and there are other systems in the

         18  country that not only accelerate the rate of public

         19  funding that is used as a match for private funds,

         20  but in fact do provide a one-to-one

         21  dollar-for-dollar match of private funds raised by

         22  candidates over a particular threshold in order to

         23  ensure that publicly financed candidates can respond

         24  to the speech that is funded by the self-funded

         25  candidate, or the high-spending candidate.
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          2                 This provision does not go nearly so

          3  far as the main system does.

          4                 The main system was upheld

          5  constitutionally and I see no reason why this system

          6  would not be upheld.

          7                 There is a question about whether the

          8  joint application of these new tiered matching funds

          9  and higher spending limits together with the lower

         10  contribution limits that would be applied to

         11  non-participants, would somehow make this system

         12  coercive.

         13                 Once again, the constitutional case

         14  law suggested that is a misplaced concern.

         15                 In Maine, again, the system that was

         16  put in place there, established a full public

         17  funding system with matching funds for high-spending

         18  candidates, at the same time that it lowered

         19  contribution limits in Maine to $250 per election

         20  per legislative candidate.

         21                 The 1st Circuit Court of Appeals

         22  upheld that system and I believe that the courts

         23  would uphold it here.

         24                 Finally, one issue that has not been

         25  raised before, and that is the consolidation of
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          2  annual spending limits into per election limits.

          3  Again, the Center strongly supports this measure as

          4  another means of limiting the inherited advantages

          5  enjoyed by incumbents. Typically challengers decide

          6  to enter a race later than an incumbent does and

          7  therefore begin fundraising later than sitting

          8  office holders.

          9                 Calendar year spending limits provide

         10  differential benefits to incumbents and those who

         11  seek to unseat them. Most jurisdictions use

         12  per-election limits rather than calendar year

         13  spending limits.

         14                 I raise this issue not because I

         15  think there is a potential constitutional attack on

         16  these proposals, but in fact I think that there may

         17  be an argument that current system offers

         18  unconstitutional incumbent protection.

         19                 There are cases that have suggested

         20  that constitutional restrictions provide

         21  differential benefits to incumbents and challengers

         22  may be constitutionally suspect under the equal

         23  protection clause.

         24                 So, I would encourage the City

         25  Council to adopt this measure in part to protect
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          2  itself from constitutional challenge of the existing

          3  system and make the system more equitable for

          4  incumbents and challengers.

          5                 I would be happy to address any other

          6  provisions that I have not specifically focused on

          7  here. I am principally interested in addressing the

          8  legality, but the Brennan Center can also address

          9  some of the policy issues, if that's of interest to

         10  the members of the Council. Thank you very much.

         11                 MR. RUSSIANOFF: Good afternoon,

         12  members of the Committee. I'm Gene Russianoff with

         13  the New York Public Interest Research Group. You

         14  have written testimony from me and I'm going to do

         15  my best to be brief.

         16                 After every City election since this

         17  program started in '88 the Council and the Mayor

         18  have amended our City's landmark campaign finance

         19  law. I know because I actually was a part of each

         20  and every one of those changes in the law, and

         21  virtually all of them reflected real world

         22  experience and improved the program before the

         23  upcoming election cycle.

         24                 For example, later 1996, the Council

         25  amended the law to require Citywide candidates to
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          2  debate. That was in response to the failure of the

          3  Mayoral candidates in '93, the debate, and it

          4  applied to the '97 elections.

          5                 Similarly, in 1988 -- I'm sorry,

          6  1998, the Council increased the matching funds

          7  formula from the one-for-one match for the first

          8  thousand that it used to be, to the current $4 for

          9  every dollar of the $250 contribution. That was

         10  adopted because of the general consensus the program

         11  needed to be attractive to convince candidates to go

         12  through all of the agonies that you go through in

         13  complying with the Campaign Finance Law.

         14                 If the City did not adapt the law to

         15  changing conditions, we would surely run the risk of

         16  candidates abandoning the program, as we are now

         17  seeing happen in the presidential primary elections.

         18                 The best part about this law is that

         19  it's been a living thing, and if it doesn't adapt,

         20  it risks dying.

         21                 NYPIRG, with that in mind NYPIRG

         22  strongly supports the proposed legislation. Many of

         23  the proposals in Intro. 382-A have been long sought

         24  by civic groups, and I'm going to make just a few

         25  comments.
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          2                 The media coverage on the bill is

          3  largely focused on the proposal for a more generous

          4  match for candidates facing wealthy self-funded

          5  opponents, but NYPIRG believes that the bill should

          6  actually result in savings to taxpayers in at least

          7  three ways:

          8                 First, the legislation would allow

          9  self-funded candidates, like Mayor Bloomberg, to

         10  participate in the program's spending limits and

         11  disclosure requirements without taking public funds.

         12                 If Mayor Bloomberg were to do this,

         13  it would save millions in the bonus match, and I

         14  would note that Deputy Mayor Robles-Roman said that

         15  $12 million was a sufficient amount of money to get

         16  your message out running for Mayor. That's true for

         17  challengers, it's also true for the incumbent.

         18                 Second, the legislation would prevent

         19  participating candidates from receiving a

         20  substantial amount of public funds when facing the

         21  token opponent. We think the provision, which as my

         22  colleague said earlier, is a challenging one is at

         23  heart a good one, and it's something that's worth

         24  debate and consideration in the Council.

         25                 And third, the Legislature would
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          2  increase enforcement of the provision currently in

          3  law to prohibit the use of City Government resources

          4  during an election year.

          5                 So, there are cost saving measures

          6  throughout the bill that I think would mitigate

          7  against whatever additional costs the more generous

          8  bonus would have.

          9                 Now, like any good government group,

         10  there are things that are in the bill that we want

         11  more. We think there are things that should be added

         12  to the bill, we're hoping during the legislative

         13  debate on this, I might highlight two or three of

         14  those. One is we think the current contribution

         15  limits are too high.

         16                 For example, 4,950 for Mayor or the

         17  Council contribution limit which I believe is about

         18  2,900. In the last go around, the Council lowered

         19  campaign contribution limit so it's not far fetched

         20  to ask the Council to again consider lowering the

         21  limits. We would also like to see the category of

         22  exempt expenditures eliminated from the law in large

         23  part. It makes the law much more complicated for

         24  both the candidates and the Board to administer. I

         25  think there are ways to do that that would be fair.
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          2                 And then lastly, there's a hole

          3  currently in the provision that's in Intro. 32-A

          4  about the misuse of government resources during an

          5  election year. There's no real civil enforcement

          6  mechanism, and we would like to see the Campaign

          7  Finance Board given the ability to make a finding

          8  and determination if a City official has improperly

          9  used government resources during an election year,

         10  so there's some teeth in the law.

         11                 Those are our views, and I appreciate

         12  the opportunity to testify.

         13                 MS. GOLDBERG: If I may add one thing

         14  before we proceed? I just also wanted to make it

         15  very clear that Mr. Schwarz, the Senior Counsel at

         16  the Brennan Center, he has recused himself

         17  completely from the Brennan Center's considerations

         18  of all campaign finance matters related to this. I

         19  did not see the proposal from him until it was made

         20  public to everybody else, and he has not seen my

         21  testimony or in any way participated in the

         22  formulation of the policy at the Brennan Center on

         23  this matter.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you for

         25  that full disclosure.
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          2                 Did anyone have an opportunity to

          3  meet with the Campaign Finance Board or to share

          4  with the Campaign Finance Board any of their ideas

          5  for the proposal that's before us?

          6                 MR. RUSSIANOFF: Well, I would say, I

          7  mean over the course of literally years we've had a

          8  dialogue with the Board about its proposals, and

          9  under the law after every election cycle the Board

         10  holds a hearing. I actually helped draft that law in

         11  1988 because we felt it was important that the law

         12  adapt, and, so, we have had discussions over the

         13  years and certainly in the last couple of years

         14  about the recommendation. We testified before the

         15  Board at its hearings, and we've offered our views

         16  and had an exchange and had a dialogue with them.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Any recent

         18  dialogue with regard to this bill before us?

         19                 MR. RUSSIANOFF: You mean -- I'm

         20  sorry?

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Have you had any

         22  input in this bill before us?

         23                 MR. RUSSIANOFF: Not other than

         24  testifying at the hearings.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Okay.
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          2                 Anyone else?

          3                 MS. QUATTLEBAUM: Common Cause also

          4  testified at the most recent hearing and submitted

          5  to the Campaign Finance Board our views on how

          6  effective the campaign finance system was in the

          7  past election and offered suggestions for the

          8  future.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Any of your

         10  ideas in this bill, as per that last hearing? Like

         11  the eight to one or any other aspects?

         12                 MR. RUSSIANOFF: We've been on the

         13  record for a long time for a more generous match

         14  when facing a wealthy self-funded opponent. After

         15  the 2001 elections we suggested something more

         16  generous that the Board is proposing. We would give

         17  a flat grant to the candidates because looking at

         18  the 2001 election, Mark Green had to furiously

         19  fundraise throughout the closing weekend of the

         20  election to get the current five to one match that's

         21  in the law, but our proposal obviously was not

         22  accepted by the Board because it's not in their 2002

         23  report on the 2001 elections.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Okay.

         25                 MS. QUATTLEBAUM: Much of the
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          2  commentary that Common Cause has made at this

          3  hearing, we made similar commentary at the most

          4  recent Campaign Finance Board hearing.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Okay. Council

          6  Member Phil Reed.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Thank you, Mr.

          8  Chair, and I apologize that I didn't hear everyone's

          9  testimony, we're as you know trying to get several

         10  things accomplished before the end of the year. I'm

         11  looking forward to reading your comments on this. I

         12  hope you didn't spend too much time on the process

         13  issue.

         14                 Mr. Russianoff, I think that I agree

         15  often times with what you've said, but I think you

         16  mischaracterized the situation in the federal

         17  presidential elections. I think Mr. Dean and now Mr.

         18  Kerry have now opted out because of the spending

         19  limits.

         20                 MR. RUSSIANOFF: Correct.

         21                 No, my general point was that because

         22  of the federal program's failure to adapt the way

         23  the City's program has, we have a situation where

         24  candidates in both parties have abandoned the

         25  matching funds program, and I think that's a bad
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          2  thing and I would prefer those candidates to be in

          3  the program, but they have their rationale, and my

          4  criticism is not of the candidate's individual

          5  decisions, it's the laws failure to keep up with the

          6  times.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: I have not had a

          8  chance, some of us had some concerns ourselves, even

          9  as members of this Committee that we in fact have

         10  had very little time to review this, and with all

         11  the hub bub, we could be distracted as well.

         12                 So, I know that there is something in

         13  here about using public funds, I think you are

         14  really talking about newsletters?

         15                 MR. RUSSIANOFF: Newsletters.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: What is the

         17  proposal that you have put forward now?

         18                 MR. RUSSIANOFF: In 1998 the Council

         19  added a provision to City law that said that in an

         20  election year candidates could not have their name

         21  or face in a City-funded advertisement, and this was

         22  in direct response to two Mayors running

         23  government-funded public service announcements.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: But that's

         25  within a 30- or 60-day time from the election.
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          2                 MR. RUSSIANOFF: No, no. The provision

          3  on, you know, having your name or face in a

          4  City-funded ad, that applied throughout the whole

          5  election year.

          6                 There also is a provision on mass

          7  mailings 30 days before an election.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: What is your

          9  proposal?

         10                 MR. RUSSIANOFF: Well, the Board's

         11  proposal, the proposal on 382-A, is to move the mass

         12  mailing from 30 days before the election to 90 days,

         13  although there's an exception for newsletters after

         14  a City budget is approved, under the argument that

         15  that's important news to give to constituents.

         16                 And the bill also would create some

         17  additional enforcement to the provision, although as

         18  I say in my testimony, in our view not enough, and

         19  we would like to see the Campaign Finance Board

         20  given the ability to make a determination whether

         21  let's say a candidate for City office has put their

         22  face into a City-funded ad, whether that's a

         23  violation of the law and should be penalized with a

         24  fine.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: The last
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          2  question that I have or find out what your thinking

          3  is, I understand the purpose of the campaign

          4  finance, and I'm not a wealthy person, so I found it

          5  important in my election, and have I think gotten a

          6  broad cross section of the community and the City to

          7  support me. Very few people that are very rich that

          8  are giving money to my campaign; however, I know

          9  people who feel that they would like to be able to

         10  spend some modest amount of their own funds.

         11                 As it is set up now, a candidate is

         12  also restricted by the same rules, so you can only

         13  give as much as anybody else can to your candidacy.

         14                 I'm curious to know if you think

         15  there would be some rationale or reason for the

         16  candidate himself or herself to be able to perhaps

         17  just double that number, maybe triple that number,

         18  since that's what they are involved in doing. And I

         19  certainly don't mean on the scale of Mike Bloomberg,

         20  but if it's $3,000, if it's a $1,000 limit, a

         21  candidate ought to be able to put $2,000 in or

         22  $3,000; do you have any thoughts on that? Or any of

         23  you, not just Mr. Russianoff.

         24                 MR. RUSSIANOFF: I'm just, I'm trying

         25  to remember now, there is some provision in the law,
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          2  I thought, that allows a candidate to give slightly

          3  more than the limits. Maybe the Council three times.

          4  So, they're already in the current City Campaign

          5  Finance Law you can give three times 2,900 or

          6  whatever the figure is.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: I see. Now I

          8  wasn't familiar. Don't tell my family.

          9                 MR. RUSSIANOFF: Your counsel nodded

         10  his head yes that I was remembering correctly, so

         11  that increased my confidence.

         12                 And I guess it's a balance because in

         13  fact for some modestly funded, you know, candidates

         14  of modest means, it's a way to sort of get through

         15  the door.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Thank you. Is it

         17  your sense, all three of you, that we should be

         18  changing these rules now and have them in place for

         19  '05? Or do you think we're too far down the road

         20  and whatever we do have to be for elections

         21  subsequent?

         22                 MS. QUATTLEBAUM: I think Common Cause

         23  sees value to making these changes and feels that

         24  most of them wouldn't be justified for the 2005

         25  election. Specifically on the war chest issue, I did
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          2  mention in my commentary that we've consistently

          3  supported prohibiting the transfer of war chest. We

          4  look forward to more information being provided on

          5  the issue and specifically the potential impact of

          6  that provision on the 2005 election.

          7                 So, I think that's the only place

          8  where we've stated any potential reservation.

          9                 MS. GOLDBERG: I also think that there

         10  doesn't seem to be any pressing reason to delay the

         11  implementation of most of these provisions. I can't

         12  say that I focus on that question independently with

         13  respect to each one of them, and I would have to do

         14  so if there was any interest in my doing so, but

         15  generally speaking it seems to me that these

         16  provisions make the system more fair and less

         17  conducive to fraud and there is no reason

         18  particularly why we should wait.

         19                 MR. RUSSIANOFF: I have the same

         20  general view and participated in past amendments in

         21  the law that were adopted before an election site

         22  because it made sense. I was struck by in Fritz

         23  Schwarz' testimony that he has five questions to

         24  consider on this issue of when to make something

         25  effective, and I think they're very thoughtful and I
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          2  think part of the debate should be looking at each

          3  and every one of the major provisions in deciding

          4  whether they meet the test or the standards that he

          5  has in his testimony. And, so, I think it's a good

          6  thoughtful list.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Thank you.

          8                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

          9                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: While the

         10  Chairman left for a minute, I just have one

         11  question.

         12                 Gene, you had indicated at one point

         13  that you thought the campaign threshold should be

         14  lowered, but you also think that there should be a

         15  certain bonus given to people for candidates that

         16  are breaking the cap or self-financed candidates,

         17  how do you justify both? If you're looking to lower

         18  this, I think part of the proposal are to lower from

         19  -- each category to lower the amount of money in

         20  the races for Borough President, City Council and

         21  the Mayoral race, but on the other hand you're

         22  saying if a person is running against a person that

         23  is going to spend three times more the money, you

         24  would give them an undisclosed amount of extra

         25  money? How do you do that if the money is therefore
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          2  lower, or the individual contributions are lower? I

          3  don't understand how you would make that --

          4                 MR. RUSSIANOFF: In other words,

          5  you're asking me how do I give my earlier view that

          6  I thought the contribution limits should be lower

          7  than they are now in the law when at the same time

          8  I'm saying if you're facing someone who has a lot of

          9  dough, they should get some extra matching funds.

         10                 I think my position is consistent.

         11  The trick in this law, and it's an art more than a

         12  science, is setting limits, contribution limits and

         13  spending limits that are no so high that they buy

         14  people influence and access and not so low that they

         15  make it hard for people to run for office, and the

         16  trick is to make the program attractive enough for

         17  people to go through the disclosure and the rules

         18  and the risk that those involve.

         19                 So, it's just my judgment, based on

         20  watching the political process, and I don't know the

         21  exact number, the 2,900, the 2,950 figure for

         22  Council contribution limits, you look at this --

         23  2,750, you look at it, there are very few

         24  contributions that are that high. Although, and

         25  because of the matches of a $250 contribution, they
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          2  tend to cluster it at that level. And I think for

          3  the public they want to know what return they're

          4  getting on the investment of public funds, what are

          5  we getting back for giving candidates funds, and

          6  what you're getting back is limits on how much they

          7  spend and limits on how much access or influence

          8  people can have through campaign contributions. So,

          9  I think a $2,750 contribution to a Council member is

         10  very significant, I think it's too high. But, you

         11  know --

         12                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: But what

         13  number would you come up for --

         14                 MR. RUSSIANOFF: We're supporting the

         15  Board's recommendations. They would have a $2,000

         16  limit, Council race.

         17                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Yes, I

         18  understand. But what would you support on the

         19  opposite end if that same Council candidate runs

         20  against an individual that's spending a million

         21  dollars, like what happened with Eva Moskowitz?

         22                 MR. RUSSIANOFF: Well, in that

         23  situation we would indeed support a more generous

         24  matching fund for the candidates, but we do not

         25  support higher contribution limits in that
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          2  situation.

          3                 MS. GOLDBERG: I think that it's

          4  really a judgment for the Council to think about

          5  what would be reasonable and fair in that situation.

          6  Generally speaking in most jurisdictions where there

          7  are matching funds for high-spending candidates, the

          8  spending limits are raised, but they're usually not

          9  raised more than two or three times. So, what you

         10  might think about doing is if you have somebody

         11  outspending a candidate, you know, five to six

         12  times, that you could have a block grant that they

         13  would be double what they would otherwise be able to

         14  spend. But you wouldn't necessarily give them a

         15  grant that would allow them to spend a dollar for

         16  dollar what the high-spending candidate is doing.

         17  The idea obviously is to give the candidate an

         18  opportunity to respond to the high-spending

         19  candidate, but I agree with the Deputy Mayor that

         20  you don't have to have absolute parity and we

         21  certainly don't have the funds in this case to give

         22  absolute parity for every candidate who is running

         23  against the high-spending candidate.

         24                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: All right.

         25  Thank you, panel. Thank you very much, and we'll
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          2  call the next panel, as in my temporary role as

          3  chair here.

          4                 Mr. Harry Kresky from Independence

          5  Party and Ms. Cathy Stewart from the Independence

          6  Party. Oh, just Harry, okay.

          7                 MR. TOLLIN: Good afternoon. Could you

          8  please raise your right hand.

          9                 Do you solemnly swear or affirm the

         10  testimony you're about to give is the truth, the

         11  whole truth and nothing but the truth?

         12                 MR. KRESKY: I do.

         13                 MR. TOLLIN: Thank you. If you could

         14  turn your mic on.

         15                 MR. KRESKY: Okay, thank you. Thank

         16  you for inviting me and Independence Party to be

         17  heard on these important issues today.

         18                 Before addressing the specific

         19  provision of the proposed amendment, let me point

         20  out, as have others, that the legislation before the

         21  Committee represents a dramatic change in the

         22  structure and philosophy of the City's Campaign

         23  Finance Program, from one based on regulation of

         24  candidates who choose to participate, the rational

         25  being that acceptance of public funds imposes
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          2  disclosure, audit and other obligations to one

          3  regulating all candidates for City office.

          4                 This is contrary to the clear mandate

          5  of Chapter 46 of the New York City Charter, which

          6  established a Campaign Finance Board to administer a

          7  "voluntary system" for campaign finance reform.

          8                 There is a real question as to

          9  whether or not such a sweeping change could be

         10  enacted by the City Council. Section 38 Subdivision

         11  4 of the Charter, requires a referendum for changes

         12  in the, and I'm quoting, the method of nominating,

         13  electing or removing an elective officer.

         14                 A revision of this magnitude surely

         15  changes the method of electing public officials in

         16  New York.

         17                 Further cause for concern is that the

         18  very agency charged with administering the voluntary

         19  system established by the City Charter is leading

         20  the effort to regulate all candidates, whether they

         21  accept public financing or not.

         22                 Some might argue that the proposed

         23  bill does not actually change the method of electing

         24  public officials and therefore no referendum is

         25  required.
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          2                 However, the Campaign Finance Board

          3  itself, on page seven of its memorandum claims that

          4  the City has Home Rule authority to enact these

          5  changes because they relate to, and I'm quoting the

          6  mode of selection of public officials.

          7                 Further, the bill does nothing to

          8  level the playing field between machine-supported

          9  candidates and insurgent or independent challenges.

         10  Indeed, it took the balance even more heavily in

         11  favor of the former. It's main focus appears to be

         12  on leveling the playing field between publicly

         13  funded and privately funded candidates.

         14                 Such an effort is particularly

         15  troubling when those who had most immediately

         16  benefited from it, are the present members of the

         17  Council itself. Nor does the bill do anything to

         18  redress the unbridled discretion the CFB has to

         19  delay funding in the face of unproven allegations of

         20  misconduct.

         21                 In the contested election, such a

         22  delay can determine the outcome of the election,

         23  something no government agency should have the power

         24  to do.

         25                 As for the specific provisions of the
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          2  proposed legislation, let me just point to the

          3  following.

          4                 The bill would apply the same

          5  contribution and reporting requirements to

          6  participating and non-participating candidates.

          7  Right now non-participating candidates are subject

          8  only to the state limitations on spending that are

          9  significantly higher.

         10                 CFB reporting requirements are also

         11  stricter. This bill would make New York City

         12  elections perhaps the most highly regulated in the

         13  country. Particularly troubling is the statement in

         14  the Council's memorandum, and I'm quoting here from

         15  the memorandum, that non-participating candidates

         16  would be required to disclose all campaign activity,

         17  and disclosure statements electronically with the

         18  Board, and to retain and provide to the Board on

         19  request documentation of campaign finance activity

         20  which would be subject to audit.

         21                 While this language is taken from a

         22  memorandum issued by the CFB and not from the

         23  proposed legislation, which I haven't had access to,

         24  its breadth is cause for great concern. Does the CFB

         25  believe it has the right to audit all campaign
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          2  activity, or even all campaign finance activity? The

          3  audit function is one traditionally associated with

          4  the expenditure of public funds. Here we have a

          5  government agency seeking to audit core First

          6  Amendment activity even when no public funds are

          7  involved.

          8                 The bill increases the number of in

          9  district contributions needed to qualify for City

         10  Council funding from 50 to 100. It would also reduce

         11  the allowable contribution counted towards the 5,000

         12  threshold 250 from 1,000.

         13                 Finally, it would require all

         14  contributors, regardless of the amount of their

         15  contribution, to identify their employer. This triad

         16  will significantly, and I say significantly,

         17  undermine the possibilities for candidates who do

         18  not already have a significant organizational force

         19  in their corner to qualify for public funding. This

         20  is the wrong direction for the City's Campaign

         21  Finance Program to be going.

         22                 Further, requirement to name every

         23  contributor's employer imposes a significant

         24  administrative burden on a candidate and might

         25  discourage contributions from those who fear
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          2  retaliation for contributing to candidates other

          3  than incumbents.

          4                 The most highly publicized aspect of

          5  the proposal is the increase in funding for

          6  candidates facing non-participating candidates.

          7  Under the proposed legislation, if a

          8  non-participating opponent exceeded the spending

          9  limit imposed on participating candidates by three

         10  times the match as we know it now will be eight to

         11  one. Given the City's financial difficulties and the

         12  recent tax increases, it is difficult to justify

         13  more public funds to subsidize the efforts of career

         14  politicians.

         15                 The most competitive election in many

         16  years was the 2001 Mayoral. What compelling need is

         17  there to provide further funding to those trying to

         18  unseat Mayor Bloomberg? And I know during the

         19  testimony of Deputy Mayor Robles, there were

         20  questions concerning, well, gee, is it obscene for

         21  the Mayor to spend so much money; the fact is that

         22  it took $79 million for a new comer to New York City

         23  politics, running without the support of a political

         24  machine, to become competitive in the face of the

         25  overwhelming organizational advantage of the
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          2  democratic party machine, the unions, the public

          3  service apparatus in New York, and we saw that once

          4  again in the recent election on Charter hearings.

          5                 Unlimited expenditure by people who

          6  want to spend their own money is, one, a

          7  constitutional prerogative, and, two, it really is a

          8  way in which an outsider, someone who didn't come up

          9  through the political establishment, and the

         10  political apparatus, can make a difference. The

         11  Constitution preserves that right. I don't think

         12  there's anything obscene about it whatsoever.

         13                 The bill would create a new category

         14  of candidates, limited participating candidates, who

         15  would agree to comply with CFB spending limits, even

         16  if he or she did not accept public funds.

         17                 It's difficult to understand the need

         18  for this, other than there's a provocation towards

         19  candidates who do not accept public funds.

         20                 The bill would no longer require

         21  debate sponsors to include all candidates who

         22  qualify for public funding. Rather, they would

         23  establish "objective nonpartisan and

         24  nondiscriminatory criteria."

         25                 This is justified on the grounds that

                                                            217

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  fringe candidates now try to qualify for funding

          3  just to be in the debates and attention is directed

          4  away from the serious candidate.

          5                 What's wrong with running for office

          6  in order to present a particular point of view to be

          7  electorate. Reverend Sharpton and Congressman

          8  Kucinic are enriching the debates among democratic

          9  party presidential candidates.

         10                 Further, qualifying for public

         11  funding is a daunting task. The proposed legislation

         12  would undo one of the most positive aspects of the

         13  City's campaign finance program.

         14                 If the democratic party has no

         15  problem presenting the nation with debate after

         16  debate among nine or ten presidential candidates,

         17  whose participation does not appear to be based by

         18  any objective criteria, why should the democratic

         19  majority in the City Council limit access to debates

         20  for those seeking municipal office?

         21                 Our answer is that perhaps they're

         22  concerned about the growth of the independence party

         23  and the growing numbers of New Yorkers who are

         24  willing to stand up to the democratic machine, even

         25  if they are not yet able to win public office.
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          2                 This week the US Supreme Court hears

          3  oral argument in a case challenging the overtly

          4  partisan nature of the redistricting of Pennsylvania

          5  State Legislature. Legal challenges have been

          6  mounted against similar abuse in Texas.

          7                 I urge the Council not to follow suit

          8  and not to allow narrow partisan interests to

          9  subordinate the public good.

         10                 Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Council Member

         12  Reed.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Thank you, Mr.

         14  Chair.

         15                 I apologize, I was trying to half

         16  listen to what you were saying, and there was a bit

         17  of a crisis.

         18                 Did you play a role in any of the

         19  campaigns of this 2003 season?

         20                 MR. KRESKY: 2003 season? I was an

         21  active member of the People's Coalition for

         22  Nonpartisan Elections. I spoke at various public

         23  functions.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: No, I'm talking

         25  about the local municipal elections of the City
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          2  Council?

          3                 MR. KRESKY: Other than in my capacity

          4  as a member of the Manhattan Executive Committee of

          5  the Independence Party we screened some candidates.

          6  I represented them in my capacity as an attorney a

          7  candidate for a judge in Brooklyn. I think that's

          8  pretty much it.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: That's it. So,

         10  you weren't involved in any of the races in the

         11  Bronx?

         12                 MR. KRESKY: No. Although, I would

         13  note that with regard to this issue of the unbridled

         14  discretion of the Campaign Finance Board, I was very

         15  disturbed that the Campaign Finance Board failed to

         16  act on a very, very serious allegation that 1199 was

         17  spending money on Ms. Palma's campaign on the

         18  grounds that it was an independent contribution when

         19  she was a paid organizer for the union, and two

         20  years earlier, in the case of Senator Espada, whom I

         21  did represent, delayed and withheld public funding

         22  on the grounds of much less serious public -- on the

         23  basis of much less serious allegation so that he

         24  didn't get any funding prior to the primary, which

         25  he lost by a very small margin.
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          2                 I raised that in testimony last year,

          3  and I'm very, very disappointed that this omnibus

          4  proposal doesn't deal with that issue of unbridled

          5  discretion by the Campaign Finance Board, which, to

          6  me, there's much too much power in the hands of a

          7  government agency to determine the outcome of

          8  elections. I'm glad you mentioned the Bronx.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Well, I think

         10  that is a concern of many of us, of their -- I'm not

         11  sure it's unbridled, but certainly they have a

         12  significant amount of discretion, perhaps more than

         13  any other City agency. But you're referring to

         14  Council Member Espada's seniors, what election are

         15  you referring to?

         16                 MR. KRESKY: Well, there are two

         17  elections I'm comparing.

         18                 In 2001 Senator Espada ran for

         19  Borough President. There was some allegations that

         20  raised some of what I considered, I represented him,

         21  some very gray areas. In a newspaper that appeared

         22  in March, prior to his run, was said to be an

         23  expenditure. There were several other things.

         24                 The Campaign Finance Board withheld

         25  all funding prior to the primary, at the same time
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          2  it gave hundreds of thousands of dollars to his

          3  opponent. Espada lost the election by a very narrow

          4  margin.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: For Borough

          6  President?

          7                 MR. KRESKY: Yes.

          8                 In 2003, Ms. Palma received $75,000

          9  from 1199, her opponent, Espada, Jr., actually

         10  Espada without the Jr., who is the Jr., filed a

         11  complaint with the Campaign Finance Board. That's a

         12  very, very serious allegation, on the grounds that

         13  it was not an independent expenditure, that she was

         14  a paid organizer for the union, Campaign Finance

         15  Board gave her a five to one match because Espada

         16  didn't accept matching funds, and now, after she was

         17  elected, is now investigating that allegation.

         18                 They have full discretion to treat

         19  one complaint in one way and one complaint in

         20  another way. There are no audit standards that

         21  actually establish objective criteria for whether

         22  you get the match or not.

         23                 In both those cases I think the

         24  Campaign Finance Board played a very, very

         25  significant role in determining the outcome of the
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          2  election.

          3                 As a candidate, an elected official,

          4  and as a challenger, that's cause for great concern

          5  and I'm very glad that you've given me an

          6  opportunity to address that again.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: But isn't it

          8  true also in that race, this most recent City

          9  Council race, that Council Member Espada's campaign

         10  and the use of City Council City funds is being

         11  investigated by the Department of Investigations?

         12                 MR. KRESKY: I'm not aware of that. I

         13  mean, if that's true, that's true.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: You're not aware

         15  of that?

         16                 MR. KRESKY: No. I wasn't involved in

         17  the 2003 campaign.

         18                 What I know about the Palma campaign

         19  I read in the newspapers.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: So you're not

         21  aware of the fact that an officer of the

         22  Independence Party is in fact one of the people

         23  that's also being investigated as a part of that?

         24                 MR. KRESKY: Who are you referring to?

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: You're not aware
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          2  of that?

          3                 MR. KRESKY: With regard to the Espada

          4  campaign?

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Yes.

          6                 MR. KRESKY: No. I haven't heard about

          7  that.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: And that's your

          9  testimony on the record?

         10                 MR. KRESKY: With regard to what I've

         11  heard?

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Yes.

         13                 MR. KRESKY: Yes, at this point I

         14  don't recall hearing about that, to the best of my

         15  recollection. Since I'm under oath, I don't want to

         16  say categorically, but this is the first time I'm

         17  hearing about this.

         18                 I know that the former Chair of the

         19  Independence Party, as a result of a campaign, in

         20  the Bronx, as a result of the campaign he was

         21  involved in in the Year 2000, you know, is dealing

         22  with a large repayment determination. I'm aware of

         23  that. I'm not aware of the current situation.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Okay, thank you.

         25                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.
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          2                 MR. KRESKY: Okay. Anything further?

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

          4  much. I appreciate your patience and your

          5  contribution, as always.

          6                 From the Citizens Union, the one and

          7  only Doug Israel. He's not here right now?

          8                 And Dorothy Williams-Pereira. Please

          9  come join us.

         10                 This will be our last panel, and I

         11  want to express appreciation to one and all for your

         12  patience, and your participation and look forward to

         13  your return again.

         14                 MR. TOLLIN: Good afternoon. Could you

         15  each raise your right hand?

         16                 Do you solemnly swear or affirm the

         17  testimony you are about to give is the truth, the

         18  whole truth and nothing but the truth?

         19                 MR. ISRAEL: I do.

         20                 MS. WILLIAMS-PEREIRA: I do.

         21                 MR. TOLLIN: Thank you.

         22                 MR. ISRAEL: Thank you. I'm Doug

         23  Israel, I'm Local Candidates Director with Citizens

         24  Union, and I just wanted to thank you for the

         25  opportunity to comment on Intro. 382-A, and I waited
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          2  all day to give the shortest testimony of all time.

          3                 We very much appreciate this

          4  legislation but have not had the time to adequately

          5  assess the provisions of it, but we will, and we

          6  look forward to the opportunity to speak with each

          7  of you and the Campaign Finance Board in more detail

          8  about this legislation. But we just want you to know

          9  that we are very strong supporters of campaign

         10  finance and we think this is going in a very good

         11  direction, and we look forward to substantial

         12  changes in the program to address the inequities

         13  that exist, especially when facing well-funded

         14  self-financed candidates.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

         16  much.

         17                 Because you have stayed so long and

         18  have been so brief, at the next appearance you'll be

         19  put up a little further, at the beginning of the

         20  hearing.

         21                 And the first question will be coming

         22  from Council Member Reed at that time.

         23                 MR. ISRAEL: Sounds good. Thank you.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: I'm being given

         25  my holiday gift, too, at the same time. So, that is
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          2  from the Chair.

          3                 MS. WILLIAMS-PEREIRA: Dorothy

          4  Williams-Pereira. Okay, I have a few questions that

          5  I don't expect answers from. We were talking about

          6  how many elections can money buy. Well, I also want

          7  to know about how many laws can money buy? And then

          8  I want to know about how many parties can money buy?

          9  Besides the democrat, the republican, how many

         10  third-parties can money buy?

         11                 I think that the problem is not the

         12  money, it's how the money is used. The money can buy

         13  all kinds of things, and it can buy censorship.  And

         14  we talk about how much freedom of information should

         15  the voter get, I think we should talk about how much

         16  freedom of information should be enforced by the

         17  Campaign Finance.

         18                 I think we, as a City, should be

         19  ashamed that little towns have more freedom of

         20  information and that we are being smothered. We are

         21  a big city of big cities. Our counties are as big as

         22  cities. Other cities are in counties. Small towns

         23  are getting third-party elections, candidates

         24  elected, third-party candidates really don't have

         25  much chance in this City. Because third-party
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          2  candidates don't get their message in the Voter

          3  Guide, even when they win their primary, even when

          4  they win an opportunity to ballot, which I won and

          5  didn't get into the Voter Guide. I actually won a

          6  writing campaign, after my petitions were stolen.

          7  And I didn't get into the campaign Voter Guide.  I

          8  didn't get into the campaign Voter Guide, and no

          9  uncontested party candidate does get into the Voter

         10  Guide.

         11                 We've got to start putting forward

         12  information. I think that you can snow the public if

         13  they don't know what's going on. How are they going

         14  to know who to vote for if they don't know what the

         15  platform of the candidate is, whether they're in the

         16  democrat, republican or a third party. Every

         17  candidate should be in the Voter Guide, every

         18  participate (sic) in the campaign finance should be

         19  in the voter guide, and every person's, every

         20  candidate's campaign finance should be public

         21  information. Whether they're participating in the

         22  campaign finance or not, their campaign finances

         23  should be available to the public.

         24                 This is not a private business, this

         25  is the business of the government, and that is the
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          2  public's business, and it is their business, and

          3  everything that is spent should be their business

          4  because it is their business.

          5                 Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Excellent. As

          7  always, you are here giving us provocative points of

          8  view about what you think we should be doing and

          9  it's very much appreciated, and I want to also take

         10  a moment to thank my colleague Phil Reed for having

         11  suffered through the marathon, as a gentleman and a

         12  scholar, and so with that, I want to bring this

         13  hearing to a close on Intro. 382-A. And I want it to

         14  be clear that this is the first of a series of

         15  hearings that will take place with regard to this

         16  piece of legislation. And as was pointed out

         17  earlier, it is a live piece of legislation, which

         18  means that it will be going through changes,

         19  receiving input from others, whether the

         20  Administration or advocates or other elected

         21  officials. But we ultimately expect to pass a very

         22  strong good government piece of legislation on

         23  behalf of the people of the City of New York.

         24                 Thank you very much.

         25                 (Hearing concluded at 2:33 p.m.)
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